
 
   
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
There will be a meeting of the Board of Trustees of the L. E. Phillips Memorial Public 
Library on Thursday, September 16, 2010 at 5:00 p.m. in the Board Room of the Library 
at 400 Eau Claire Street, Eau Claire, Wisconsin. 
 

 
AGENDA 

 

1) Member Roll Call 

2) Citizen Comments (limited to 5 minutes per citizen) 

3) Approval of Previous Minutes of the Library Board (page 1) 

4) Staff Update:  Local History on the Library Website  
(Renee Ponzio, Reference Services Manager) 

5) Communications (page 3) 

6) Report of the Library Director (page 11)  

7) Report of the Library Board President  

8) Committee Reports  

9) Report from the Friends of the Library 

10) Report of the Representative to the IFLS Board (page 23) 

11)  Financial Report (page 25) 

12)  Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) (Audit) 2009 (page 29) 

13)  Action on Bills and Claims (page 172) 

14)   Statistical Report (page 181) 

15)   Consideration of New Business 

a) Discussion and action on a revision of the Policy on Library Records (page 183) 

b) Discussion and action on the adoption of the entire Public Library/Public Library 
System Records Retention Schedule (page 184) 

c) Discussion and action on 2010 December Holiday hours for the library (page 226) 



16) Directives from the Library Board of Trustees to the Library Director 

17) Adjournment 

 
In order to accommodate the participation of individuals with special needs at this 
meeting, the Library will provide the services of a sign language interpreter or make other 
reasonable accommodations on request. To make such a request, please notify the Library 
at 715/833.5318 at least two days prior to the meeting. 
 

 
Trustees: If you are unable to attend this meeting, please notify the Library’s 

Administrative Office by calling 715/833.5318 
 



L.E. PHILLIPS MEMORIAL PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

 
A meeting of the Board of Trustees of the L. E. Phillips Memorial Public Library was 
held on Thursday, August 19, 2010 at 5 p.m. in the Board Room of the Library.    
Board members present:  Bruce, Fraser, Hauser, Horan, Lee, Pagonis and Stelter.  
Board members absent:  Wachs, Wisner and Wright.  Staff present:  Jackie Depa, Julie 
Gast, Sharon Price, John Stoneberg and Mark Troendle.  Guests present:  Bill Wilson, 
Himmel& Wilson, Library Consultants. 
 
 
PRESENTATION 
Library Consultant, Bill Wilson of Himmel & Wilson gave a presentation on a five year 
Strategic Plan for the Library that outlines six goals. Bill suggested that the progress on the 
implementation of a specific goal be discussed every other month.  On a motion made by 
Stella Pagonis and seconded by Bob Fraser, the Board unanimously approved the Library 
Strategic Plan. 
 
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
On a motion made by Bob Fraser and seconded by Robert Hauser, the minutes of the July 15, 
2010 Board meeting were unanimously approved. 
 
COMMUNICATION 
John Stoneberg shared articles from The Wall Street Journal, Newsweek, American Libraries 
and USA Today regarding the future of libraries and e-book readers. 
 
REPORT OF THE LIBRARY DIRECTOR 
John Stoneberg’s monthly report was reviewed. 

 
REPORT OF THE LIBRARY BOARD PRESIDENT 

 Susan Bruce joined the Wisconsin Library Association.  
 Susan Bruce has completed the Library Board committee assignments. 
 Ginny Wright is getting married. 

 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 The list of Library Board committee assignments was reviewed. 
 
REPORT FROM THE FRIENDS OF THE LIBRARY  

 Friends asked if the Library has any additional funding requests. 
 Friends have requested a presentation of the Library’s Strategic Plan to be given.  

 
REPORT OF THE REPRESENTATIVE TO THE IFLS BOARD 

 The July IFLS Board meeting was held at the Bloomer Public Library.  It was a full 
day event. 

 The IFLS budget was approved. 
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FINANCIAL REPORT 
The Board reviewed the July Financial Report. 
ACTION ON BILLS & CLAIMS 
On a motion made by Robert Hauser and seconded by Stella Pagonis, the Board unanimously 
approved the Bills & Claims for July 02-30, 2010 as well as the Supplemental Bills & Claims 
for July 2010. 
 
STATISICAL REPORT 
The July Statistical Report was reviewed. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF NEW BUSINESS 
 
DISCUSSION AND ACTION BY THE BOARD ON A REVISION OF THE 
LIBRARY’S BOARD’S BY-LAWS 
 

 On a motion made by Bob Fraser and seconded by Stella Pagonis, the Board 
unanimously approved the revision of the Library Board’s by-laws.  

 On a motion made by Linda Stelter and seconded by Richard Lee, the Board 
unanimously approved the revisions to the Capital Improvement Plan (2011-2015). 

 
DIRECTIVES FROM THE LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 The Board will write an editorial for the Leader Telegram regarding how for the past 
18 years the Friends group has given the Library on average $13,820 per year for a 
grand total of $248,767.  The Friends group has also provided many hours of “in-
kind” work for the Library by their volunteers. The goal is to have the editorial 
published during the national Friends of the Library week, which is October 17-23, 
2010.  

 
ADJOURNMENT 
On a motion made by Robert Hauser and seconded by Linda Stelter, the Board unanimously 
adjourned their meeting. 
 
 
Submitted by Jackie Depa, Library Associate II 
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Fast Facts about Wisconsin Public Library Service 2009 

Six out of ten state residents are registered 
library users. 

These library users made over 35.5 million 
visits to Wisconsin public libraries in 2009.  
Season attendance for Brewer home games 
in 2009 was 3 million. 

The average number of user visits per week 

to Wisconsin public libraries is 688,000.  
Season attendance at Packer home games 
is about 570,000. 

Over 65 million items were circulated by 
Wisconsin’s public libraries in 2009.  
Wisconsin ranks 8th in per capita circulation 
nationally. 

On average 1.25 million items are checked 
out of Wisconsin public libraries each week.  
Approximately one third of these circulations 
are of children’s materials. 

Each year 9 million items are sent from one 
public library to another to fill request for 
materials not available locally.  Wisconsin 
ranks 1st nationally in per capita interlibrary 
loans.  Purchasing materials to meet user 
request instead of collection sharing would 
cost the state’s public libraries in excess of 
$100 million. 

Collectively Wisconsin public libraries hold 
20 million book volumes, 1.3 million audio 
item and 1.6 million video items.  Wisconsin 
ranks 24th in per capita public library 
collection expenditures. 

Over 95% of Wisconsin public libraries offer 
wireless access to library users.  

Over the last 5 years public library visits 
have increased by over 10% and circulation 
has increased 15%.  The number of paid 
library staff as increased less than 1%.  In 
fact, paid library staff per capita has 
decreased 2% and Wisconsin now ranks 
20st nationally in that category. 

In comparison with other states, Wisconsin 
ranks 8th in per capita in circulation, but 
22nd for total operating revenue and 21st 
for total operating expenditures per capita. 

For nearly half of Wisconsin’s public library 
communities, libraries offer the only free 
access to computers/Internet. 

All Wisconsin public libraries provide access 
to jobs databases and other job opportunity 
resources. Almost 90% offer technology 
training and over 70% of libraries help users 
complete online job application. 

Access to licensed databases is provided 
through all of the state’s public libraries.  
Over 90% of Wisconsin public libraries 
provide access to electronic books and 
downloadable audio books. 

The average per capita municipal and 
county property taxes paid by Wisconsin 
residents for public library service in 2009 
was $35.87. 

Programs provided by public libraries and 
directed toward children had attendance of 
over 1.5 million.  Summer library program 
attendance for children and young adults 
was nearly 500,000.  
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Privatizing Libraries

Expanding our thinking about the notion of 

corporate-run community libraries

Consider the following scenario. Two years from now in November, you find yourself walking into a voting booth to decide on the fate of 

your local library. The issue you will be deciding affects you directly because it has to do with the management of your local library. You 

will be voting on one of four choices for the operational management of your library. The choices you have to pick from include Microsoft, 

Google, Apple, or your current city-run operation.

Rest assured, this is not some takeover bid by one of these three companies to steal libraries away from their local constituency. Rather, it 

is a very considered offer to both manage and invest in your local library, while at the same time, extending the influence of their 

companies.

Let’s face it; the recent economic times have not been kind to community libraries. Many have had to cut staff and cut services in order to 

keep their doors open. Several libraries systems have had to close branches, while other standalone libraries have had little choice but to 

close their doors.

While many in the library community may see this as cause for alarm, I would like to open a conversation on how a situation like this can be 

turned into an opportunity.

While it may be possible to find a combination of paid services and corporate sponsorships to transition a community library off the public 

tax roles, there may be some more appealing options for allowing corporations to operate public libraries.

Before anyone begins assigning labels of “right” or “wrong,” I would like to engage you in ways to thread-the-needle of possibilities and see 

if there are any balancing acts that may indeed make sense.

It’s important to keep in mind that corporations will have some sort of profit motive in the background, so the best approach will be to 

formulate some form of win-win strategy so both the corporation and the community benefit from the relationship.

Library Assets

Page 1 of 3FuturistSpeaker.com – The personal blog of Futurist Thomas Frey » Blog Archive » Privatizing Libraries
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To begin with, there are many valuable assets that libraries have that businesses will find appealing. Here are a few that come to mind:

Positive Influence – Most libraries serve as a source of community pride and a gathering place for activities. Even though many 

people may not use their library, it remain a positive entity in the minds of most.

•

Naming Rights – In much the same way corporations spend millions to put their name on stadiums, companies will see great value 

in putting their name on a community library.

•

New Product Test Bed – Libraries are already using many different kinds of informational products, and they are continually adding 

new ones. By simply shifting the library a little closer to the front of the early-adoption food chain, this might serve as a win-win 

situation that can be monetized through product development or marketing dollars.

•

Information/Communications Channel – Most libraries today do a poor job of managing their outbound communications. A 

corporate communications department could easily turn libraries into an effective communications channel.

•

Fiduciary Role – Libraries are a trusted entity. If it’s done right, the trusted reputation can be exploited in subtle but beneficial 

ways for both parties.

•

Local Face to the Public – With the web making businesses increasingly virtual, an interesting counter-trend will be to create a 

local presence for all to see.

•

Primary Destination – People will make a trip specifically to the library. This becomes important when considering the spin-off 

potential for other activities they may engage in while they are there, and also other related businesses next door.

•

Linking Strategy – Adding other retail and service outlets to a library. As an example, placing a library next to an automobile 

service center will give people something to do while they are waiting for their car to get fixed.

•

“Corporate-Branded” Libraries

Keeping these assets in mind, let’s begin to explore what strategies may come into play with “corporate branded” libraries. Each 

corporation will bring with them their own corporate culture, their own way of doing things, and, of course, their own agenda.

Please note that this is merely conjecture on my part. I do not claim any insider knowledge about their future plans.

Google Libraries: Even though Google’s founders have been long-time library advocates, they have continually pushed the 

envelope on copyright and fair use issues, a sore spot with many librarians. A Google Library strategy will likely be framed around 

further promotion of the agenda to make all printed material searchable. In addition, libraries may be utilized as the functional 

proving ground for pre-product launches.

•

Microsoft Libraries: Microsoft has a rich history of supporting libraries both through philanthropy and corporate support. A 

Microsoft library would naturally be a showcase for Windows and Office software, and would probably include a training center to 

help people move from beginner to advanced users.

•

Amazon Libraries: With its vast inventory of books to sell, Amazon may devise some very ingenious strategies. While it would 

appear that they are in direct competition with libraries, there are many areas where their work may be complementary. As an 

example, one of their strategies would likely focus on expanding the use of e-book readers and downloadable content. They also 

may wish to define the boundaries between free and sellable content, a boundary which is currently in flux.

•

IBM Libraries: After selling its PC division, IBM has been looking for ways to create a new face for the public. An IBM strategy 

might involve showcasing their rich history of innovation all the way from early punch card machines, to mainframe computing, to 

the dawn of the PC era. Their goal would be to establish themselves as a leading player in the emerging cloud computing world.

•

Wal-Mart Libraries: The motivation behind a Wal-Mart Library will be to draw more traffic into their stores. Further exploiting the 

store-within-a-store concept, libraries could be built as a loss-leader marketing play inside a Wal-Mart store. They may also be 

used to feature computer, printer, and other information products that can be purchased in the rest of the store. The home page 

on all computers will be set to walmart.com. (This may seem overtly commercialized, but may be a positive option for small towns 

with minimal opportunities for their library to grow.)

•

Apple Libraries: An Apple Library may very easily operate like an Apple retail store with a library attached. Geeky librarians will 

teach people how to build personal profiles, use the equipment, record podcasts, and edit videos. People can use the library to 

“test drive” or even borrow the equipment before making a purchase.

•

Facebook Libraries: Facebook wants to be much more than a social networking site on the Internet. Its goal is to become common 

infrastructure upon which Web 3.0 and 4.0 will emerge. With this in mind, libraries could become the training centers and proving 

grounds for much of this Facebook philosophy.

•

If any of this seems inconceivable or too unwieldy for one company to take on, let’s look at the math. There are approximately 16,000 

libraries across the U.S. If a company set out to privatize 1,600 or 10% of them, focusing on small to medium sized libraries with a per 

library budget of $2 million, the total expenditure would be $3.2 billion. While this is a rather significant number, it is indeed within the 

realm of possibilities, especially if there is a way to derive a profit from some aspect of the operation.

Keep in mind that the community will likely still be contributing money to the operation of the library, so the corporation may only have to 

add some supplemental funds which it will likely view as marketing dollars.

Page 2 of 3FuturistSpeaker.com – The personal blog of Futurist Thomas Frey » Blog Archive » Privatizing Libraries

8/19/2010http://www.futuristspeaker.com/2010/08/privatizing-libraries/

5



Setting the Boundaries

As will any type of agreement, the first task needs to involve thinking through both the upside and the downside of the arrangement.

In many respects, this type of agreement is no different than what a city will set up with a cable television franchise, electric and gas 

providers, or even garbage collection.

It is important to establish a series of guidelines to address key operational issues on the front end.

The city or community will need to retain ownership of the facility and all equipment and content going into the arrangement. The 

agreement should be for a set amount of time, perhaps 5-10 years, renewable at the discretion of the governing board.

•

As a general rule, the public needs be given free access to the library along with free access to information. There may be a 

charge for certain types of information and services, but this needs be established up front.

•

The library has an obligation to archive the local community. Again, details about minimum archive requirements need to be 

explained in the agreement.

•

Libraries cannot be closed. In the event a corporation decides it can no longer continue to support and operate the library, there 

must be a one year advance notice given to the community allowing ample time for either the city or another company to take 

over the operation.

•

Most importantly, the community needs to retain some sort of veto power over the operation as a check-and-balance system for 

whatever might go wrong.

•

The Upside and the Downside

With corporate run libraries, I can see both positive and negative sides to the arguments.

On the positive side, they have the potential to become better managed libraries. Corporations will inject their own unique kind of 

creativity into the system.

Librarians will likely be better trained and paid a higher salary. The public will benefit from better resources, better programs, and access 

to cutting edge thinking and technology.

On the negative side, corporations have traditionally been very heavy-handed in their attempts to make a profit, so in this type of 

situation, some formerly free services may begin to cost money. Over time there may be a growing tension between the corporation and 

local citizens, and virtually every change becomes closely scrutinized by the public. The biggest downside happens if the corporation 

ignores the needs of the community and wields a heavy-handed corporate agenda.

Most companies are very wary of anything that could cause damage to their reputation, so most of the extreme scenarios are not too likely.

If the arrangement is structured properly up front, and the community retains ownership of the facility and veto power over any egregious 

violations, this could indeed become a win-win arrangement for everyone involved.

In fact, the best possible arrangement might be if 2-3 companies get very competitive about running libraries with each trying to outdo the 

other. In that kind of situation, we all win.

By Futurist Thomas Frey
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Libraries: 'Great good places'
By Neal Peirce 
National Columnist
Posted: Saturday, Aug. 21, 2010

America's public libraries, fast turning themselves into "one-stop shops" for digital job searches, appear to be 
staging one of their great historic transformations.

Responding to a rush of recession-time visitors, 88 percent of our libraries now offer access to job databases. And 
at least two-thirds of library staffs are helping applicants complete online job applications, according to a national 
survey by the American Library Association and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

As for access to free wireless services, 82 percent of libraries now provide it - up from just 37 percent four years 
ago. In two-thirds of cases, the libraries are the only source of free Internet service in their communities.

Snowballing funding cuts

What's amazing is that many libraries are able to maintain the bulk of their services and adapt to growing needs 
during a recession, even in the face of snowballing funding cuts by their local governments. More than 55 percent 
of urban libraries are reporting budget cuts, and a quarter have felt obliged to cut hours or close branches. Fifteen 
percent reduced their hours of operation in 2009 - three times the number reported in 2008. And 50 percent report 
they have insufficient staff to meet their patrons' job-seeking needs.

But they're not taking it quietly. In Indianapolis, neighborhoods around the branches facing possible closure 
became very active, holding read-ins, marches and letter-writing campaigns. In Camden, N.J., one of America's 
poorest cities, a fierce public outcry has followed the threat to close the entire library system.

And when Los Angeles Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa proposed 37 percent cuts to his city's library budgets, 
advocates argued it would be the first time in the system's 138-year history that libraries would be open just five 
days a week. And they came up with a strong productivity argument. In 1978, when there were 61 L.A. libraries 
(there are now 72), 1,459 staff librarians served 6 million visitors. Under Villaraigosa's budget, they noted, there'd 
only be 848 staff slots - to serve 18 million visitors.

Pushback brings compromise

The silver lining for communities, note library sources, is that threats of actual branch closures create such a 
strong pushback that most communities compromise with cuts that go no further than constriction in staff or 
branches.

The reality, says Audra Caplan, director of the Harford County, Md., Public Library and president of the Public 
Library Association, is that the role of public libraries has changed dramatically in the last 10 to 15 years. And 
computers and job-search assistance, while highly significant, aren't the whole story.

"We've turned ourselves into community centers," notes Caplan. "We have meeting rooms that get booked by 
community agencies, chess clubs, any not-for-profit. We bring in authors, we sponsor civic engagement-type 
programs. And we're attracting a larger share of the population - even teens, or parents with toddlers."

So what about serious research? "It's still healthy," Caplan insists. She acknowledges Google and Wikipedia are 
popular on the available computers. But libraries also subscribe to specialized and sometimes costly subscription 

Buzz up!

Page 1 of 2

8/23/2010http://www.charlotteobserver.com/2010/08/21/v-print/1634748/libraries-great-good-places.html

7



databases - business, legal, health and other - and electronically extend the access to even their smallest 
branches. As for books (remember them?), libraries' per capita circulation has increased roughly 20 percent over 
the last decade.

And in a sense, libraries are as varied as America. Many provide specialized services, including translation and 
English instruction, to America's large populations of new immigrants. Some let patrons check out not just books 
but fishing poles, backpacks and garden tools.

Literacy, Internet, film center

And central libraries, notes Robert McNulty of Partners for Livable Communities, can be "the great good place in 
the city" - as a literacy, Internet and special film center, or as a place for lectures, for local performing arts and 
exhibitions. Or as a coffeehouse. Or as an information center for visiting tourists, or a safe place for kids.

Andrew Carnegie's original idea in founding his string of free public libraries, McNulty notes, was that they'd be 
gathering places for young people - that once drawn there, they'd learn to read. So Carnegie built a boxing 
gymnasium into one of his Pittsburgh libraries, a swimming pool into another.

But right now, it's computer access that leads the library parade. "Beginning computer skills are especially 
important for dislocated workers," says Brian Clark of the Nashville, Tenn., Career Advancement Center. "Having 
computer skills," he suggests, "won't necessarily get a person a job. But it means the door won't be slammed in 
their face" - in other words, before they can even state their case.

Opening doors? It's true that funds saved or restored to libraries may mean deeper, sometimes very painful cuts 
in other parts of city and county budgets.

But what's more American than open doors? Seen this way, libraries have been enablers of generations of 
Americans' dreams. And with a little luck, they'll help pull us out of our current economic morass too. 

Neal Peirce is a columnist for Washington Post Writers Group who writes about state and local government and federal relations. Write him at 
nrp@citistates.com.

Subscribe to The Charlotte Observer.
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Libraries must remain free and open to all 
By CLYDE SCOLES 
 
The Toledo-Lucas County Public Library served more than 3.6 million recorded visitors in 2009. Nearly two-thirds of county residents have 
library cards. No other cultural, educational, entertainment, or athletic venue in the county can make a similar patronage claim. 

The library provides free access not only to printed books, but to magazines, computers, downloadable e-books, a 24/7 Web site, movies, 
music, author events, exhibits, book clubs, local history and genealogy, rare books, Wi-Fi, GED preparation, year-round reading programs, 
early literacy programs, financial literacy programs, and information help from trained librarians. 

Our 19 locations throughout the county, including a bookmobile, are dedicated to education, information, culture, entertainment, privacy, 
security, and civic engagement. The library provides needed resources to public, parochial, charter, and private schools, home-schoolers, and 
colleges and universities. 

Our staff believes that accurate information equals better decisions and a better world, while we uphold the value of user confidentiality. 

Some people think that public libraries are no longer relevant. They would reduce public funding of these long-standing institutions. 

These individuals don't see the necessity or profundity of Andrew Carnegie's words, "Open to All," which are carved and forever enshrined 
above the doorways of the numerous libraries built in the United States by the late industrialist and philanthropist. Nor do they view the $2-
billion-plus in construction of new U.S. libraries in recent years as a priority. 

Perhaps these people see the new paradigm as paying for whatever information they need, from e-books, iPads, printed books, or mobile 
devices with Internet access. The attitude seems to be: If I don't need libraries, why should others? Why pay to keep them open Saturdays or 
Sundays or evenings - or at all?  

"Opportunity for All," a provocative new study funded by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, reports that more than two-thirds of all 
Americans 14 years old or older - 169 million people - visited a public library in the past year. From toddlers to senior citizens, Americans 
seek library materials and information to enhance their quality of life. 

Toledo libraries offer lifelong learning opportunities, including homework help, computer training, story times, and job information and 
assistance. As government services decrease, people turn to library staff to help them navigate government bureaucracy, apply for benefits, 
and locate needed social services. 

Since colonial times, the public library has remained the most democratic of America's institutions. Marilyn Johnson, author of This Book is 
Overdue!, calls libraries "the most effective levelers of privilege." 

A visit to a library offers a myriad of essential life services provided in real time, from access to the Internet to information on travel, real 
estate, or economic security, from a good book to read to that special music CD. 

Libraries are our centers of learning and culture. They are recognized as the people's university. Art, music, and history are topics just as 
relevant and sought-after as energy, health, and financial security. Toledo libraries engage these issues every day. 

The Gates Foundation report identifies public libraries among the few community centers that address the computing and information 
requirements of citizens, such as young entrepreneurs advancing new business. Last year, there were more than 1.1 million log-ons to 
computers at Toledo libraries. 

Given the overwhelming public use of libraries, does slashing their budgets make sense? I do not believe that Thomas Jefferson or Andrew 

 a d v e r t i s e m e n t   
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Carnegie would think so. Nor would journalist Walter Cronkite, who said: "Whatever the cost of our libraries, the price is cheap compared to 
an ignorant nation." 

Some public officials will say they love libraries. But they are not necessarily committed to accepting them as a core service or a true civic 
value. 

Still, public libraries remain one of the better uses of taxpayer dollars. The voters of Lucas County have repeatedly agreed. 

When you visit a local library, you see librarians helping people who would not have any other way to use a computer or have a safe place to 
bring their children. I've stood outside the Sanger branch, watching adults and children waiting for the only county library with Sunday hours 
to open, so they can gain access to computers for employment, do homework, find a book, or have a comfortable, affordable place to work. 

As schools reduce their budgets for their own libraries and shorten their classroom hours, children stream to the public library on weekends 
and after school. Retired teachers staff our homework centers, funded by our Library Legacy Foundation. 

Some cities have not preserved their libraries. Surely it is a false economy not to preserve one of the finest community assets, which does not 
charge membership or credit-card fees or record one's attendance. 

The public library is a place where we can embrace our tax dollars in a difficult economy and a fast-moving and ever-changing digital 
information age. The library remains free - and open to all. 

Clyde Scoles is executive director of the Toledo-Lucas County Public Library. 
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September 9, 2010 
 
To:  The Library Board of Trustees 
 
From:  John Stoneberg, Library Director 
 
Subject: Report of the Library Director  
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
Building Updates 
 
 The completion of the renovation of the restrooms is being held up by a 

miscalculation by the architect on the restroom stalls and also by the need for some 
unacceptable tile work to be redone.  Hopefully, the restrooms will be completed in 
the next couple of weeks. 

 The shades that will replace the very old drapery throughout the building have been 
on back order for quite some time, but hopefully will be installed in September. 

 Draft specifications for both the replacement chiller and the elevators renovation are 
being reviewed--with the chiller specifications being given the highest priority.  
Jackie Depa’s coordination with others was critical in helping move these drafts along 
to this point. 

 Some immediate removal and repair work (almost $8,700) needs to be done on the 
brick panel at the top of the wall on the break room patio including the replacement of 
roof cap and wood backing.  Unfortunately, when this was being looked at, it was 
also determined that almost $75,000 of other roof repair work should be done over 
the next couple of years.  This will have to be examined and somehow incorporated 
as we begin budget preparations in 2011. 

 A new fence has been put up around utility equipment on the Farwell Street side of 
the building. 

 The building windows are being caulked. 
 
Also: 
 

 The library pays for all LEPMPL Trustees to be members of the Wisconsin Library 
Association (WLA) (Julie Gast handles that), except Bob Fraser whose membership 
is paid by IFLS as one of their Board members.  Our Library Board officers are also 
members of the American Library Association (ALA) paid through the library.  (The 
library asks that the officers share their ALA American Libraries magazine and other 
relevant ALA information with the other Board members.)   

 A reminder that the Library offers any Board member the opportunity to attend any or 
all of the WLA conference.  You simply need to follow the Library travel policy 
guidelines and you will be reimbursed just like staff for registration, lodging, food, 
travel, etc.  For more details on the conference:   
http://www.wla.lib.wi.us/conferences/2010/index.htm   
If you have questions on how to submit your request for the conference, please e-mail 
or call me. 
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Other highlights from the past month: 
 

 Met with Joanne Horan on August 11 for her Library Board orientation. 
 Jeff Burns, Jolene Krimpelbein, Kris Nickel, Mark Troendle and I had a good 

meeting with Gus Falkenberg and Lori Roholt from MORE on August 12.  We 
discussed communications and procedures in the future as MORE moves to 
consolidate MORE IT staffing. 

 Julie Gast and I met at City Hall on August 12 with the City Budget Team that 
included Mike Huggins, Rebecca Noland and others.  Although they had questions 
and suggestions, they were satisfied with the library’s 2011 budget as submitted.  The 
City Council is scheduled to approve the City budget on Friday, November 5. 

 Chaired an IFLS Advisory Council of Librarians meeting on August 16. 
 Attended the Development and Endowment Committee meeting on August 17. 
 Attended an annual Leadership Eau Claire luncheon on August 19.  I am an alumnus 

of the 1992-1993 class and Shelly Collins-Fuerbringer of the 1999-2000 class. 
 Nick Minardi from RJS met with Jackie Depa and me on August 19 to review the 

progress of the restrooms renovation. 
 Jill Patchin and I met on August 13 and 23.  She and I have been working with a  

Clear Vision Activities Council subcommittee on a “cultural adventure pass” program 
through the library that would offer free passes to area venues as a way to 
introduction customers to those organizations.  Jill is developing the scrapbook and 
ticket system for this project.  The project would work out of the Youth Services 
desk. 

 Mark and I attended a webinar at City Hall on August 25 sponsored by the 
Performance Institute and IBM through ICMA entitled:  “Enhancing Service Delivery 
and Citizen Engagement.” 

 Jeff and I met on August 26 with Chippewa Valley Museum staff working on 
ChippePedia—what will be a free online encyclopedia about the Chippewa Valley 
that everyone will be able to add to and edit.  The library will be hosting the site and 
Jeff will provide technical assistance and training.. 

 Jackie and I met with Steve Craker and Luke Schultz from Focus on Energy to better 
coordinate with their agency on future library building projects that have energy 
conservation implications. 

 Attended a SRLAAW (System & Resource Library Administrators Assn. of 
Wisconsin) meeting in Wausau on August 27. 

 MORE would like to begin to investigate RFID as a viable choice for MORE 
libraries.  RFID will work best in a consortium when as many libraries as possible are 
using it.  As a first step, I am establishing a RFID committee to begin to look at the 
many questions that are raised by considering it.   Met with MORE Administrator 
Gus Falkenberg, who will be chairing the Committee, on August 31.  The Committee 
will begin meeting in September and report back no later than March, 2011.     

 The core planning team developing a cultural plan for Eau Claire—now called the 
Good Life--met at the Chippewa Valley Museum on September 2. 

 With the fiction video weeding complete, I have begun weeding the non-fiction 
videos. 
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From the Management Team & Staff 
 
Assistant Director/Human Resources 
 
The Staff Affairs committee provided a salad bar lunch for staff on August 25.  Most 
everything was purchased from the Phoenix Park farmers market that morning. 
 
The City is once again coordinating a United Way campaign this year.  Mark Troendle 
attended an organizational meeting in mid-August as the library’s representative.  The library 
received an informational packet on August 31 containing donor forms and labels which will 
be collated and distributed by Jackie Hagenbucher. 
 
Much time was spent in August on hiring-related activities.  A revised job description for the 
Associate I position in Technical Services was finalized.  That same job was also posted and 
was assigned to Mary Blakewell as she was the most senior qualified employee to sign for 
the position.  Time was spent reviewing possible testing modules for two different positions.  
The customization of certain tests was also explored.  Mark worked with one company that  
the City of Eau Claire uses to schedule the proctoring of one set of tests which he then 
evaluated.  Along with Laura Miller, he co-interviewed candidates for an open position in 
Circulation Services.  He’s also been working with Julie Gast and others to finalize details 
pertaining to the job from which Mary Blakewell will be transferring as there will be some 
changes. 
 
The library donated an office desk system which was no longer needed in the IT division and 
five chairs that were formerly used at public computer workstations to the Altoona Public 
Library.  Mark helped coordinate the pickup of these items. 
 
Public Relations & Programming (PRPS) 
 
PRPS staff continued to work with Greendoor Graphics in selecting colors, styles, wording, 
and placement for new signs and a directory that will aid customers in finding their way 
around the library.  
 
Bess Arneson, Melany Bartig and Larry Nickel attended a meeting with Art Committee 
members to plan for a “shoebox show,” which will invite artists to create small works of art 
to be on display at the library during the summer of 2011. 
 
The library hosted a cooking demonstration on August 30.  The program, entitled “Summer’s 
Bounty: Cool Foods for Hot Summer Days,” featured tips for preparing meals and snacks 
using foods commonly grown in our region. 
 
Other activities included: 
 
Larry Nickel 

 Converted Teen Auction video clips to a format suitable for editing and use on the 
website. 
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 Supervised the installation of an assistive listening system in the Youth Services 
Program Room. 

 Continued to work with vendors and IT staff to develop proposals for upgrades to 
technology in the Board Room and Chippewa Room as well as lighting improvements 
for the art gallery. 

 Installed and tested a new multimedia projector for use in the Eau Claire Room. 
 
Regular tasks included:   Writing and editing news releases; creating website homepage 
banners, book drop signs and PowerPoint slides for the Circulation desk “PR” monitor; 
purchasing supplies, services and equipment as needed. 
 
Melany Bartig 

 Created flyers for “Friendly Comfort Foods That Warm the Home and Heart,” “The 
Flowers of Madison” and “Get the Help You Need to Find the Job You Want.”  

 Created a “Money Smart Week” readers advisory sign and a flyer for the Gary 
Schmidt author visit/discussion series. 

 Created invitation for an upcoming donor event. 
 
Regular tasks included:  Assisting with set up for library programs, coordinating art show 
arrangements, updating mailing lists, publishing event information on Facebook and 
purchasing programming refreshments and supplies. 
 
Kris Jarocki 

 Typed labels and a price list for “The Vision and the Word” exhibit. 
 Prepared and mailed flyers and posters for “Find the Job You Want” and “Raised 

with Praise” programs. 
 Printed and delivered “Welcome Students!” brochures to the Chamber of Commerce.   
 Completed an inventory of message board supplies. 
 

Regular tasks included:  Maintaining the literature racks and bulletin boards throughout the 
library, sending library news releases via e-mail, adding library events to community 
calendar websites and the library website calendar, updating mailing and e-mailing lists, 
reformatting the newsletter for the website edition, taking photos and publishing them to the 
website, managing display case use, creating and laminating signs and printing and folding 
library newsletters and flyers. 
 
Reference Services (RS) 
 
On August  2, Renee Ponzio and Kathy Herfel pulled out names for Club Read prizes.  Renee 
also did a reader’s advisory table on “Stars who left us too soon”--gathering books, DVDs 
and audio of stars that died while still young. 
 
Renee has been working on the logistics of removing the old movable shelving in Special 
Collections and replacing them with standard shelving.  She talked to construction 
companies, etc. in order to determine the feasibility of the project.  She also has also been 
working on a list of possible special collections materials to digitize.  
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Renee attended the annual AskAway meeting on August 27 as a webinar participant.  This 
meeting updated participants as to what is going on with Ask a Librarian and future plans to 
promote the service. 
 
Cindy Westphal created and maintained a reader’s advisory table for August on Travel by 
Book and a Pick of the Month on the library’s website featuring August is American 
Adventures Month.  Cindy updated Author Alert for August on the Readers Corner page on 
the library’s website, updated Community Events and began editing and scanning items to be 
featured on the library history page of the website.  She ordered federal tax forms for the 
upcoming 2011 season and proctored 6 exams for students taking online or long-distance 
courses 
 
During August, 4 obituaries were processed and sent electronically. 
 
Cindy coordinated the quarterly Reference Tally resulting in 3,604 reference transactions 
among the three units. 
 
Isa Small indexed volume 2 of Eau Claire and the Valley and is starting work on volume 3.  
She also helped a civil war buff visiting from Illinois locate monuments in the Chippewa 
Valley.  Isa told him about the Old Abe memorial in Wilson Park and the soldier's memorial 
at the Eau Claire County Court House.  She also gave him information on the Lansing 
Wilcox memorial (gravesite of the last living soldier) in Cadott as well as the memorial in 
Jim Falls. The customer was very happy for the information and shared some of the photos of 
other memorials and monuments he has visited.   
 
David Dial compiled a list of library resources and internet resources on the topic of self-
publishing to be used for a handout that PRPS was preparing to use with a program in 
September. 
 
Theresa Boetcher and David continue moving ahead with the city council meetings dubbing 
project.  Of the 1,153 VHS city council tapes, 172 DVDs have been dubbed and processed 
with further labeling and any record changes that might have been needed. 
  
Theresa continues to work with the Community Information Database (CID)--in August  48 
records were changed and updated; two new records added and two records deleted.  She 
checked reports of catalog items that have been withdrawn or are missing for Bess and John 
by looking up number of records for these items and what formats are owned.  Theresa 
submitted 37 ILL requests for customers and re-labeled some of the Special Collections 
magazine collection--items have been added and some labels needed expanded information. 
Theresa also worked on a supply order for Reference looking for the best deal on ordering 
appointment calendars for 2011 year and replacement calendars for the public desk. 
 
Kathy Herfel also continued to update entries in the Community Information database (CID).  
This now involves removing pamphlets, brochures and other information from the CID 
cabinet.  She continued working on an inventory of the library’s newspaper microfilm 
collection. 
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Home Delivery 
 
The Home Delivery customer total stands at 187.  Four customers were taken off the 
program: one passed away, one moved to Chippewa Falls and two others were removed after 
being on hold for a while.  Two new Home Delivery customers were added to the program. 
Kathy went to Heatherwood Assisted Living for “Reminiscing with the Library.”  It was 
attended by 8 residents and she read about inventions and Hawaii. (It was cruise week at 
Heatherwood.) 
 
Holds and Resource Sharing (HRS) Office 
 
HRS is working on a plan to have the offsite drop boxes cleaned and the rivets fixed.  Renee 
went out with HRS van driver Robert Reider to get a better feel for what the offsite boxes 
needed.  After review, the custodial staff and Bob will not be able to do the rivets; therefore, 
the plan to have the rivets fixed/tightened is on hold.  Bob has agreed to clean and touch up 
the paint on the book drops after his route and duties on Thursdays; he will go back out and 
take care of one or two boxes at a time--weather permitting.  HRS is working on a van 
driving plan for having a designated back up driver. Renee will speak with Mark about this. 
 
There were several vacations during the month of August so everyone in HRS pitched in and 
helped where needed.  Everyone did a great job. 
 
Because there are so many carts coming and going throughout the day in HRS, it was 
difficult to have the floors cleaned.  This task has been moved to evenings. 
 
Safety and Security 
 
Larry Nickel: 
 

 updated the inventory list of video surveillance cameras to determine replacement 
needs.  Six replacement cameras were ordered with installation scheduled for mid-
September. 

 worked with PerMar Central Station staff to change the alert level for the library’s 
fire alarm system so that electrical work for library restrooms would not trip the 
alarms unnecessarily. 

 worked with the PerMar sales representative on cost estimates for door access 
improvements that will coincide with renovations to the public elevator and for 
adding surveillance cameras. 

 continued to develop maps showing the new layout of the library building. The basic 
layout for all three floors was completed.  These maps will be adapted to show 
emergency exit and weather emergency routes. 

 
Routine duties included:  produced back-ups of the reports created by the door access 
system, reviewed Incident Reports, modified door access for art shows, book sales and other 
events, assigned door fob access for new employees and modified access as needed for 
current staff.   
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Technical Services (TS)  
 
Technical Services Staff reviewed the organization and content of all written knowledge 
documentation for each position in Technical Services.  Final editing will be completed by 
September 15. 
 
After 9 test files, the Output Vouchers setup that will link the III Acquisitions module to the 
MUNIS financials system seems to run perfectly.  Jean Nemitz, Jean Pickerign and Sharon 
Price met with Julie Gast and Mary Blakewell to set a start date of September 1 for Output 
Vouchers full use.   
 
Jean Nemitz continued ordering DVD replacements for all VHS items requested by John 
Stoneberg.  The replacement money is a gift from the Friends of the Library. 
 
Lori Jungerberg continued to assist Youth Services in shelving materials for 4 hours each 
week.   
 
Inventory of the nonfiction adult collection is through the 600s. 
 
Teri Oestreich and Sharon Price met with a representative from CompuType, Joel Cessna.  
Teri is investigating a label covering for the Youth Services ‘new’ materials dots.  Children 
can tend to scratch these dots off.  Joel sent a sample, but in testing it was found to be too 
filmy and difficult to remove.  Teri will inform Joel and continue to investigate. 
 
On August 4, a division turnaround study was begun.  The goals of the study are to determine 
turnaround rate for materials by type and to calculate a turnaround rate for all materials 
together.  There are five steps that each piece of material must go through in the Division:  
incoming, received, cataloged, processed and entered.  2,000 slips with the five steps were 
printed.  When an item comes in, a slip is dated and placed inside.  The slips are collected 
from each item after entering the fifth step.  The dates for each step are entered by Jackie 
Hagenbucher.  We should have results by the next monthly report.  Results will be in 
calendar days, not working days.   
 
Jean Nemitz has cross-trained Donna Swenson on the inventory scanning/reporting process. 
 
Teri Oestreich assisted with coordinating the Staff Affairs salad luncheon.  And, she made a 
very creative sneeze guard! 
 
Donna Swenson sent a batch of 12 items to UWEC for original cataloging. 
 
Jenny Karls performed a special cataloging and re-labeling project for Youth Services.  All 
newly received American Girl Mystery books needed re-cataloging due to a change in the 
illustrator.  Jenny alerted MORE catalogers to check their holdings for movement from the 
old bib to the new. 
  
Staff continues to work on the music CD boxed label sets, the digitized City Council 
meetings and the update serial records with holdings statement projects. 
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Youth Services (YS) 
 
The summer library program wrapped up on August 2.  1,867 children signed up for either 
the baby, read-to-me or independent reader folders this year and 492 teens signed up for the 
teen folder.  Youth Services partnered once again with the Eau Claire School District’s 
summer library program and had 71 kids sign up at the elementary schools.   
 
August 2 was also the first day of our brand new Family Reading Program (see attached).  
The program runs August 2–September 10 and is a nice way for Youth Services to bridge the 
gap between the end of the summer program and the beginning of school.  Staff has had a 
number of customers comment on the lack of things to do throughout the city during the 
month of August, so Jill Patchin and Alisha Green took on the challenge of creating a 
program that would be easy to facilitate for staff and fun for the entire family to do together. 
At this writing, the reading folder had been picked up by over 300 families so far, so staff is 
very pleased with the response.   
 
Yet another fun event that took place on August 2 was the Teen Auction.  The prize auction 
is held each year as the culminating event of the teen reading program.  Teens earn book 
bucks as they read during the summer and then they can use their book bucks to bid on prize 
packages at the auction.  There was a live auctioneer this year for the first time and the 
response was very positive-–it definitely kept things moving!  113 people showed up for the 
event.   
 
Jill hosted a Project Night in August that featured a number of great bulletin board ideas for 
the entire school year.  Many of her samples featured new dies that we recently added to the 
collection.  The die cut machine has been extremely popular as teachers are preparing their 
classrooms for the beginning of the school year. 
 
Youth Services hosted a Fun Family Concert featuring the music of Colleen and Uncle 
Squatty.  The concert was originally scheduled to take place on the library lawn, but because 
of possible rain showers, it was moved inside to the Eau Claire Room.   
 
Dayna met with Bonnie Dockry, Education Program Coordinator; Wisconsin Educational 
Opportunity Program on August 25.  They discussed the needs of the Hmong community 
students and how Youth Services and the library might increase outreach to this population.  
One idea was for Dayna to attend a back-to-school picnic sponsored by The Partnership for 
Strong Hmong Families at Longfellow Elementary School on August 31.  Dayna took a 
display board that promoted several Youth Services programs and services as well as flyers 
for upcoming events.   
 
The entire Youth Services staff met for a breakfast meeting in August after the summer 
program ended.  They do this each year to discuss all aspects of the summer program, 
including the reading folders, programs, prizes and special events.  There are always ways 
that we can improve each year, so this is their opportunity to discuss details and take notes 
for the following year as they begin planning for another summer.    
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As mentioned in the July report, the small school reading champions this year was Messiah 
Lutheran School.  Dayna presented the trophy to the school on August 30.  They get to keep 
the trophy at their school for the entire school year.   
 
Youth Services has been updating a number of their bibliographies.  This month the 
following lists were updated:  Books 1st and 2nd Graders will Enjoy; Books 3rd and 4th 
Graders will Enjoy; Books 5th and 6th Graders will Enjoy; Toddler; Infants; Fall Books; and 
Apples.  All of these bibliographies are available in paper in Youth Services or on the library 
website.   
 
Alisha contacted local daycare, preschools and EC4T centers to arrange library visits this 
fall.  There are 10 locations that staff will begin visiting in September.  Staff does a 30 
minute storytime at each site and then, for those who are interested, staff leaves a themed kit 
of books and materials for them to use for the month.  Staff will be visiting 4 EC4T sites that 
include Locust Lane, Longfellow, North High School and Chippewa Valley Montessori.  The 
rest of the centers include the YMCA, Learning Center, Shepherd’s Fold, Noah’s Ark, 
Rachel’s Place and Luther.  Visits run through March 2011. 
 
Circulation 
  
Circulation page Lauren Anibas returned to college at the end of August.  Kay Anderson was 
hired as a temporary page to fill open hours through the end of the year. 
 
The Circulation Assistants met in early August to review the current Circulation desk and 
how the flow of work has been going.  It has been one year since Circulation began using the 
new desk.  Some suggestions were made to make the Circulation desk less cluttered and 
work more streamlined.  Laura Miller will work to carry out the suggestions as 
recommended.   
 
Laura met with Teri Lynn Bullock, customer service representative for Unique Management, 
the library’s collection agency, on August 19.  A short meeting that also included staff from 
Chippewa and Menomonie Public Libraries was held where outcomes of use and new 
services available from Unique were reviewed.  The three libraries continue to be the only 
libraries in the Consortium that uses the collection agency module.  The library began using 
Unique in December, 2003.  Since that time, the library has submitted $453,036.73 of fines 
and fees on customer accounts.  The recovery total has been $200,486.08.  The invoice 
amount has been $47,309.70 or a 4 to 1 recovery. 
 
Circulation staff will be busy creating new library cards for incoming UW-Eau Claire and 
CVTC students.  The last few days of August alone, 24 new library card accounts were 
created just for University students. 
 
Information Technology (IT)  
 
In spite of two staff members' vacations, IT staff responded to and completed 63 help 
requests from library staff on a wide range of issues. On Saturday, August 28, Gus 
Falkenberg of MORE/IFLS working with Innovative staff, upgraded the server for the  
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consortium's OPAC.  Early reports indicate this has remedied the slowness issues from the 
past months.  Other highlights by individual: 
 
Kris Nickel 

 Continued building and deploying new PCs, as part of the 2010 replacement 
schedule, as well as readying the replaced PCs for donation to IFLS.  Renewed 
several annual hardware and software maintenance contracts with various vendors 
and began exploring training options for staff for Microsoft Office 2010 products.  
Also began working with Larry Nickel to improve the technological capabilities in 
the board room and meeting rooms. 

 
Jeff Burns   

 Edited and published Leave a Legacy DVD video to web. 
 Edited and published new music video and review pages to the Teen site. 
 Configured and tested Wiki software for Chippepedia.org. 
 Configured new website hosting. 
 Imported and cleaned up Barron County marriage records for MORE obituary 

database. 
 Began adding and editing content for Clear Vision website. 
 Edited and published monthly newsletter. 
 Updated newsletter software. 
 

Jolene Krimpelbein 
 Worked with Gus and III to get the Web Management Fund Reports to work 

properly.  
 Explained to Circulation staff that the linked patron feature is still dealing with old 

known issues from the last upgrade.    
 Added a new PTYPE for Laura Miller per Mark Troendle, to use for a customer that 

has been abusing the holds feature.  
 Changed settings for the HRS office so that they may now see the Recent Searches 

that they have performed in the Search/Holds field.  
 Closed a call from Becky Ford about the "pulled date" not showing on the Holds 

Slips.   
 Laura was hoping to be able to create a list of items to show if the current patron and 

the last patron were the same.  After attempting to somehow create this list Jolene 
sent it on to III to find out that there is no easy way to do it.  

 Answered Laura's question on CIRC ACTIVE date.  There are numerous things that 
can change this in a patron record such as simply logging into the MORE catalog via 
the web.  

 Worked with Alisha on an issue of "limiting to EC".   
 Worked with Gus and III about an issue a customer had with their Reading History 

disappearing. 
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Tic Tac Toe!

Read a favorite story from your 
parent’s childhood

Read a classic story together

Practice storytelling by each 
family member telling a personal 
story (example: One of my favorite 
things to do when I was growing 
up was…)

Act out a story or put on a family 
play

Write down your family story 
(family history, geneology, story 
from a family vacation, how mom 
and dad met, the story of the day a 
child was born, etc)

Ask a grandparent (or family 
member/friend from an older 
generation) about a story from their 
childhood

Put on a puppet show

Read a story while on a family 
picnic

Make alphabet soup and make 
words out of the letters

Read a chapter a night of a 
family favorite book

Play a board game as a family

Write a letter or email together

Play a word or guessing game like 
“I Spy”

Write a story with characters 
you’ve created.  Draw, or create 
puppets, flannel characters, etc.

Practice retelling a story

Play storybook Pictionary

Play storybook Charades

Write a script and film your own 
movie or act out your favorite 
story and film it

Make up a story by each family 
member saying one word at a time

Read a Tumblebook from the 
Library Website together

Create a travel kit of books, 
pencils, markers and paper to use 
while on the road

Make a craft together

Look at family pictures and then 
tell a family story (real or pretend) 

Create your own pictures to go 
along with a family story

Draw your own illustrations to a 
favorite story

Read a fairytale together

Read a folktale together

Welcome to the 
Family Reading Program! 

Complete the board by September 10 for a chance at fun family prize packs!

How to play:
Divide your family into two teams: Team “X” and Team “O”.  The first team chooses a box and completes at least 
one activity.  The activity should be completed together by both teams.  When completed, the team that chose the 
activity writes their team letter in the box.  The other team then takes a turn.  The game is finished when one team 
gets a Tic-Tac-Toe by winning three boxes in a row or when getting three in a row is no longer possible.   

Once your family has completed the game, bring the completed game card to the Youth Services desk to be entered 
into a prize drawing.  If you finish early, you may pick up another game board and play again.
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August 2 - 
September 10

Family Reading 
Program

Fun Family Concert
Join us for a family concert on the library’s lawn 

on Saturday, August 21 at 1:30 p.m.  
Bring your blanket and relax while enjoying music 

by Colleen and Uncle Squaty.  
In case of rain the concert will be moved to the Eau Claire Room on the Library’s lower level.

Family Storytimes 
this Fall

Join us for stories, finger plays, songs, activities 
and more during this program for the whole family 
on Tuesdays at 6:30 p.m. from September 13 to 
December 2.

This program is geared for ages two to six, but can 
be enjoyed by the entire family. Pajamas and stuffed 
animals are welcome during our evening storytime.

Many thanks to these 
Prize Donors!
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IFLS Rankings 
 
The chart below indicates the IFLS ranking among the 17 Wisconsin public library systems.  The 
chart is based upon the 2009 data:  http://dpi.wi.gov/pld/pdf/09state.pdf.  
 

2009 Data IFLS Total 

IFLS's Rank 
Among 17 
Systems 

# of Public Library System 
Members 57 1
Municipal Population 249,122 5
Total Service Population 459,682 3
Book and Serial Volumes 
Owned 1,559,667 3
Audio Materials 107,302 4
Video Materials 146,858 3
Public Use Computers 424 3
Public Use Internet 
Connected 358 3
Circulation Children's 
Material 1,776,828 4
Circulation Total 5,437,376 3
ILL Loaned to: 935,938 2
ILL Received from: 945,290 2
Registered Borrowers 
Resident 133,596 6
Reference Transaction 253,539 5
Library Visits 2,558,923 4
Users of Public Internet 
Computers 597,597 3
# of Children's Programs 4,672 4
Children's Program 
Attendance 111,663 5
# of Young Adult Programs 

389 3
YA Attendance 7,729 2
# of Other Programs 1,488 3
Other Attendance 19,856 6
Librarians with ALA MLS 38.71 6
Total Librarians 110.22 3
Total Staff 240.26 3
Municipal Appropriation $10,031,491.00 4
Total Income $19,092,980.00 3
Salaries & Wages  $ 8,219,288.00 4
Employee Benefits  $ 3,199,922.00 3
Print Materials  $ 1,458,522.00 4
Audiovisual Materials  $    370,780.00 6
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Total Operating 
Expenditures 

 
$16,859,343.00 4

Resident Support Per 
Capita 

                
$41.48  10

Average Support Per Capita 
$32.12  12

 
The following per system resident rankings — 
 
IFLS ranks 7th among library systems for circulation per system resident 
IFLS ranks 12th among library systems for book items owned per system resident 
IFLS ranks 7th among library systems for video items owned per system resident 
IFLS ranks below 9 library systems for audio items owned per system resident  
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LE PHILLIPS MEMORIAL PUBLIC LIBRARY
2010 YTD BUDGET REPORT  Operating
For the Period Ended August 31, 2010

2010 ACTUAL
OBJ ESTIMATED YTD RE‐ REMAINING %
# ACCOUNT NAME REVENUE REVENUE CEIVABLE UNCOLLECTED COLLECTED

PUBLIC LIBRARY REVENUE
4002 General Property Tax‐City 2,793,400.00$         2,793,400.00$          ‐$                     ‐$                             100.0%
4009 Prop Tax‐Post 2005 Debt 40,100.00                40,100.00                 ‐                       ‐                              100.0%
4128 Federal Aid‐Other 2,000.00                  ‐                              ‐                       2,000.00                    0.0%
4330 Library Fines & Miscellaneous Revenue 120,000.00             79,630.37                 ‐                       40,369.63                 66.4%
4398 Other Penalties (Collection Agency) 2,200.00                  1,610.35                    ‐                       589.65                       73.2%
4451 Electronic Copy Revenue 2,400.00                  1,676.33                    ‐                       723.67                       69.8%
4452 Copier Revenue 2,800.00                  2,127.98                    ‐                       672.02                       76.0%
4602 Service to Eau Claire County 533,300.00             266,482.00               266,482.00        336.00                       99.9%
4608 Indianhead Library System 118,900.00             52,567.44                 3,698.73             62,633.83                 47.3%
4672 Service Charge‐Other (Fairchild) 2,200.00                  1,100.00                    ‐                       1,100.00                    50.0%
4798 Misc Service Revenues (Act 150) 235,400.00             235,394.43               ‐                       5.57                            100.0%
4834 Book Bag Sales 200.00                      555.20                       ‐                       (355.20)                      277.6%
4836 Misc Grant Revenue 15,000.00                13,650.00                 ‐                       1,350.00                    91.0%
4850 Gift Revenue 16,000.00                26,072.90                 ‐                       (10,072.90)                163.0%
4852 Misc Reimbursements‐Lost Items 15,000.00                10,611.10                 ‐                       4,388.90                    70.7%
4858 Refund of Prior Years Expense ‐                            57.85                          ‐                       (57.85)                        n/a
4898 Miscellaneous Revenue 5,000.00                  3,146.89                    ‐                       1,853.11                    62.9%
5152 Sale of Capital Assets 200.00                      ‐                              ‐                       200.00                       0.0%

3,904,100.00$         3,528,182.84$          270,180.73$      105,736.43$              97.3%
5590 Fund Balance Used for CIP ‐                            ‐                              ‐                       ‐                              0.0%
5580 Working Capital Applied 87,000.00                ‐                       87,000.00                 0.0%

TOTAL REVENUE 3,991,100.00$         3,528,182.84$          270,180.73$      192,736.43$              95.2%
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ACTUAL
OBJ 2010 YTD ENCUM‐ AVAIL. %
# ACCOUNT NAME APPROP. EXPENDED BRANCES BUDGET USED

PUBLIC LIBRARY EXPENDITURE
6010 Payroll Wages 1,720,400.00$         1,098,458.56$          621,941.44$              63.8%
6020 P/R Overtime ‐                            ‐                              ‐                              n/a
6030 Special Pays 31,400.00                14,303.82                 17,096.18                 45.6%
6040 Employer Paid Benefits 325,100.00             201,728.73               123,371.27               62.1%
6043 Health insurance‐Employer 383,000.00             206,814.66               176,185.34               54.0%
6047 Health insurance Deductible 38,000.00                12,592.70                 25,407.30                 33.1%
6099 Misc. Reimbursements ‐                            386.32                       (386.32)                      n/a
6108 Unemployment Compensation 17,600.00                2,712.00                    14,888.00                 15.4%
6110 Postage & Shipping 22,000.00                10,120.72                 11,879.28                 46.0%
6112 Computer Service Charges 113,100.00             93,571.90                 13,630.70           5,897.40                    94.8%
6116 Binding 1,000.00                  1,054.56                    (54.56)                        105.5%
6120 Auditing 2,500.00                  1,779.72                    720.28                       71.2%
6122 Cataloging 34,400.00                550.00                       33,850.00                 1.6%
6128 Repairs to Tools & Equip 6,300.00                  3,246.87                    3,053.13                    51.5%
6138 Equipment Rental 7,400.00                  3,301.97                    359.78                 3,738.25                    49.5%
6150 Special Services 56,700.00                13,876.00                 42,824.00                 24.5%
6160 Staff Training/Conference 22,000.00                15,626.15                 6,373.85                    71.0%
6162 Membership Dues 3,700.00                  1,068.00                    2,632.00                    28.9%
6198 Miscellaneous Contractual 90,900.00                51,010.60                 10,856.25           29,033.15                 68.1%
6202 Electricity 75,100.00                40,777.10                 34,322.90                 54.3%
6208 Gas Service 20,000.00                12,720.45                 7,279.55                    63.6%
6210 Telephones 10,000.00                9,640.86                    359.14                       96.4%
6252 Water Service 2,000.00                  1,351.93                    648.07                       67.6%
6254 Sewer Service 2,200.00                  1,372.25                    827.75                       62.4%
6308 Special Assessments 600.00                      694.81                       (94.81)                        115.8%
6350 Liability & Property Insurance 31,000.00                18,083.31                 12,916.69                 58.3%
6398 Insurance Claims Reimbursement ‐                            ‐                              ‐                              n/a
6402 Office, AV, Library Supplies 79,700.00                41,902.15                 4,701.88             33,095.97                 58.5%
6410 Periodicals 19,300.00                6,671.86                    12,628.14                 34.6%
6411 Pamphlets 200.00                      ‐                              200.00                       0.0%
6412 Books‐Adult 186,900.00             105,856.08               81,043.92                 56.6%
6413 Books‐Juvenile 75,800.00                42,270.28                 33,529.72                 55.8%
6414 Non‐print Materials 61,800.00                40,782.40                 21,017.60                 66.0%
6415 Lost/Damaged Collection Materials 15,000.00                5,442.17                    9,557.83                    36.3%
6490 Equipment Purchases < $5000 78,500.00                52,479.51                 26,020.49                 66.9%
6495 Grant Expenditures 15,000.00                ‐                              15,000.00                 0.0%
6496 Gift Expenditures 16,000.00                23,234.82                 (7,234.82)                  145.2%
6498 Other Materials & Supplies 4,400.00                  1,537.37                    2,862.63                    34.9%
6790 Refunds & Reimbursements 10,400.00                10,294.66                 105.34                       99.0%
6802 Capital Purchases 8,000.00                  4,735.63                    3,264.37                    59.2%
7020 Transfer to Debt Service 40,100.00                ‐                              40,100.00                 0.0%
7044 Transfer to Library Capital Projects 106,000.00             106,000.00               ‐                              100.0%

3,733,500.00$         2,258,050.92$          29,548.61$         1,445,900.47$          61.3%26



OBJ 2010 YTD ENCUM‐ AVAIL. %
# ACCOUNT NAME APPROP. APPROP. APPROP. APPROP. APPROP.

LIB BLDG MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURE
6010 Payroll Wages 127,800.00$            65,899.54$                61,900.46$                51.6%
6020 Payroll Overtime 16,900.00                7,338.76                    9,561.24                    43.4%
6030 Special Pays 1,300.00                  1,336.91                    (36.91)                        102.8%
6040 Employer Paid Benefits 26,300.00                13,286.47                 13,013.53                 50.5%
6043 Health Ins (ER) 41,100.00                19,809.85                 21,290.15                 48.2%
6047 Health Insurance Deductible 2,700.00                  1,575.00                    1,125.00                    58.3%
6108 Unemployment Compensation ‐                            815.99                       (815.99)                      n/a
6128 Repairs to Tools & Equipment 200.00                      ‐                              200.00                       0.0%
6130 Repairs to Buildings 20,600.00                14,785.91                 206.30                 5,607.79                    72.8%
6138 Equipment Rental 100.00                      195.00                       (95.00)                        195.0%
6144 Laundry & Dry Cleaning 200.00                      ‐                              200.00                       n/a
6150 Special Services 8,300.00                  5,135.13                    2,171.12             993.75                       88.0%
6214 Garbage Service 2,100.00                  2,654.71                    (554.71)                      126.4%
6256 Stormwater Charges 400.00                      674.27                       (274.27)                      168.6%
6340 Implementation Reserves 400.00                      ‐                              400.00                       n/a
6460 Repair Part & Supplies 1,100.00                  356.24                       162.45                 581.31                       47.2%
6464 Building Materials & Janitorial Supplies 8,100.00                  6,080.53                    1,095.50             923.97                       88.6%

257,600.00$            139,944.31$              3,635.37$           114,020.32$              55.7%

TOTAL EXPENSES 3,991,100.00$         2,397,995.23$          33,183.98$         1,559,920.79$          60.9%
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LE PHILLIPS MEMORIAL PUBLIC LIBRARY
LTD CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET REPORT
For the Period Ended August 31, 2010

ACTUAL
OBJ CURRENT SINCE INCEPTION ENCUM‐ AVAILABLE %
# ACCOUNT NAME APPROP. EXPENDED BRANCES BUDGET USED

LIBRARY CIP FUND  REVENUE
4802 Interest‐Pooled Investments ‐$                           207,650.00$              ‐$                     (207,650.00)$           
5114 Tsf from Library ‐$                           1,833,900.00$          ‐$                     (1,833,900.00)$        

‐$                           2,041,550.00$          ‐$                     (2,041,550.00)$        

LIBRARY BLDG IMPROVEMENT
6810 Capital Costs (2006 and previous years) 892,800.00$            716,109.38$              ‐$                     176,690.62$              80.2%

TECHNOLOGY UPGRADE
6802 Capital Purchases 1,024,100.00$         979,706.78$              ‐$                     44,393.22$                95.7%

LIBRARY BUILDING EXPANSION
4178 State Aid‐Bldg Commission Grant ‐$                           125,000.00$              ‐$                     (125,000.00)$           
4818 Other Interest 23,600.00$               46,317.43$                ‐$                     (22,717.43)$              
4850 Gifts & Donation 1,020,700.00$         975,103.48$              ‐$                     45,596.52$               
4852 Misc Reimbursements & Refund 1,200.00$                 35,177.00$                ‐$                     (33,977.00)$              
5590 Fund Balance Used for CIP 700,000.00$            ‐$                             ‐$                     700,000.00$             

Total Revenue 1,745,500.00$         1,181,597.91$          ‐$                     563,902.09$             

6010 P/R Wages ‐$                           31,097.83$                ‐$                     (31,097.83)$              
6040 Benefits ‐$                           3,906.02$                   ‐$                     (3,906.02)$                
6810 Capital Costs 1,745,500.00$         1,552,867.31$          55,552.09$         137,080.60$             

Total Expense 1,745,500.00$         1,587,871.16$          55,552.09$         102,076.75$              91.0%

LIBRARY BLDG IMPROVEMENT
6810 Capital Costs (2007‐2010) 675,800.00$            116,760.14$              66,950.71$         492,089.15$              27.2%

TOTAL CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN EXPENSE 4,338,200.00$         3,400,447.46$          122,502.80$      815,249.74$              81.2%
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Memo 
 
 
TO:    Library Board 
FROM:  Julie Gast, Business Manager 
DATE:  September 9, 2010 
RE:    2009 Audit 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Attached are the library‐pertinent pages of the City’s Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the year ended December 31, 2009.  

Since the original document contains 223 pages, I have only attached 
those pages which pertain directly to the library financial statements, as 
well as the independent auditors’ report.  The library’s balance sheet 
may be found on the page labeled 128 of the CAFR, and the operating 
statement on the page labeled 141.  If you wish to review the document 
in its entirety, it may be found at http://web.ci.eau‐
claire.wi.us/finance/cafr2009.pdf 

The Board reviews, but is not required to take formal action on the 
audit. 
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EAU CLAIRE, WISCONSIN

The City of Eau Claire is located in west central Wisconsin at the confluence of the Eau Claire and
Chippewa Rivers.  The City was established as a lumbering settlement in the 1840's.  Today it
serves as the major center for health and professional services, education, retail trade and industry

in the Chippewa Valley.

Eau Claire is conveniently linked
by air, fiber optics, railroad and the
interstate system to all of the major
markets in the upper Midwest.  The
City is less than 2 hours away from
Minneapolis  /   St. Paul via    I-94
and just 4.5 hours from
Milwaukee, also via I-94.
Scheduled daily air service links
Eau Claire with the Minneapolis /
St. Paul International Airport.

Eau Claire's quality of life is no
secret.  Several national surveys
have ranked Eau Claire toward the
top of all U.S. metropolitan areas.
Eau Claire's picturesque setting on
the banks of the Eau Claire and
Chippewa Rivers is one of its
greatest assets.  The City has made
excellent use of its natural features
with many beautiful urban and
rural parks and parkways.  Well-
preserved historic neighborhoods
add to the City's charm.  The City's

residents enjoy a wide variety of year-round sporting events, thanks to the four distinct seasons.
Swimming, biking, boating, golfing, hunting, fishing, skating, and cross-country skiing are just
a few of the activities which attract visitors to the area.  Eau Claire is also a cultural center with
a strongly supported arts and entertainment calendar.

Low costs of living and housing, full governmental services, a cooperative business environment
and a growing economy all contribute to make Eau Claire an attractive place to live and work.
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INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

This section contains the following information: 

> Elected and Appointed Officials 

> Organizational Chart 

> Letter of Transmittal 

> Awards 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE, WISCONSIN 
ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS 
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Term 
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Andrew Werthmann ............... District Five April 2009 

Larry Balow ............................. Council at Large April 2008 

Berlye S. Middleton ................. Council at Large April 2009 

Jackie Pavelski ........................ Council at Large April 2008 

Thomas T. Vue ........................ Council at Large April 2008 

Dana Wachs ............................. Council at Large September 2009 

Appointed Officials 

Michael W. Huggins .............................. City Manager 

Term 
Expires 

April 2012 

April 2012 

April 2012 

April 2012 

April 2012 

April 2012 

April 2010 

April 2010 

April 2010 

April 2010 

April 2010 

Rebecca K. Noland, CPA ....................... Director of Finance - Comptroller/Treasurer 

J. Dale Peters ......................................... Director of Human Resources/Assistant City 

Manager 

John LeBrun .......................................... Information Services 

Daryl Tufte ............................................. Director of Community Development 

Phillip C. Fieber ..................................... Director of Parks and Recreation 

Brian G. Amundson, P.E ....................... Director of Public Works 

Edward Kassing ..................................... Fire Chief 

Jerome S. Matysik ................................. Police Chief 

Stephen C. Nick ..................................... City Attorney 

John Stoneberg ...................................... Public Library Director 

Richard J. Thoune ................................. City-County Health Director 

Donna A. Austad .................................... City Clerk 

Mike Schatz, EDFP ............................... Economic Development Administrator 
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ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

City of Eau Claire, Wisconsin 

CITIZENS OF EAU CLAIRE 
I 

CITY COUNCIL 

CITY MANAGER 
• City Clerk 
• Information Services 
• Economic Development 

CITY ATTORNEY 
I 

POLICE I 
• Administrative Services 

FINANCE • Patrol Division 
• Detective Division 

• Financial Services 
• Communication Center 

• Assessing 

HUMAN RESOURCES FIRE AND RESCUE 

• Personnel • Fire Operations 
• Purchasing • Fire Inspections 
• Risk Management 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT LIBRARY 

• Youth Services • Development Services 

• CDBG 
• Adult Services 
• Technical Services 
• Circulation Services 

PUBLIC WORKS 

• Public Works Operations CITY -COUNTY HEALTH 
• Engineering & Infrastructure Dev. 

• Public Health Nursing 
• Utilities 

• Environmental Health 
• Transit • Laboratory 

PARKS AND RECREA nON 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

• Park Maintenance 

• Forestry 
• Recreation HOUSING AUTHORITY 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE ------F-IN-A-N-CE-D-E-P.-~-RT-M-E-NT
Finance Administration 

July 21,2010 

City Council 
Citizens of Eau Claire 
Eau Claire, Wisconsin 

(715) 839-6044 

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of Eau Claire, Wisconsin as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2009 is prepared to provide the Council, our citizens, and other 
interested persons, detailed information concerning the financial condition of the City 
government. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness 
of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City government. We believe the 
information as presented is accurate in all material aspects; that it is presented in a manner 
designed to fairly set forth the financial position and results of operations of the City as measured 
by the financial activity of its various funds and component units, and that all disclosures 
necessary to enable the reader to gain reasonable understanding of the City'S financial affairs 
have been included. 

Report Format 

This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is presented in three main sections: introductory, 
financial, and statistical. The introductory section includes a list of the City's principal officials, 
the general government organizational chart, and this transmittal letter. The financial section 
includes the independent auditors' report, management's discussion and analysis, 
government-wide financial statements, notes to financial statements and more detailed fund 
financial statements. A third section provides selected statistical and general information 
presented on a multi-year comparative basis. 
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Reporting Entity 

This report includes all of the funds and component units of the City of Eau Claire. The criteria 
used in determining the reporting entity are consistent with criteria established by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) as outlined in the Codification of 
Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards. This report includes the General 
Fund, which accounts for the general administration of the City, and the Special Revenue funds 
relating to Economic Development, Community Enhancement, Downtown Partners, Cemetery 
Maintenance, the Hazardous Materials Response, the Public Library, the City-County Health 
Department, Community Development, Home Grant, and the Former Landfill Escrow. The 
report also includes the City'S Enterprise funds that account for the Water, Sewer, Storm Water, 
and Parking Utilities, Public Transit, the Hobbs Ice Center, and the Outdoor Pool. Internal 
Service funds provide information on the operations of the Risk Management and the Central 
Equipment functions. 

Since the Housing Authority, the Redevelopment Authority and four business improvement 
districts are component units of the City, this report includes discrete presentation of their 
financial data. The Housing Authority was formed to engage in the development and operation 
of low-income housing. Such projects are regulated by the United States Department of Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD) and the Wisconsin Housing and Economic Development 
Authority (WHEDA). The Redevelopment Authority was created by the City Council in 1991 for 
the purpose of eliminating and preventing substandard, deteriorated, slum and blighted areas or 
properties and encouraging urban renewal. The Downtown, West Grand, Water Street, and North 
Barstow/Medical Business Improvement Districts account for the collection of special 
assessments from their members for business promotion within each district. 

General Information 

The City of Eau Claire is located in west central Wisconsin, in Eau Claire and Chippewa 
counties. The City was established as a lumbering settlement in the 1840's. Today it serves as the 
major center for health and professional services, education, retail trade, technology, and 
industry in west central Wisconsin. The City was incorporated in 1872, and covers an area of 
approximately 34 square miles. The City'S current population is 65,950 and the population of the 
Greater Eau Claire Metropolitan Area is 
approximately 160,018. 

The City of Eau Claire has a 
council/manager form of government. 
There are eleven members on the Eau 
Claire City Council. Five of the 
members are elected from aldermanic 
districts. Five members and the Council 
President are elected at large. District 
Alderpersons and the City Council 
President were elected to three-year 
terms in April 2009. At-Large 
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Alderpersons will be elected to three-year terms in 2010. 
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ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK 

Strong retail outlets, regional medical facilities, high technology companies, and educational 
institutions anchor Eau Claire's economy and establish the City as the regional economic center 
in western Wisconsin. Eau Claire's diverse employment base has been cited by bond rating 
agencies as a significant factor in the City's solid Aa21 and AA ratings. The City's growth has 
been consistent, with new building valuation exceeding $100 million for twelve consecutive 
years. The 2009 construction season had a record total building valuation of $197.6 million, 
with the largest segment generated by the commercial sector at $13 8.1 million. Industrial 
development totaled $18.7 million. Residential construction totaled $25.2 million and 
miscellaneous projects $15.6 million. The top building project was a $104 million addition to a 
healthcare facility. Other development included a $16.8 million manufacturing plant expansion, 
$4.8 million in ice arena improvements, and a $4 million airport terminal expansion. 

Two regional medical facilities are located in the City. The Luther/Midelfort Mayo Health 
System employs over 3,200 and has had a pivotal effect on development in the downtown area. 
The LutheriMidelfort Hospital complex had additional construction valuation of $109 million in 
2009, including $104 million for the construction of a five-story, 385,000 square foot bed tower, 
scheduled for completion in 2011. The other major medical facility is Sacred Heart Hospital 
which employs over 1,300. The local medical industry also includes the United Health Care 
Group with 1,400 employees and the Marshfield Clinic with 700 jobs. 

Retail trade provides nearly one-fourth of Eau Claire's jobs, with many more in wholesale. Eau 
Claire's trade area encompasses seven counties with a population of more than 300,000 people. 
Eau Claire is served by many national retailers, including Kohls, Walmart, Sam's Club, Target, 
Menards, Best Buy, Office Max, TJ Maxx, Macy's, Younkers, Eddie Bauer, Sears, JC Penney's, 
Charlotte Russe and Christopher Banks. Stores and restaurants that have opened within the past 
two or three years include Gander Mountain, PetS mart, David's Bridal, Michaels, Jo~Ann 
Fabrics, Gold's Gym, Texas Roadhouse, Asia Palace, Red Robin and Manny's Mexican 
Restaurant. The valuation of these new businesses exceeds $35 million. 

Tourism is another vital component of Eau Claire's economy. People from all over the country 
enjoy Eau Claire's natural and cultural resources. A new $7 million Metropolis Hotel with a 
30,000 square foot water park was completed in 2009. Area tourism generates over $317 million 
in revenue and creates approximately 5,800 jobs in the Chippewa Valley. Room tax revenues 
exceeded $1.17 million in 2009. Eau Claire generates the eighth highest room tax in the state. 

In addition to the trade and services industries, Eau Claire's employment base is enhanced by the 
area's post secondary education institutions including the University of Wisconsin-Eau Claire, 
Chippewa Valley Technical College, Immanuel Lutheran College and Globe University, a 
division of the Minnesota School of Business. Besides providing a significant number of jobs, 
these institutions ensure that the area's workforce is well educated for the technical and 
professional jobs that the Eau Claire area attracts. 

I Prior to Moody's recalibration to a global scale. The City'S revised General Obligation Bond rating is Aal. 
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Eau Claire received national recognition from a variety of nationally recognized publications. 
The awards and rankings include: 

• According to Business Week's "Best Places to Raise Your Kids 2009", Eau Claire ranks 
# 1 in Wisconsin. 

• According to the Wisconsin Department of Administration, the City of Eau Claire is the 
"3rd fastest growing city in Wisconsin". 

• The ACCRA Cost of Living Index places Eau Claire as the lowest cost of living in 
Wisconsin during the first quarter of 2009. 

• Received "2008 Downtown Merit Achievement Award for Public Space" for the 
Phoenix Park Project from the international Downtown Association. 

• Ranked 59 of 124 small metro areas in 2009 in the "Best Performing Cities Index" by the 
Milken Institute. 

• Selected as one of the "Top Ten Affordable Places to Retire in 2009" by US News & 
World Report. 

• Received the "Law Enforcement Partnership Award" given by the Wisconsin 
Department of Transportation 's Bureau of Transportation Safety and AAA Wisconsin. 

• Received "2008 Good Government Award" from Green Bay based consulting 
engineering firm Foth. 

MAJOR INITIATIVES 

The following were among the many diverse activities to which both elected officials and staff 
devoted their energies in 2009 and into 2010. 

Clear Vision Eau Claire 

A consortium of local governments and community organizations worked with the National 
Civic League to continue a community-visioning and strategic-planning process for the greater 
Eau Claire area. Major projects in 2009 included community initiatives to promote community 
sustainability, implement citizen eco-teams to implement neighborhood and organizational 
projects, collaborative education projects to encourage reading and support for K through 12 
education, and completion of five civic work team pilot projects to use civic problem solving to 
address community issues in treatment, community facilities, jobs for underemployed, public 
park facilities needs, and collaborative education. Clear Vision also completed civic training for 
work groups and coaches. 

Baldrige Performance Team Development 

A vision, mission statement, and statement of core values were identified for the city organization 
through joint meetings with City Council, senior managers, and the Focus Team. The Focus Team 
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completed initial pilot process improvement projects and surveyed the city employees on potential 
process improvement projects. A Lean Journey Process Improvement Toolkit for future employee 
work teams was completed. Ten initial process improvement projects and teams were identified 
for work to begin in January 2010. 

Citizens' Alliance for Strong Communities 

The Citizens' Alliance for Strong Communities is a regional network of organizations and 
individuals united to strengthen public services and infrastructures in all greater Eau Claire 
communities so that citizens and businesses can thrive. The Alliance sponsored public forums in 
2009 on the relationship of strong public structures to a high quality of life and the fiscal 
challenges confronting local government and the community. The Alliance also adopted bylaws 
and began working with other community coalitions in Wisconsin to convene a state conference 
in 2010 on the impact of property tax exemptions on local capacity to deliver services. 

Green Team Report 

The City Manager formed a "Green Team" to complete a study of the City's internal operations, 
existing policies, procedures, and practices pertaining to sustainability. The focus of the study 
was on measures that could save money, particularly with energy conservation. The report 
provides an operational definition of sustainability, highlights past success, inventories 
unsustainable practices and recommends changes in a 5-year strategic plan. 

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act 

In late 2008 and 2009 the City of Eau Claire was awarded the following funding through the 
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act: 

Program Award Amount 

• Housing Authority $ 260,200 Capital improvements on 109 public housing 
(through HUD) units 

• CDBG (through HUD) 171,700 Handicapped access & rehabilitation 

• CDBG (through Dept of 382,600 Neighborhood stabilization 
Commerce 

• Transit (through Dept of 2,035,400 Buses, shop truck & surveillance system 
Transportation 

• Police (Office of Justice 109,900 Mugshot system & other technical projects 
Administration 

• Community Development 655,700 Lighting retrofits, HVAC, Ice center low 
(Dept of Energy) emissivity ceilings & dehumidification system 

Total $3,615,500 
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L.E. Phillips Memorial Public Library Expansion 

The only major remodeling of the current Library building in its 33 years was undertaken in 
2009. The public-private partnership that provided the $1.75 million financial support for the 
library renovation resulted in more space and programming capability for the youth of Eau 
Claire; enhanced the energy efficiency and long-term infrastructure of a valuable City asset; and 
provided space to more efficiently move the materials that all library customers use every day. 
The renovation has also resulted in new research space and better access to the microforms 
collection and genealogical research; a new circulation desk to better serve library customers; an 
area that allows customers to pick up their own holds; an attractive and more flexible new 
materials area; an enhanced art gallery; and a new exterior library sign that is more visible and 
protected. 

Hobbs Ice Center 

The Hobbs Ice Center $5.6 million renovation was nearly complete in 2009. The project 
included new locker rooms and athletic training rooms for UWEC, a club viewing room and 
mezzanine spectator areas, expanded concession area, and a new four panel center ice scoreboard 
in the O'Brien Rink. A new lobby and front entrance were created, with additional offices and a 
reception area, enabling the Recreation Administration to re-locate from First A venue. 

The outdoor "Hughes" rink was covered, and became the 3 rd indoor artificial ice sheet. Six new 
locker rooms were constructed, as well as four new coach/staff offices. Several code and safety 
upgrades were completed including the fire suppression (sprinkler) and smoke alarms, two 
elevators, HVAC air monitoring control systems, and protective netting in bleacher seating areas. 
Energy efficient lighting and HV AC equipment were installed throughout the facility. 

Hastings Way (BUS 53) - Galloway Street Bridge to STH 312 (North Crossing) 

The segment of Hastings Way (BUS 53) from the Eau Claire River to the North Crossing (Hwy 
#312) was reconstructed in 2009 by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation and the City of 
Eau Claire. The $9.9 million project consisted of removing the bridge at Birch Street and 
replacing it with a signalized at-grade intersection. The intersection of Seymour Road and 
Hastings Way also was reconfigured with a new traffic signal installed. Pedestrian access was 
enhanced with the addition of a pedestrian underpass located south of Birch Street. The City'S 
share of the project was $1.9 million. 
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TIF #8 North Barstow Redevelopment 

The City's TIF investment in streets, utilities, and park amenities over the past years resulted in 
significant private investment in commercial spaces and residential housing. A 33-unit apartment 
building was completely leased by June and a second 24-unit building was initiated. Valuations in 
the TIF had increased by $22.4 million for 2009 taxes. The redevelopment of this core area of 
downtown Eau Claire has generated a lot of attention in the community and has resulted in spin-off 
investment in the area. 

FOR THE FUTURE 

The national recession in 2009 affected Eau Claire and presented challenges to maintaining the 
City's level of services, quality oflife and financial stability. In the City'S favor, its position as a 
regional educational, medical and retail center has mitigated the recessionary effects. In 2009, 
the City saw building permit valuations increase by approximately 80% over last year and 
unemployment rates well under state and national levels. The City plans to continue allocating 
resources to fostering economic development. Through programs like the Regional Business 
Fund Loan Program, the Revolving Loan Program, the Code Compliance Program, and the 
Fa9ade Program, the City can offer over $1 million in future loans for businesses in Eau Claire. 

By engaging citizens in community collaborations like Clear Vision Eau Claire and the Citizens' 
Alliance for Strong Communities, the City will be in a better position to resolve future fiscal 
challenges through engaged and participative residents. 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Accounting System and Budgetary Control 

The diverse nature of government operations and the necessity of assuring legal compliance 
preclude recording and summarizing all governmental financial transactions and balances in a 
single accounting entity. From an accounting and financial management viewpoint, a 
governmental unit is a combination of several different fiscal and accounting entities, each 
having a separate set of accounts and functioning independently of each other. Each accounting 
entity is accounted for in a separate fund. A fund is defined as a fiscal accounting entity with a 
self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and other financial resources together with all 
related liabilities and residual equities or balances, and changes therein, which are segregated for 
the purpose of carrying on specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with 
special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. 

Budgetary control is maintained through an annual budget ordinance passed by the City Council. 
Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for 
the General fund, Debt Service fund, and certain special revenue funds, and is adopted on a basis 
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Fixed, long-term budgets on a project 
basis are used for Capital Project funds. Flexible annual budgets are approved for proprietary 
funds to provide for financial management. The City Manager and Director of Finance may 
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authorize transfers of budgeted amounts within departments; however, transfers between 
departments and additional appropriations to the original budget must be made by Council 
resolution. The level at which expenditures may not exceed budget is by department 

Internal Control 

In developing and evaluating the City's accounting system, consideration is given to the 
adequacy of internal accounting controls. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute assurance regarding: (1) the safeguarding of assets against loss from 
unauthorized use or disposition; and (2) the reliability of financial records for preparing financial 
statements and maintaining accountability for assets. The concept of reasonable assurance 
recognizes that the cost of internal control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived and 
that the evaluation of cost and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management 

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. We believe that the City's 
internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of 
proper recording of financial transactions. 

Fiscal Policies 

In 2009 the City Council established a Fiscal Policy Advisory Committee to facilitate a review of 
fiscal matters. The committee examined in depth several potential revenue sources including a 
vehicle registration fee, sale of city-owned property, a street light utility fee, and a snow-plow 
assessment fee. The committee also hosted community forums to gather public input on 
potential revenues or service reductions. These efforts to raise public awareness of the difficult 
budget issues helped develop a process of "informed consent". Although significant new 
revenue sources were not approved in 2009, the studies resulted in a better understanding of the 
limitations and restrictions facing local governments. 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT 

Included in the financial section is the independent auditor's report which is a significant part of 
the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). In this report, Baker Tilly Virchow 
Krause, LLP, Certified Public Accountants, express their opinion that the financial statements 
are presented fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and comment on 
the scope of the examination. The opinion is unqualified and signifies a substantial level of 
achievement. Compliance audits of the City's federal and state financial assistance programs for 
the year ending December 31, 2009 were also completed by the independent auditors. These 
reports are available under separate cover. 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Immediately following the independent auditor's report is Management's Discussion and 
Analysis which provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial 
statements. 
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REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT 

GFOA Certificate of Achievement 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Eau 
Claire for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2008. The City has received this award each year since 1984. In order to receive a Certi.ficate of 
Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized 
comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted 
accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. 

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current 
comprehensive financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program's 
requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another 
certificate. 
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the Finance Department Staff for their dedication in preparing this report. 
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Finance Director 
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The Government Finance Officers 
Association of United States and 
Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate 
of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting to the City of Eau 
Claire, Wisconsin for its 
comprehensive annual financial report 
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2008. This was the twenty-third 
consecutive year that the government 
has achieved this prestigious award. 

In order to be awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement, a government must 
publish an easily readable and 
efficiently organized comprehensive 
annual financial report. This report 
must satisfy both the generally 
accepted accounting principles and 
applicable legal requirements. 

A Certificate of Achievement is valid 
for a period of one year only. We 
believe that our current comprehensive 
annual financial report continues to 
meet the Certificate of Achievement 
Program's requirements and we are 
submitting it to the GFOA to 
determine its eligibility for another 
certificate. 
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FINANCIAL SECTION 

This section contains the following subsections: 

> Auditors' Report 

> Management's Discussion and Analysis 

> Basic Financial Statements 

> Notes to Financial Statements 

> Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules 
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Auditors' Report 

Independent audits of local government financial 
statements are essential elements of financial control and 
accountability. 

The local government is responsible for the contents of its 
financial statements, including the notes to the financial 
statements. The independent auditors' responsibility is to 
report on the financial statements. 
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City Council 
Eau Claire, Wisconsin 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 21, 2010 on our 
consideration of the City of Eau Claire's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 

The management's discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information and other postemployment 
benefit funding information as listed in the table of contents is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements but is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We 
have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the 
methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not 
audit the information and express no opinion on it. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements and 
schedules as listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. The 2009 combining and individual fund financial statements and 
schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 
and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2009 taken as a whole. We have also previously audited, in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the City of Eau Claire's basic financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2008, which are not presented with the accompanying financial statements. In 
our report dated June 25, 2009, we expressed unqualified opinions on the respective financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information. In our opinion, the 2008 combining and individual 
fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2008, taken as a whole. 

The "Letter of Transmittal" and "Statistical Section" listed in the accompanying table of contents are presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements of the City of Eau 
Claire, Wisconsin. The information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on such information. 

July 21,2010 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Management's discussion and analysis provides a 
narrative introduction and overview the readers need to 
interpret the basic financial statements. It also provides 
analysis of some key data presented in the financial 
statements. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE, WISCONSIN 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
This discussion and analysis of the financial performance of the City of Eau Claire is 
intended to provide an overview of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2009. Readers are encouraged to consider the information presented here 
in conjunction with additional information as furnished in the letter of transmittal and the 
financial statements, which begin on page 27. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 

 The City of Eau Claire has total assets of $467.4 million and liabilities of $152.0 
million, resulting in net assets of $315.4 million at the end of 2009. Of the net assets, 
$226.7 million represents the City’s investment in capital assets, net of related debt, 
$19.0 million is held for restricted purposes, and $69.7 million is available to meet 
the City’s ongoing obligations to its citizens and creditors. 

 During 2009, the City of Eau Claire’s total net assets increased by $4.9 million, from 
2008, or approximately 1.6%.  The net asset increase was attributable to the increase 
in capital assets, which was primarily due to the investment made in the Hobbs Ice 
Arena renovation under business-type activities.  

 At the close of 2009, the City of Eau Claire’s governmental funds reported ending 
fund balances of $59.5 million, a net increase of $5.7 million from 2008.   This 
increase is attributable to transactions in the General Fund.  While the other 
governmental funds had a net reduction of $.8 million, the General Fund increased 
$6.5 million.  The predominant reason for the General Fund increase resulted from 
the issuance of $4,350,000 in debt on behalf of the City’s Hobbs Ice Arena 
renovation.  Of that amount, $3,750,000 was advanced to the facility, and is shown 
as such in the General Fund fund balance.  The remainder of the General Fund 
increase is reflective of positive variances in 2009 operations.  Labor settlements and 
health insurance costs were significantly lower than projected, saving $1.3 million.  
General Fund subsidies to other funds were also $.8 million less than projected.  For 
example, federal and state support for Public Transit was budgeted at 57% but was 
awarded at 59%, reducing the local support.  Increased revenues and donations in 
other nonmajor funds also reduced the need for General Fund support for those 
activities.  Utilities and supplies were $.6 million under budget due to the reduction 
in energy costs and petroleum based products from 2008 to 2009. 

 During 2009, the City of Eau Claire continued a proactive plan for the replacement 
of aging infrastructure, the upgrade of technology used in operations, and the 
improvement of utility services. The City invested more than $26.3 million in 
upgrading infrastructure systems and other capital assets. 

 Wisconsin statute restricts municipality general obligation debt to less than 5% of 
equalized property value. The City of Eau Claire maintained a level of remaining 
debt capacity of approximately 63%. In 2009, $13.4 million in new general 
obligation debt was issued, which included $12.9 million in taxable Build America 
Bonds and $468,000 in State Trust Fund loans.  
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This section serves as an introduction to the City of Eau Claire’s basic financial 
statements. The basic financial statements for the City of Eau Claire are comprised of 
three components: 

- government-wide financial statements, 
- fund financial statements, and 
- notes to the financial statements. 
 

This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic 
financial statements. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 

The two government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a 
broad overview of the City’s finances in a manner similar to private-sector business 
entities. The Statement of Net Assets presents information on all of the City of Eau 
Claire’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net assets. 
Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether 
the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. The Statement of Activities 
presents information showing how the City’s net assets changed during the most recent 
fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, 
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in 
cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation 
leave). The City's overall financial position improved from 2008 to 2009, as the City's net 
assets increased by $4.9 million, reflecting the City’s investment in the Hobbs Ice Arena 
renovation. The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 27 through 
29 of this report. 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish those functions of the 
municipality that are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, 
known as governmental activities, from other functions that are intended to recover all, or 
a significant portion, of their costs through user fees and services charges, called 
business-type activities. The governmental activities of the City of Eau Claire include 
general government, public safety, public works, health services, culture and recreation, 
development, and other miscellaneous activities. The business-type activities of the City 
include the water, sewer, storm water, and public transit, parking utilities, the ice center, 
and the outdoor pool. 

In addition to these various direct operations of the City, or primary government, the 
government-wide financial statements also include financial information related to 
legally distinct entities for which the City has financial responsibility and accountability, 
known as component units. These component units are the Housing Authority, 
Redevelopment Authority, the Downtown Business Improvement District, the West 
Grand Business Improvement District, the Water Street Business Improvement District, 
and the North Barstow/Medical Business Improvement District. These entities are 
described in Note III-I following the financial statements. Separately issued financial 
statements of the Housing Authority and the Redevelopment Authority may be obtained 
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from the Finance Director’s office, which is located at 203 South Farwell Street, P.O. 
Box 5148, Eau Claire, WI  54702-5148. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources 
that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Eau Claire, like 
other governmental entities, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance 
with various finance-related legal requirements. Some funds are required by law, while 
others are established internally to maintain control over a particular activity. All of the 
funds of the City of Eau Claire can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, 
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 

Governmental Funds 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike 
the government-wide statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-
term inflows and outflows of current spendable resources, as well as balances of 
spendable resources that can be converted to cash and balances available at the end of the 
fiscal year for future spending. Such information may be useful in evaluating a 
government’s near-term financing requirements. 

Governmental funds include the General, special revenue, capital projects, and debt 
service funds. Of these, the General Fund and the Debt Service-General Fund are shown 
as major funds and are presented in separate columns. Data from the other governmental 
funds are combined into a single column for aggregated presentation. Individual fund 
data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of 
combining statements elsewhere in this report. Reconciliations follow the Balance Sheet-
Governmental Funds and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances – Governmental Funds. The reconciliations show the adjustments that are 
needed to convert the governmental funds financial statements to the government-wide 
Statement of Net Assets and Statement of Activities. 
 
Proprietary Funds 

Proprietary funds maintained by the City of Eau Claire are of two different types: 
enterprise funds and internal service funds. Enterprise funds are used to report those 
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. The City uses enterprise funds to account for activities that provide supplies 
and services to the general public. Proprietary fund statements provide the same type of 
information as the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. The City’s 
fund financial statements present separate enterprise fund information for the Water, 
Sewer, and Storm Water utilities and the Transit fund; data from the other proprietary 
funds are combined into a single column for aggregated presentation. Individual fund 
data for each of these non-major funds is provided in the form of combining statements 
elsewhere in this report. The proprietary fund financial statements begin on page 35 of 
this report. 
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Internal service funds are used to account for enterprise-like operations that provide 
services, on a user fee basis, primarily or exclusively to departmental customers within 
the governmental entity itself, rather than to external customers. The City of Eau Claire 
uses internal service funds to account for its risk management and central equipment 
functions. Because these services predominately benefit governmental rather than 
business-type functions, they have been included within the governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. Detail about each fund may be found in the 
supplementary information section beginning on page 150. 
 
Fiduciary Funds  

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. The City of Eau Claire uses a fiduciary fund to account for taxes 
collected for the benefit of overlapping tax jurisdictions. The Tax Collections fiduciary 
fund is not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources 
of the fund are not available to support the programs of the City of Eau Claire. The 
accounting for the Tax Collection fund is similar to that used for proprietary funds. The 
fiduciary fund financial statement can be found on page 45 of this report. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

The notes to the financial statements provide additional detail that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
The notes to the basic financial statements can be found beginning on page 48 of this 
report. 
 
Additional Supplementary Information 

Following the basic government-wide and fund financial statements and accompanying 
notes, combining statements are included for the non-major governmental, enterprise, and 
internal service funds, along with component units. The last section of The City of Eau 
Claire Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents statistical and historical 
reference data. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 

The Statement of Net Assets for the City of Eau Claire is summarized in the table below. 
As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s 
financial position. The City’s assets exceeded liabilities by $315 million at the close of 
2009. The majority of these net assets ($227 million) reflect the City’s investment in 
capital assets, including land, land improvements, buildings, machinery and equipment, 
infrastructure, and construction in progress, net of depreciation. These capital assets are 
used to provide services to citizens and are not available for future spending. Although 
the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted 
that the resources needed to repay debt must be provided from other sources, since the 
capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  

 

 
 
A relatively small portion of the City’s net assets ($19 million or 6%) represents 
resources that are subject to other restrictions as to how they may be used. The remaining 
$70 million of total net assets may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to its 
citizens and creditors. It is important to note that $15 million, or about 21%, of these 
unrestricted net assets are related to the City’s business-type activities. Consequently, 
they generally may not be used to fund governmental activities. At the end of 2009, the 

Governmental  Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Current and Other Assets 132,115,399$  132,231,932$  21,681,628$   23,135,598$   153,797,027$ 155,367,530$ 

Capital Assets (net) 146,919,539    145,987,836   166,651,773   159,393,117   313,571,312  305,380,953  

  Total Assets 279,034,938$  278,219,768$  188,333,401$ 182,528,715$  467,368,339$ 460,748,483$ 

Current Liabilities 39,319,226$    47,541,503$   2,345,849$     1,639,322$     41,665,075$  49,180,825$  

Noncurrent Liabilities 82,898,721     75,620,368     27,367,281     25,390,013     110,266,002  101,010,381  

  Total Liabilities 122,217,947$  123,161,871$  29,713,130$   27,029,335$   151,931,077$ 150,191,206$ 

Inv ested in capital assets, 

net of related debt 88,485,022$    94,701,258$   142,147,587$ 136,900,275$  230,632,609$ 231,601,533$ 

Debt reclassification -                    -                   -                   -                   (3,838,035)     (4,030,260)     

Total inv ested in capital 88,485,022     94,701,258     142,147,587   136,900,275   226,794,574  227,571,273  

Restricted 17,257,799     18,725,047     1,720,280      2,337,580       18,978,079    21,062,627    

Unrestricted 51,074,170     41,631,592     14,752,404     16,261,525     65,826,574    57,893,117    

Debt reclassification -                    -                   -                   -                   3,838,035      4,030,260      

Total unrestricted 51,074,170     41,631,592     14,752,404     16,261,525     69,664,609    61,923,377    

  Total Net Assets 156,816,991$  155,057,897$  158,620,271$ 155,499,380$  315,437,262$ 310,557,277$ 

Total Net Assets as a %

of Total Liabilities 128% 126% 534% 575% 208% 207%

Unrestricted Net Assets 

as a % of Total Liabilities 42% 34% 50% 60% 46% 41%
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City is able to report positive balances in net assets for the governmental activities as well 
as business-type activities. 
 

An examination of the Statement of Activities provides a concise picture of how the 
various activities of the City are funded. The following table summarizes the City's 
governmental and business-type activities.  

 

 

  

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Revenues

Program rev enues:

Charges for serv ices 12,569,218$   11,453,469$   19,843,253$   18,868,035$   32,412,471$  30,321,504$   

Operating grants & contributions 4,484,730      8,896,073      2,907,050      2,948,598      7,391,780     11,844,671     

Capital grants & contributions 5,961,377      10,209,118     456,431         1,825,805      6,417,808     12,034,923     

General rev enues:

Property  tax es 32,077,747     31,556,552     -                   -                   32,077,747    31,556,552     

Other tax es 1,477,296      1,348,226      -                   -                   1,477,296     1,348,226      

Intergov ernmental rev enues 10,069,736     9,603,015      -                   -                   10,069,736    9,603,015      

Inv estment income 1,045,243      3,692,849      208,680         737,649         1,253,923     4,430,498      

Miscellaneous 219,300         49,943           864,303         286,189         1,083,603     336,132         

Total rev enues 67,904,647     76,809,245     24,279,717     24,666,276     92,184,364    101,475,521   

Expenses

Program ex penses:

General gov ernment 6,914,248      8,357,900      -                   -                   6,914,248     8,357,900      

Public safety 25,574,799     25,983,790     -                   -                   25,574,799    25,983,790     

Public w orks 14,203,614     13,574,402     -                   -                   14,203,614    13,574,402     

Health serv ices 5,079,081      4,836,338      -                   -                   5,079,081     4,836,338      

Culture and recreation 8,745,604      8,701,253      -                   -                   8,745,604     8,701,253      

Dev elopment 3,111,437      3,426,710      -                   -                   3,111,437     3,426,710      

Interest & fiscal charges 2,814,770      2,664,817      -                   -                   2,814,770     2,664,817      

Water utility -                   -                   6,403,962      6,313,831      6,403,962     6,313,831      

Sew er utility -                   -                   5,987,480      6,018,079      5,987,480     6,018,079      

Storm w ater utility -                   -                   2,117,002      2,289,679      2,117,002     2,289,679      

Public transit -                   -                   4,795,731      5,130,887      4,795,731     5,130,887      

Parking utility -                   -                   484,008         473,048         484,008        473,048         

Hobbs ice center -                   -                   703,386         622,235         703,386        622,235         

Outdoor pool -                   -                   369,257         402,603         369,257        402,603         

Total ex penses 66,443,553     67,545,210     20,860,826     21,250,362     87,304,379    88,795,572     

Increase in net assets before transfers 1,461,094      9,264,035      3,418,891      3,415,914      4,879,985     12,679,949     

Transfers 298,000         406,040         (298,000)        (406,040)        -                  -                   

Change in net assets 1,759,094      9,670,075      3,120,891      3,009,874      4,879,985     12,679,949     

Net assets at January  1 (as restated) 155,057,897   145,387,822   155,499,380   152,489,506   310,557,277  297,877,328   

Net assets at December 31 $156,816,991 $155,057,897 $158,620,271 $155,499,380 $315,437,262 $310,557,277

Total
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The chart on the right illustrates how 
governmental activities are funded. 
Taxes, primarily real and personal 
property, but also room taxes and 
payments-in-lieu of taxes, provide 
about 49% of the revenue for 
governmental activities. State aids 
and other grants comprise another 
30% while charges for services and 
all other sources are equal to 21% of 
revenues. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Another way to analyze the data in 
the Statement of Activities is to 
compare expenses of a particular 
program with revenues generated. 
The graph on the left reflects this 
comparison for 2009 governmental 
activities. 
 
 
 
 

Business-type activities depend 
on charges for services as their 
primary revenue sources. As 
indicated in the graph on the 
right, 82% of revenues are 
generated from user charges. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S MAJOR FUNDS 
 
Governmental Funds  
 
The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information regarding near-term 
inflows, outflows, and spendable resources. Such information can be useful in assessing 
the City’s financing requirements.  

As of December 31, 2009, the City of Eau Claire’s Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 
reported combined ending fund balances of $59.5 million, an increase of $5.7 million 
over the previous year's ending balances. The increase is related to transactions in the 
General Fund as discussed on page 15.  Of the ending fund balances total, $21.8 million 
is reserved for specific legal requirements and other commitments, leaving total 
unreserved governmental fund balances of $37.7 million available for meeting future 
budget requirements. Of these unreserved balances, $31 million has been segregated or 
otherwise designated for specific uses, leaving an unreserved, undesignated fund balance 
of $6.7 million.  

The General Fund is the primary operating fund used to account for the governmental 
operations of the City of Eau Claire. The largest revenue sources for the General Fund are 
taxes and intergovernmental aids, together accounting for 78.8% of revenues. Public 
safety, public works, and culture and recreation are the primary operations of the General 
Fund. Over 48% of the General Fund expenditures and other financing uses totaling $51 
million are allocated to the public safety sector. Another 24.9% of the General Fund costs 
are derived from the operations of public works and culture and recreation. 

The General Fund has a fund balance of $23.9 million. Of this amount, $8.1 million is 
reserved for loans made to other funds, prepayments and notes receivable. This is a $3.9 
million increase over 2008 due primarily to the advance made to the Hobbs Ice Arena.  
Another $7 million is designated for subsequent year expenditures and working capital. 
The undesignated General Fund balance is $8.8 million. This is a $2.6 million increase 
over last year reflecting positive variances in the 2009 budget.  The undesignated fund 
balance is available to be applied in a future year’s budget to one-time capital projects or 
to reduce outstanding debt. 

The Debt Service Fund had a total fund balance of $7.6 million, a slight decrease of 
$50,000 from 2008.  This balance primarily reflects the amounts reserved to pay debt 
service on special assessment bond issues and has accumulated from the prepayment of 
special assessments by property owners. 

The Other Governmental Funds column in the balance sheet includes various special 
revenue, debt service, and capital projects funds used to account for proceeds of specific 
revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specific purposes. The fund 
balance of the Other Governmental Funds decreased from 2008 by $.7 million or 2.5%.   
While capital project funds like Streets, Bridges, Building and Equipment, Parks, and 
Environmental Improvements had increases in fund balances totaling $3.1 million, the 
Tax Incremental Financing Districts’ and the Library’s fund balances were reduced by 
$3.8 million, primarily due to the recognition of advances owed by Tax Incremental 
Financing District #8 to other funds.   
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Proprietary Funds 
 
The City’s proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in greater detail. The detail of the City's 
proprietary funds can be found from page 35 to page 44. The net assets of the enterprise-
type proprietary funds at the end of 2009 totaled $158.6 million, an increase of $3 million 
from the previous year, again due to the investment made by the City in the Hobbs Ice 
Arena renovation.  

Some highlights: 

 The Water, Sewer, and Storm Water funds transferred $2,058,594 to the General 
Fund and the General fund and other funds transferred $1,760,594 to the Parking, 
Transit, Hobbs, and Pool funds. After transfers, the enterprise funds had collective net 
income of $2.5 million, primarily generated by the Water, Sewer, and Storm Water 
funds. 

 In 2009, $500,000 of the increase in the enterprise funds net assets resulted from 
developer infrastructure contributions to the Water, Sewer, and Storm Water utilities. 

 The Public Transit Fund is subsidized by federal and state operating assistance at 
approximately 59%. The balance is covered by local fares and General Fund transfers 
to the service. The Public Transit Fund shows a loss of $280,000 since depreciation 
expenses are not covered by General Fund subsidies. 

 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
As shown in the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget and Actual for the General Fund on page 112, the original 2009 General Fund 
budget authorized expenditures and other financing uses of $54,143,000, funded by 
anticipated revenues and other financing sources of $52,171,300 and the application of  
$1,971,700 in available reserves. From time to time during the year, the City Council 
approved adjustments to the budget, primarily for grants and donations. These changes 
are reflected in the Final Budget column. 

The City ended the year with net favorable variances. Revenues and other financing 
sources exceeded the final budget by $995,186, while expenditures and other financing 
uses were under budget by $3,584,564. There were wide variations in the 2009 revenue 
lines.  The more significant variances were the receipts of $886,000 over budget in state 
aid for the future maintenance of Highway 53, $244,000 more than projected for regional 
ambulance, $268,000 more in special assessments, and $567,000 for the sale of two 
properties.  These were offset by the budget shortfall of $1,064,000 in interest revenues.   

Several factors contributed to the favorable expenditure variances.  Wages and benefits 
were $1,346,000 under budget because the labor settlements and health insurance 
contract were negotiated at 1% and 6.5% increases, respectively, substantially less than 
the increases anticipated in the budget.  General Fund subsidies to other funds were 
$797,000 under budget, in a large part due to additional federal and state aids for Public 
Transit.  The Hobbs Ice Arena, the Fairfax Pool, and the cemeteries all had sufficient 
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operating revenues and donations to reduce the need for General Fund support.  Lastly, 
utilities and supplies were $644,000 under budget due to the reduction in energy costs 
and petroleum based products from 2008 to 2009. 

 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT 
 
Capital Assets 
 
In accordance with the implementation requirements of GASB No. 34, the City has 
recorded historical costs and depreciation expense associated with all of its capital assets, 
including infrastructure. As summarized in the table below, the City’s reported 
investment in capital assets for governmental and business-type activities as of December 
31, 2009 totaled $469 million. These assets include the street network in the 
governmental activities and the water, sewer, and storm systems in the business-type 
activities. 

Total accumulated depreciation was calculated to be just over $155 million, or 
approximately 33% of the historical asset cost. Net of accumulated depreciation, the 
City’s investment in capital assets is more than $313 million. The net increase over 2008 
is approximately $8.2 million.  

 

 
 
 

Gov ernmental Activ ites Business-Ty pe Activ ities Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Land 15,236,043$    15,447,504$    15,755,446$      15,755,446$    30,991,489$    31,202,950$    

Land Improv ements 9,371,892        9,342,492        -                      -                    9,371,892        9,342,492        

Building and Improv ements 20,110,160      20,704,160      6,699,583         6,661,444        26,809,743      27,365,604      

Infrastructure 154,794,606    148,344,869    3,743,214         3,476,898        158,537,820    151,821,767    

Machinery  and Equipment 29,316,472      29,735,853      5,832,975         5,802,707        35,149,447      35,538,560      

Water Utility -                    -                    75,213,719       73,986,018      75,213,719      73,986,018      

Sew er Utility -                    -                    71,347,645       70,714,940      71,347,645      70,714,940      

Stormw ater Utility -                    -                    40,838,327       40,271,413      40,838,327      40,271,413      

Work in Progress 4,977,021        5,523,465        15,602,158       7,018,705        20,579,179      12,542,170      

      Subtotal  233,806,194    229,098,344    235,033,067      223,687,571    468,839,261    452,785,915    

Less Accumulated Dep. (86,886,655)     (83,110,509)     (68,381,294)      (64,294,453)     (155,267,949)   (147,404,962)   

      Total  146,919,539$   145,987,835$   166,651,773$    159,393,118$   313,571,312$   305,380,953$   

City  of Eau Claire, Wisconsin

Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation

December 31, 2009

65



25 

Some of the most significant additions to the City’s capital assets during 2009 included 
the following:  
 

 
 

The $8.6 million increase in work in progress for the business-type activities is primarily 
due to the renovation project at Hobbs Ice Arena, accounting for $5.2 million of the 
increase. The remainder of the increase is a combination of projects in the Water, Sewer 
and Stormwater Utilities. 
 
Additional information about the City's capital assets can be found in Note III-D of this 
report. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 
On December 31, 2009, the City of Eau Claire had $98,164,688 of bond and long-term 
note principal outstanding, as summarized in the following table: 
 

City of Eau Claire, Wisconsin 
Notes and Bonds Outstanding  

 

  
 
Under Wisconsin State Statute Section 67.03(1), the outstanding general obligation long-
term debt of a municipality may not exceed 5% of the equalized property value of all 
taxable property within the jurisdiction. Applicable debt of the City at the close of 2009 
totaled $88,094,688, which, with amounts available for payment of principal, is less than 
37% of the maximum legal limit. During 2009, the City issued new debt for the following 
amounts and purposes: 

Significant Additions to Capital Assets in 2009

Infrastructure $6,500,000
Water Mains and Services 1,230,000     
Sewer Mains 630,000        
Stormwater Mains 570,000        

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Obligation Bonds 
& Notes 71,528,000$   64,893,634$   16,566,688$   15,642,857$   88,094,688$   80,536,490$   

Revenue Bonds -                      -                      10,070,000     9,015,000       10,070,000     9,015,000       

Total 71,528,000$   64,893,634$   26,636,688$   24,657,857$   98,164,688$   89,551,490$   
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City of Eau Claire, Wisconsin 
Long-term Debt Issued 

 
Date Type of Debt  Amount

  
07/15/09 General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds for streets, 

stormwater, and public safety building  improvements 
(Taxable Build America Bonds) 
 

 $8,560,000

07/15/09 General Obligation Notes for Hobbs Ice Rink (Taxable 
Build America Bonds) 
 

 $4,350,000

07/15/09 Waterworks System Revenue and Refunding Bonds  $3,825,000

 

The General Obligation Corporate Purpose and Refunding Bonds were rated AA+ by 
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services and Aa2 by Moody’s Investors Service.  The Water 
Revenue Bonds issued in 2009 and in prior years are rated AA+ by Standard & Poor’s 
Rating Services and Aa3 by Moody’s Investors Service. 

Additional information about the City's long-term debt can be found in Note III-F of this 
report. 
 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers and 
creditors with a general overview of the City’s finances and to show the City’s 
accountability for the money it receives. As in the past, the City of Eau Claire provides 
the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report on our web page (www.eauclairewi.gov). If 
anyone has any questions about this report or needs additional financial information 
about the City of Eau Claire, please contact the Finance Department at 203 South Farwell 
Street, Eau Claire, Wisconsin, 54703. Finance Department staff can also be reached at 
(715) 839-6044. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements contain a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other 
notes considered necessary for a clear understanding of 
the financial statements. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies of the City of Eau Claire (City), Wisconsin conform to accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted 
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 

A. REPORTING ENTITY 

This report includes all of the funds of the City. The reporting entity for the City consists of (a) the primary 
government, (b) organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable, and (c) other 
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are 
such that their exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or 
incomplete. A legally separate organization should be reported as a component unit if the elected official 
of the primary government is financially accountable to the organization. The primary government is 
financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and (1) it is able 
to impose its will on that organization or (2) there is a potential for the organization to provide specific 
financial benefits to or burdens on the primary government. The primary government may be financially 
accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government. 

A legally separate, tax exempt organization should be reported as a component unit of a reporting entity if 
all of the following criteria are met: (1) the economic resources received or held by the separate 
organization are entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the primary government, its component 
units, or its constituents; (2) the primary government is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, a 
majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate organization; (3) the economic 
resources received or held by an individual organization that the specific primary government, or its 
component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, are significant to that primary 
government. All discretely presented component units have been combined and reported in a separate 
column in the government-wide financial statements (see note below for descriptions) to emphasize that 
they are legally separate from the government. 

Discretely Presented Component Units 

Housing Authority of the City of Eau Claire 

The government-wide financial statements include the Housing Authority of the City of Eau Claire 
(Housing Authority) as a component unit. The Housing Authority is a legally separate organization. The 
board of the Housing Authority is appOinted by the Eau Claire City Council. Wisconsin Statutes provide for 
circumstances whereby the City can impose its will on the Housing Authority, and also create a potential 
financial benefit to or burden on the City. See Note 111.1. As a major component unit, the Housing 
Authority's financial statements have been presented as a discrete column in the financial statements. The 
information presented is for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009. Separately issued financial 
statements of the Housing Authority of the City of Eau Claire may be obtained from the Housing 
Authority's office, which is located at 203 South Farwell Street, P.O. Box 1186, Eau Claire, WI 54702-
1186. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

A. REPORTING ENTITY (cont.) 

Discretely Presented Component Units (cont.) 

Redevelopment Authority of the City of Eau Claire 

The government-wide financial statements include the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Eau Claire 
(RDA) as a component unit. The RDA is a legally separate organization. The board of the RDA is 
appointed by the Eau Claire City Council. Wisconsin Statutes provide for circumstances whereby the City 
can impose its will on the RDA, and also create a potential financial benefit to or burden on the City. See 
Note 111.1. As a major component unit, the RDA's financial statements have been presented as a discrete 
column in the financial statements. The information presented is for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2009. Separately issued financial statements of the RDA of the City of Eau Claire may be obtained from 
the Finance Director's office, which is located at 203 South Farwell Street, P.O. Box 5148, Eau Claire, WI 
54702-5148. 

Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) 

The government-wide financial statements include the Downtown Business Improvement District, West 
Grand Business Improvement District, Water Street Business Improvement District, and the North 
Barstow/Medical Business Improvement District as component units. The BIDs are legally separate 
organizations. The BID boards are appointed by the Eau Claire City Council. Wisconsin Statutes provide 
for circumstances whereby the City can impose its will on the BIDs, and also create a potential financial 
benefit to or burden on the City. See Note 111.1. As nonmajor component units, the BIDs financial 
statements have been combined and presented as a separate column in the financial statements. The 
information presented is for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009. Separate financial statements are 
not issued by the Business Improvement Districts. 

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The statement of net assets and statement of activities display information about the reporting 
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The 
statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activities 
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues. 
Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or 
services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate 
component units for which the primary government is financially accountable. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 

Government-Wide Financial Statements (cont.) 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. The City does not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the statement of 
activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly 
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function 
or segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported as general 
revenues. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues. 

Fund Financial Statements 

Financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a 
separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing 
accounts, which constitute its assets, liabilities, net assets/fund equity, revenues, and 
expenditure/expenses. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary 
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. A 
fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City or meets the following criteria: 

a. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or 
enterprise fund are at least 10% of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, 
and 

b. The same element of the individual governmental fund or enterprise fund that met the 10% test is 
at least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds combined. 

c. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the City believes is particularly 
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 

Fund Financial Statements (cont.) 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

General Fund - accounts for the City's primary operating activities. It is used to account for all 
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

General Debt Service Fund - accounts for resources accumulated and payments made for 
principal and interest on long-term debt other than TIF or enterprise fund debt. 

The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 

Water Utility - accounts for the construction, operations, and maintenance of the municipal 
water pumping, treatment, and distribution systems. 

Sewer Utility - accounts for the construction, operations, and maintenance of the municipal 
sewage collection and treatment system. 

Storm Water Utility - accounts for the construction and operation of the City's storm sewer 
system. It also accounts for the acquisition and maintenance of storm water detention areas. 

Public Transit - accounts for the operations and maintenance of the municipal mass transit 
facility and fleet equipment. 

The City reports the following nonmajor governmental and enterprise funds: 

Special Revenue Funds - used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other 
than major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. 

Cemetery Maintenance 
Hazardous Materials Response 
Community Development 
Home Grant 
Economic Development 
Community Enhancement 
Public Library 
City-County Health Department 
Downtown Partners 
Former Landfill Escrow 

Debt Service Funds - used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment 
of, general long-term debt prinCipal, interest, and related costs. 

Debt Service - TIF NO.6 
Debt Service - TIF NO.7 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 

Fund Financial Statements (cont.) 

Capital Projects Funds - used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or 
construction of equipment and/or major capital facilities. 

TIF No.5 Gateway Northwest Business Park 
TIF No.8 Downtown Development 
TIF No.9 Gateway Northwest Business Park Overlay 
Street Projects 
Bridge Projects 
Buildings and Equipment 
Parks and Recreation Projects 
Environmental Improvements - Landfill 
Library Buildings and Equipment 

Enterprise Funds - may be used to report any activity for which a fee is charged to external 
users for goods or services, and must be used for activities which meet certain debt or cost 
recovery criteria. 

Parking Utility 
Hobbs Ice Center 
Outdoor Pool 

In addition, the City reports the following fund types: 

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one 
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or to other governmental units, on a 
cost-reimbursement basis. 

Risk Management 
Central Equipment 

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations, and/or other governmental units. 

Tax Collection Fund 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

c. MEASUREMENT Focus, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, 

AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide statement of net assets and statement of activities are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is 
incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from 
exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Property taxes 
are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Taxes receivable for the following year 
are recorded as receivables and deferred revenue. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as 
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met. Special assessments are recorded as 
revenue when earned. Unbilled receivables are recorded as revenues when services are provided. 

The business-type activities follow all pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
and have elected not to follow Financial Accounting Standards Board pronouncements issued after 
November 30, 1989. 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City's water and sewer utility and 
various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and 
program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, 
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general 
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 

Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are both 
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be 
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are 
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on long-term debt, 
claims, judgments, compensated absences, and pension expenditures, which are recorded as a fund 
liability when expected to be paid with expendable available financial resources. 

Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred revenues. They are recognized 
as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being provided. 
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December 31,2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

c. MEASUREMENT Focus, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, 

AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION (cont.) 

Fund Financial Statements (cont.) 

Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the City is entitled to the 
resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the City which are not available are recorded 
as receivables and deferred revenues. Amounts received prior to the entitlement period are also recorded 
as deferred revenues. 

Special assessments are recorded as revenues when they become measurable and available as current 
assets. Annual installments due in future years are reflected as receivables and deferred revenues. 

Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for services, 
special assessments and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures, inspection fees, 
recreation fees, and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable 
and available under the criteria described above. 

The City reports deferred revenues on its governmental funds balance sheet. Deferred revenues arise 
from taxes levied in the current year which are for subsequent year's operations. For governmental fund 
financial statements, deferred revenues arise when a potential revenue does not meet both the 
"measurable" and "available" criteria for recognition in the current period. Deferred revenues also arise 
when resources are received before the City has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are 
received prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both revenue 
recognition criteria are met, or when the City has a legal cll'lim to the resources, the liability for deferred 
revenue is removed from the balance sheet and revenue is recognized. 

Proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in this note. Agency funds follow the accrual basis 
of accounting and do not have a measurement focus. 

The enterprise funds follow all pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, and 
have elected not to follow Financial Accounting Standards Board pronouncements issued after November 
30, 1989. The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering 
goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating 
revenues of the Water Utility, Sewer Utility, Storm Water Utility, and Public Transit are charges to 
customers for sales and services. Special assessments are recorded as receivables and contribution 
revenue when levied. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. Current rates in the Water Utility were 
approved by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin and effective on May 1, 2009. Current Sewer 
and Storm Water Utility rates were approved by the City council on November 12,2008. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

C. MEASUREMENT Focus, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, 

AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION (cont.) 

All Financial Statements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY 

1. Deposits and Investments 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments with an initial 
maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents. 

Investment of City funds is restricted by state statutes. Available investments are limited to: 

1. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company maturing in three years 
or less. 

2. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town, 
or school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local 
professional baseball park district, a local professional football stadium district, a local cultural 
arts district, or by the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority. 

3. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government. 

4. The local government investment pool. 

5. Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest rating 
category of a nationally recognized rating agency. 

6. Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust, subject to 
various conditions and investment options. 

7. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions. 

Investment of most trust funds are regulated by Chapter 881 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Investment of 
library trust funds is regulated by Chapter 112. Those sections give broad authority to use such funds to 
acquire various kinds of investments including stocks, bonds and debentures. 

The City has adopted an investment policy. That policy contains the following guidelines for allowable 
investments: 
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December 31,2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQu/TY(cont.) 

1. Deposits and Investments (cont.) 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Collateralization shall be required on all demand deposit accounts, non-negotiable certificates of deposit, 
and repurchase agreements. In order to anticipate market changes and provide a level of security for all 
funds, the collateralization level will be a minimum of 106% of the market value of principal and accrued 
interest. The level of collateralization is negotiated and a part of the City's Bank Services contract. 
Collateral shall be pledged in the name of the City of Eau Claire, subject to release by the City's finance 
director. 

Credit Risk 

The City will only invest in the type of investments allowable by state statutes as listed above. In addition, 
any securities the City invests in must have a rating which is the highest or second highest rating category 
assigned by Standard & Poor's Corporation, Moody's Investors' Service or other similar nationally 
recognized ranking agency, or if that security is senior to, or on a parity with, a security of the same issuer 
which has such a rating. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The City will diversify investments by security type, institution and terms of maturity to reduce portfolio risk. 
With the exception of U.S. agency securities and authorized pools, no more than 50% of the City's total 
investment portfoliO will be invested in a single security type or with a single financial institution. 
Investments shall be diversified by: 

1. Limiting investments to avoid concentration in securities from a specific issuer or business sector 
(excluding U.S. agency securities and authorized pools). 

2. Limiting investment in securities that have higher credit risks. 

3. Investing in securities with varying maturities. 

4. Continuously investing a portion of the portfolio in readily available funds such as local government 
investment pools or overnight repurchase agreements to ensure that appropriate liquidity is 
maintained in order to meet ongoing obligations. 
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December 31,2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQu/Ty(cont.) 

1. Deposits and Investments (cont.) 

Interest Rate Risk 

To the extent possible, the City will attempt to match its investments with anticipated cash flow 
requirements. Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the City will not directly invest in securities maturing 
more than five years from the date of purchase. However, the City may collateralize its investments using 
longer-dated securities. The City will maintain at least 10% of its total investment portfolio in instruments 
maturing in 30 days or less. 

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No 
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value are 
recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. Investment income 
on commingled investments of municipal accounting funds is allocated based on average balances. The 
difference between the bank balance and carrying value is due to outstanding checks and/or deposits in 
transit. 

The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund (SIF), and 
is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin Chapter 25. The SIF 
reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the LGIP have the right to withdraw 
their funds in total on the same day if prior to 11 :00 a.m. CST. At December 31,2009, the fair value of the 
City's share of the LGIP's assets was substantially equal to the amount as reported in these statements. 

See Note lilA for further information. 

2. Receivables 

Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. They are 
recognized as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being provided. In 
addition to property taxes for the City, taxes are collected for and remitted to the state and county 
governments as well as local school districts and technical college district. Taxes for all state and local 
governmental units billed in the current year for the succeeding year are reflected as receivables and due 
to other taxing units on the accompanying agency fund balance sheet. 

Property tax calendar - 2009 tax roll: 

Lien date and levy date 
Tax bills mailed 
Payment in full, or 
First installment due 
Second installment due 
Personal property taxes in full 
Tax sale - 2009 delinquent 
real estate taxes 
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December 2009 
December 2009 
January 31,2010 
January 31,2010 
July 31,2010 
January 31,2010 

October 2012 
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NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (cont.) 

2. Receivables (cont.) 

Accounts receivable have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Delinquent real 
estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the county, which assumes the collection thereof. No provision 
for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the Water and Sewer utilities because they have 
the right by law to place delinquent bills on the tax roll, and other delinquent bills are generally not 
significant. The General Fund, Storm Water Utility and Community Enhancement Fund have recorded 
allowances of $1,106,775, $1,050 and $54,719, respectively. 

During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in amounts 
owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as "due to and from other funds." Long-term 
interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as "advances from and to other funds." Interfund 
receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of 
net assets. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type 
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances". 

In the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by a fund 
balance reserve account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable available financial 
resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation. 

The City has received federal and state grant funds for economic development and housing rehabilitation 
loan programs to various businesses and individuals. The City records a loan receivable when the loan 
has been made and funds have been disbursed. The amount recorded as economic development loans 
receivable has been reduced by an allowance for uncollectible accounts of $92,000. 

It is the City's policy to record deferred revenue for the net amount of the receivable balance. As loans are 
repaid, revenue is recognized. When new loans are made from the repayments, expenditures are 
recorded. Interest received from loan repayments is recognized as revenue when received in cash. Any 
unspent loan repayments at year end are presented as designated fund balance in the fund financial 
statements. 

3. Inventories and Prepaid Items 

Proprietary fund inventories, if material, are recorded at cost based on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method 
using the consumption method of accounting. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for 
construction and for operation and maintenance work. They are not for resale. They are valued at cost 
based on weighted average, and charged to construction or operation and maintenance expense when 
used. 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cant.) 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQu/Ty(cont.) 

4. Restricted Assets 

Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are required by 
bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these restricted assets are so 
classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable from restricted assets will be 
used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if generated from earnings, is shown as 
restricted net assets. 

Funds on deposit with Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Company for payment of insurance claims are 
combined with twelve other participating governments. The City's deposit at year end was $224,133. This 
amount is recorded as Restricted Assets in the Internal Service funds. See Note III.C. for additional 
information on restricted assets. 

5. Capital Assets 

Government-Wide Statements 

Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial cost of more than $5,000 for general 
capital assets and for infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. All capital 
assets are valued at historical cost, or estimated historical cost if actual amounts are unavailable. Donated 
capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. 

Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at original cost, 
which includes material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during construction 
when significant. For tax-exempt debt, the amount of interest capitalized equals the interest expense 
incurred during construction netted against any interest revenue from temporary investment of borrowed 
fund proceeds. During the current year, $50,100 of net interest was capitalized. The cost of renewals and 
betterments relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced, retired 
or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with removal costs less 
salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the statement of 
activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net assets. Depreciation is provided 
over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. The range of 
estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows: 

Buildings 
Land Improvements 
Machinery and Equipment 
Utility System 
Infrastructure 
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40-50 Years 
30-55 Years 
3-25 Years 

40-100 Years 
10-30 Years 
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December 31,2009 

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (cont.) 

5. Capital Assets (cont.) 

Fund Financial Statements 

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for as 
capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in proprietary 
fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the government-wide statements. 

6. Other Assets 

In governmental funds, debt issuance costs are recognized as expenditures in the current period, and 
premiums on debt are recognized as revenues in the current period. For the government-wide and the 
proprietary fund type financial statements, debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the life of 
the issue using the straight-line method. Gains or losses on prior refundings are amortized over the 
remaining life of the old debt, or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter. The balance at year end for 
both premiums/discounts and gains/losses, as applicable, is shown as an increase or decrease in the 
liability section of the balance sheet. 

7. Compensated Absences 

Under terms of employment, employees accumulate vacation, compensatory time, sick leave and other 
benefits at various rates depending on bargaining group and length of service. Payments for vacation, 
compensatory time, and sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used. 
Accumulated vacation and compensatory time liabilities at December 31, 2009 are determined on the 
basis of current salary rates and include salary related payments. 

All vested vacation is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for 
example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements, and are payable with expendable available 
resources. 

8. Long-Term Obligations/Conduit Debt 

All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported as 
liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist primarily of notes and 
bonds payable, and accrued compensated absences. 

Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial 
statements. The face value of debt (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources and 
payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary funds is the 
same as it is in the government-wide statements. 
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NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

D. ASSETS, LiABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQu/TY(cont.) 

8. Long-Term Obligations/Conduit Debt (cont.) 

The City has approved the issuance of industrial revenue bonds (IRB) for the benefit of private business 
enterprises. IRB's are secured by mortgages or revenue agreements on the associated projects, and do 
not constitute indebtedness of the City. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the 
accompanying financial statements. The total amount of IRB's outstanding at the end of the year is 
$4,322,001, made up of one issue. 

9. Claims and Judgments 

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. Claims and judgments that would normally be liquidated with 
expendable available financial resources are recorded during the year as expenditures in the 
governmental funds. The liability for claims and judgments is only reported in governmental fund types if it 
has matured. The related expenditure is recognized when the liability is liquidated. Claims and judgments 
are recorded in the government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related 
liabilities are incurred. There were no significant claims or judgments at year end. 

10. Equity Classifications 

Government-Wide Statements 

Equity is classified as net assets and displayed in three components: 

a. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - Consists of capital assets including restricted 
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of 
any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets less any unspent debt proceeds. 

b. Restricted net assets - Consists of net assets with constraints placed on their use either by 
1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted net assets - All other net assets that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or 
"invested in capital assets, net of related debt." 

The net asset section includes an adjustment for capital assets owned by the business-type activities 
column, but financed by debt of the governmental activities column. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
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NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (cont.) 

10. Equity Classifications (cont.) 

Fund Statements 

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified as reserved and 
unreserved. Reserved fund balance is that portion of fund balance that is not available for the subsequent 
year's budget due to legal restrictions or resources which are not available for current spending. 
Unreserved fund balance includes funds set aside by management for specific uses, which are labeled 
"designated". The balance of unreserved fund balance is labeled "undesignated", which indicates it is 
available for appropriation. Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide 
statements. 

11. Prior Period Information 

The basic financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total but 
not at the level of detail required for a presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the government's financial 
statements for the year ended December 31,2008, from which the summarized information was derived. 

Comparative total data for the prior year have been presented for the general fund, certain special 
revenue funds and the debt service funds in the financial statements in order to provide an understanding 
of the changes in the financial position and operations of these funds. However, comparative data by fund 
has not been presented in all statements since their inclusion would make the statements unduly complex 
and difficult to read. Also, certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been reclassified in order 
to be consistent with the current year's presentation. 

NOTE 11- STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

A. BUDGETARY INFORMATION 

Budgeting is an essential element of the financial planning, control, and evaluation process of the City. 
Formal budgets are prepared for governmental and proprietary funds. Budgetary information is derived 
from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis of accounting for each fund as 
described in Note I.C. The City adopts the budget at the department level. 

An annual budget has been adopted for the general, debt service, and special revenue funds, except for 
the Community Development and Home Grant funds, which have non lapsing budgets. Flexible, annual 
budgets are approved for proprietary funds to provide for financial management. Project length budgets 
are adopted for capital project funds. Although these appropriations are specific for each project, they are 
reviewed and may be adjusted annually by the City council. Wisconsin Statute 65.90 requires that an 
annual budget be adopted for all funds. All annual appropriations lapse at year end. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 11- STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont.) 

A. BUDGETARY INFORMATION (cont.) 

Purchase orders which are not completed by year end are recorded in the following year. 

The following procedures, which comply with legal requirements, are used in establishing the budgetary 
data reflected in the financial statements: 

1. Before October 25, the City manager must submit to the City council budget proposals for the 
fiscal year commencing the following January 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the resources to finance them. 

2. City council work sessions are held to review the submitted budget. 

3. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 

4. The budget is adopted through passage of a resolution in November; public notification is given, 
showing adopted budgets and the resulting tax levy. 

5. During the fiscal year, the director of finance may authorize transfers of budgeted amounts within 
departments; however, transfers between departments must be approved by City council 
resolutions. 

6. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for the 
general, special revenue and debt service funds. Budgetary control for capital project funds is 
accomplished through the use of project controls. 

The City council approved proposed 2009 budgets for governmental and proprietary funds on 
November 12, 2008. 

During 2009 and 2010, additional appropriations were approved in the General, General Debt Service, 
Economic Development, Community Enhancement, Downtown Partners, Public Library, and City-County 
Health Department Funds. A summary of these council actions follows: 

Original Carryover of Grants and Final 
Fund Aeeroeriation Aeeroeriations Donations Other Aeeroeriation 

General Fund $ 54,143,000 $ (172,600) $ 182,700 $ 539,300 $ 54,692,400 
General Debt Service 6,294,600 50,300 6,344,900 
Economic Development 672,300 50,000 350,000 1,072,300 
Community Enhancement 1,241,600 15 1,241,615 
Downtown Partners 153,300 1,200 154,500 
Public Library 4,165,600 2,500 4,168,100 
City-County Health 4,630,800 52,700 476,300 5,159,800 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 11- STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont.) 

B. LtMITA TlONS ON THE CITY TAX LEVY 

As part of Wisconsin's Act 28 (2009), legislation was passed that limits the City's future tax levies. 
Generally, the City is limited to its prior tax levy dollar amount (excluding TIF Districts), increased by the 
greater of the percentage change in the City's equalized value due to new construction or 3% for the 2009 
levy collected in 2010 and 3% for the 2010 levy collected in 2011. Changes in debt service from one year 
to the next are generally exempt from this limit. The levy limit is set to expire after the 2010 levy. 

C. DEFICIT BALANCES 

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit balances 
at year end. 

As of December 31,2009, the following individual funds held a deficit balance: 

Fund Amount Reason 

TIF NO.8 Downtown Development 
TIF NO.9 Gateway NW Business 

Park Overlay 

$ 2,133,426 Expenditures in excess of revenues 

1,000 Expenditures in excess of revenues 

TIF district deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over the life of the 
district, which is 27 years for the districts created before October 1, 1995, and 23 years for districts 
created thereafter through September 30, 2004. Beginning October 1, 2004, the life of new districts varies 
by type of district (20-27 years) and may be extended in some cases. 

NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

The City maintains a cash and investment pool for all funds and component units (except the Housing 
Authority) which is recorded on the statement of net assets as follows: 

Per statement of net assets 
Cash and investments 
Restricted cash and investments 

Per statement of net assets - fiduciary funds 
Sub-total 

Less: Housing Authority cash and investments 
Housing Authority restricted assets - cash and investments 

Total 
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$ 91,062,797 
6,801,430 

13,154,564 
111,018,791 

(2,829,422) 
(921,175) 

$ 107,268,194 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.) 

Total cash and investments consist of the following: 

Petty cash and cash on hand 
Deposits with financial institutions 
Investments 

Total Cash and Investments 

See Note 111.1. for component unit information. 

Deposits 

$ 5,023 
33,169,832 
74,093,339 

$ 107,268,194 

The City's deposits at year end were comprised of the following: 

Demand deposits 

Carrying 
Value 

Bank 
Balance 

Associated 
Risks 

$ 33,169,832 $ 30,938,306 Custodial credit risk 

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for interest 
bearing accounts and unlimited amounts for non interest bearing accounts. 

Bank accounts are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of $400,000. 
However, due to the relatively small size of the Guarantee Fund in relationship to the total deposits 
covered and other legal implications, recovery of material principal losses may not be significant to 
individual municipalities. This coverage has not been considered in determining custodial credit risk. 

The City maintains collateral agreements with its bank. At December 31,2009, the bank had pledged 
various government securities in the amount of $38,601,168 to secure the City's deposits. 

Investments 

The City's investments at year end were comprised of the following: 

u.S. agencies 

Escrow account 
LGIP 

Total Cash and Investments 

Carrying 
Value 

$ 35,069,150 

224,133 
38,800,056 

$ 74,093,339 
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Associated 
Risks 

Concentration of credit risk, 
credit risk, interest rate risk 

Credit risk, interest rate risk 
Credit risk, interest rate risk 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.) 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the City's deposits 
may not be returned to the City. 

The City does not have any deposits exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Investments - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party. 

The City does not have any investments exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 

As of December 31,2009, the City's investments were rated as follows: 

Investment Type 

U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed 

Standard 
& Poor's 

AAA 

The City also had investments in the following external pools which are not rated: 

Local Government Investment Pool 
WMMIC Escrow Pool 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Moody's 
Investor 
Service 

Aaa 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a 
single issuer. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 1/1 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.) 

Concentration of Credit Risk (cont.) 

At December 31, 2009, the investment portfolio was concentrated as follows: 

Issuer 

FHLB 
FFCB 
FHLMC 
FNMA 

Interest Rate Risk 

Investment Type 

u.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed 
U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed 
U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed 
U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed 

Percentage 
of Portfolio 

22% 
11% 
7% 
8% 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 

As of December 31,2009, the City's investments were as follows: 

Maturity 
Investment Date Call Date Fair Value 

FHLB Bullet 01/25/10 N/A $ 2,003,760 
FHLB Callable 02/17/11 02/17/10 2,003,120 
FHLB Bullet 05/12/11 11/12/08 3,104,070 
FFCB Callable 09/23/11 01/12/10 1,995,000 
FNMA Callable 11/25/11 05/25/10 1,988,120 
FHLB One-Time Call 12/08/11 06/08/10 2,006,260 
FFCB Callable 01/12/12 01/12/10 2,000,620 
FFCB Callable 02/17/12 02/17/10 2,004,380 
FNMA One-Time Call 02/24/12 02/24/10 2,004,380 
FFCB Callable 06/08/12 03/08/10 1,988,760 
FNMA One-Time Call 08/27/12 08/27/10 2,012,500 
FHLMC Callable 10/15/12 10/15/10 2,986,500 
FHLB Callable 01/14/13 01/14/10 2,000,000 
FHLB One-Time Call 03/25/13 03/25/10 2,003,120 
FHLB Callable 10/29/14 01/29/10 2,980,320 
FHLMC Callable 12/15/14 12/15/10 1,988,240 

Total $ 35,069,150 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.) 

Interest Rate Risk (cont.) 

Investment 

Local Government Investment Pool 
WMMIC Escrow Pool 

$ 

Fair Value 

38,800,056 
224,133 

See Note I.D.1. for further information on deposit and investment policies. 

B. RECEIVABLES 

Weighted 
Average 

Maturity (Days) 

88 
N/A 

Receivables as of year end for the government's individual major funds and nonmajor funds, internal service, 
and fiduciary funds in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as 
follows: 

Governmental Activities 

Amounts Not 
Allowance Expected to 

Gross For Net Be Collected 
Fund Receivables U ncollectibles Receivables Within One Year 

General $ 32,609,913 $ 1,106,775 $ 31,503,138 $ 2,689,034 
Debt Service - General 5,874,721 5,874,721 3,494,763 
Nonmajor Funds 14,009,089 146,719 13,862,370 6,263,762 
Internal Service Funds 251,933 251,933 83,267 

Business-type Activities 

Amounts Not 
Allowance Expected to 

Gross For Net Be Collected 
Fund Receivables Uncollectibles Receivables Within One Year 

Water Utility $ 2,915,355 $ $ 2,915,355 $ 665,504 
Sewer Utility 2,754,292 2,754,292 652,755 
Storm Water Utility 866,601 1,050 865,551 2,843 
Public Transit 93,657 93,657 8,346 
Nonmajor Funds 164,869 164,869 393 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

B. RECEIVABLES (cont.) 

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not 
considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property taxes levied for the subsequent 
year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Governmental funds also 
defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been received, but not yet earned. At the 
end of the current fiscal year, the various components of deferred revenue and unearned revenue reported in 
the governmental funds were as follows: 

Property taxes receivable 
Delinquent property taxes receivable 
Investment interest receivable 
Accounts receivable 
Loans receivable 
Interest on special assessments 
Special assessments not yet due 
Grants receivable 

Total Deferred/Unearned Revenue 
for Governmental Funds 

Notes Receivable 

$ 

Unavailable 

200,225 
48,831 

1,376,598 
6,642,515 

312,166 
7,124,263 

Unearned 

$ 33,779,051 $ 

__ --'-11.:....:6:...cc,3:....:9:..=.9 5,000 

Totals 

33,779,051 
200,225 
48,831 

1,376,598 
6,642,515 

312,166 
7,124,263 

121,399 

$ 15,820,997 $ 33,784,051 $ 49,605,048 

At December 31, 2009, the General fund has one note receivable for $25,000. The note will be paid by the 
Chippewa Valley Incubation Center which used the proceeds to partially fund a loan pool that is designed to 
provide beginning businesses with loans to purchase machinery and equipment. 

The Community Development Special Revenue fund has notes receivable of $2,752,043 at December 31, 
2009, with maturities to the year 2020. These loans include $833,079 for five small industry and economic 
development loans and $1,918,964 for loans to residential and light commercial property owners for 
rehabilitation projects. The rehabilitation loan balance includes 163 loans which are all required to be secured 
by a lien on the property. Some loans can be deferred until the property is sold. Interest on these loans is 
either lower than market or zero. The City discontinued the small industry loan program in 1989. 

The Home Grant Special Revenue fund has notes receivable of $1 ,975,024 at December 31,2009. This 
balance is comprised of 14 loans for transitional and affordable housing totaling $1,817,323 and down 
payment and clOSing cost loans totaling $157,701. 

The Economic Development Special Revenue fund has notes receivable of $1 ,900,865 at December 31, 
2009. This balance is comprised of 18 different loans to a variety of businesses and not-for-profits. 

The Community Enhancement Special Revenue fund also has one note receivable at the end of the year. 
The total outstanding on the loan is $14,583 and will be paid by the Eau Claire Regional Arts Center. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

C. RESTRICTED ASSETS 

The following represent the balances of the restricted assets: 

Long Term Debt Accounts 

Redemption Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over the 
next twelve months. 

Construction Used to report proceeds of bond issuances that are restricted for use in 
construction. 

Equipment Replacement Account 

The Water and Sewer Utility established an equipment replacement account to be used for significant 
mechanical equipment replacement as required by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 

Following is a list of restricted assets at December 31, 2009: 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities 

Restricted Assets 
Redemption account $ $ 1,459,639 
Replacement account 401,000 
Revolving loan sequestered funds 243,200 
TIF No.5 construction account 261,802 
Street Projects construction account 91,864 
Buildings and Equipment construction account 1,077,152 
Storm Water construction account 2,121,465 
Insurance claims account 224,133 

Total Restricted Assets $ 1,898,151 $ 3,982,104 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

D. CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 was as follows: 

Governmental Activities 
Capital assets not being depreciated 

Construction in progress 
Land 

Total Capital Assets 
Not Being Depreciated 

Capital assets being depreciated 
Land improvements 
Buildings 
Machinery and equipment 
Infrastructure 

Total Capital Assets 
Being Depreciated 

Less: Accumulated depreciation for 
Land improvements 
Buildings 
Machinery and equipment 
Infrastructure 

Total Accumulated Depreciation 

Capital Assets, Being 
Depreciated, Net 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Beginning 
Balance 

5,523,465 
15,447,504 

20,970,969 

9,342,492 
20,704,160 
29,735,855 

148,344,869 

208,127,376 

(1,860,928) 
(10,516,741) 
(14,703,152) 
(56,029,688) 
(83,110,509) 

$ 125,016,867 
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Additions 

$ 8,777,384 
170,807 

$ 8,948,191 

$ 29,400 

2,312,314 
8,789,110 

11,130,824 

(488,472) 
(480,718) 

(2,415,816) 
(4,604,213) 
(7,989,219) 

$ 3,141,605 

Deletions 

$ 9,323,828 
382,268 

$ 9,706,096 

$ -
594,000 

2,731,697 
2,339,373 

5,665,070 

17,870 
2,542,925 
1,652,278 
4,213,073 

$ 1,451,997 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Ending 
Balance 

4,977,021 
15,236,043 

20,213,064 

9,371,892 
20,110,160 
29,316,472 

154,794,606 

213,593,130 

(2,349,400) 
(10,979,589) 
(14,576,043) 
(58,981,623) 
(86,886,655) 

126,706,475 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.) 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 

Governmental Activities 
General government 
Public safety 
Public works, which includes the depreciation of infrastructure 
Health services 
Culture and recreation 
Development 

Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense 

Beginning 
Balance Additions 

Business-type Activities 
Capital assets not being depreciated 

Construction in progress 
Land 

Total Capital Assets 
Not Being Depreciated 

Other Capital Assets 
Improvements 
Buildings 
Distribution and collection systems 
Source of supply system 
Machinery and equipment 

Total Capital Assets 
Being Depreciated 

Less: Accumulated depreciation for 
Improvements 
Buildings 
Distribution and collection systems 
Source of supply system 
Machinery and equipment 

Total Accumulated Depreciation 

$ 

$ 

$ 

7,018,705 $ 9,567,078 
15,755,446 

22,774,151 $ 9,567,078 

3,476,897 $ 266,316 
30,428,066 38,140 

151,986,325 2,608,359 
893,255 

14,128,876 35,636 

200,913,419 2,948,451 

(1,660,262) (148,705) 
(15,860,028) (713,267) 
(35,616,763) (2,707,228) 

(670,601) (20,741) 
(10,486,799) (662,526) 
(64,294,453) (4,252,467) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total Capital Assets, 
Being Depreciated, Net $ 136,618,966 $ (1,304,016) $ 
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Deletions 

983,625 

$ 189,603 
897,506 

5,231,127 
12,290 

1,656,853 
1,840 

$ 7,989,219 

$ 

Ending 
Balance 

15,602,158 
15,755,446 

983,625 $ 31,357,604 

- $ 3,743,213 
30,466,206 

181,039 154,413,645 
893,255 

5,368 14,159,144 

186,407 203,675,463 

(1,808,967) 
(16,573,295) 

160,258 (38,163,733) 
(691,342) 

5,368 (11,143,957) 
165,626 (68,381,294) 

20,781 $ 135,294,169 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.) 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 

Business-type Activities 
Water 
Sewer 
Storm Water 
Public Transit 
Parking Utility 
Hobbs Ice Center 
Outdoor Pool 
Other 

Total Business-type Activities Depreciation Expense 

$ 

$ 

1,513,935 
1,334,743 

631,519 
327,702 
212,267 

68,587 
52,518 

110,304 

4,251,575 

The amount of depreciation expense charged to "other" above is the amount charged for joint metering in 
2009. Depreciation expense does not agree to increases in accumulated depreciation due to salvage on 
retired assets. 

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PA YABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS 

Interfund Receivables/Payables 

The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables including any overdrafts on pooled cash 
and investment accounts: 

Receivable Fund 

General Fund 
General Fund 
General Fund 
General Fund 
General Fund 
Internal Service - Central Equipment 

Sub-total - Fund Financial Statements 

Less: Fund eliminations 

Total interfunds 

Payable Fund 

Special Revenue - Community Enhancement 
Special Revenue - Public Library 
Special Revenue - City-County Health 
Special Revenue - HOME Grant 
Cppital Projects - TIF No.9 
Special Revenue - Public Library 

Government-wide net interfund advances 
Adjustment to reflect internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds 

Total Internal Balances - Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets 

74 

$ 

Amount 

137,742 
9,087 
9,323 

51,002 
1,000 

708 

208,862 

(208,862) 

7,888,490 
(80,438) 

$ 7,808,052 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.) 

Interfund Receivables/Payables (cont.) 

The principal purpose of these interfunds is to cover an overdraft of pooled cash. Remaining balances 
resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and seNices are provided or 
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments 
between funds are made. All amounts are expected to be repaid within one year. 

For the statement of net assets, interfund balances which are owed within the governmental activities or 
business-type activities are netted and eliminated. 

Advances 

The General Fund is advancing funds to the Water Utility, Sewer Utility, and Hobbs. The General Fund is 
charging the other funds interest on the advances based on the balance outstanding before the principal 
payment for the current year. The interest rate on the Water Utility advances is 5.8% - 7.7%. The rate being 
charged on the Sewer Utility advance is 7.25%. The rate being charged on the Hobbs advances is 1.6 -
5.1%. 

The Economic Development, Street Projects, and Risk Management funds are advancing fund to TIF NO.8. 
Principal and interest payments on these advances have not yet started. These funds will be charging TIF No. 
8 interest on the advances based on the balance outstanding before the principal payment, retroactive to the 
year 2004. The rate to be charged is 3.7215% - 4.4050%. 

The following is a schedule of interfund advances: 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund 

General Fund 
General Fund 
General Fund 

Water Utility $ 

Special Revenue - Economic 
Development 
Capital Projects - Street Projects 
Internal SeNice - Risk Management 

Sewer Utility 
Enterprise - Hobbs Ice Center 

Capital Projects - TIF NO.8 
Capital Projects - TIF NO.8 
Capital Projects - TIF NO.8 

Sub-total - Fund Financial Statements 

Less: Fund eliminations 

Total Net Government-Wide Advances 

75 

$ 

Amount 

3,004,214 $ 
734,276 

4,150,000 

400,000 
1,000,000 
1,838,700 

11,127,190 

3,238,700 

7,888,490 

Amount Not 
Due Within 
One Year 

2,619,593 
688,367 

4,040,000 

400,000 
1,000,000 
1,838,700 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.) 

Advances (cont.) 

The principal purpose of the advances is to advance funds for capital construction projects, collateral on a 
letter of credit, and repayment of transfers from prior years. 

No repayment schedule has been established for the advances to TIF NO.8. Annual repayment of principal and 
interest on the other advances are made according to the following schedule: 

Advances 
Years Principal 

2010 $ 540,530 
2011 652,018 
2012 685,810 
2013 635,277 
2014 672,534 
2015-2019 4,609,879 
2020 92,442 

Totals $ 7,888,490 

Transfers 

Following is a schedule of interfund transfers: 

Fund Transferred To 

General Fund 

Special Revenue 
Cemetery Maintenance 
Economic Development 
Economic Development 

City-County Health 
Downtown Partners 

Debt Service 
Debt Service - General 
Debt Service - General 
Debt Service - General 

Debt Service - TIF NO.7 

Fund Transferred From 

Community Development 
Community Enhancement 
Water Utility 
Sewer Utility 
Storm Water Utility 

General Fund 
General Fund 
TIF NO.8 - Downtown 

Development 
Community Development 
Economic Development 

General Fund 
Public Library 
City-County Health 

Department 
TIF NO.7 - Soo Line 

Development 
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Interest 

$ 424,083 
366,588 
328,798 
287,962 
250,501 
702,098 

6,702 

$ 2,366,732 

Amount 

$ 32,448 
100,000 

1,307,653 
50,000 

700,941 

245,951 
4,400 

400,000 

58,878 
85,000 

4,186,608 
39,983 
29,422 

83,033 

Totals 

$ 964,613 
1,018,606 
1,014,608 

923,239 
923,035 

5,311,977 
99,144 

$ 10,255,222 

PrinCipal Purpose 

To fund coalition for youth 
To fund general fund special events 
Payment in lieu of tax 
To pay back contributed capital 
Fund street cleaning costs 

Operating subsidy 
General support 
Record advances for prior 
year transfers 

Fund code enforcement project 
Operating subsidy 

Debt service payments 
Debt service payments 
Debt service payments 

Close out capital projects fund 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cant.) 

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cant.) 

Transfers (cant.) 

Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount Principal Purpose 

Capital Projects 
Street Projects TIF No.8 - Downtown $ 1,000,000 Record advances for prior 

Development year transfers 
Street Projects Community Development 115,000 Fund street construction 
Buildings and Equipment General Fund 962,700 Fund various projects 
Buildings and Equipment Cemetery Maintenance 31,300 Forest Hill and Lakeview remodel 
Buildings and Equipment Community Development 162,000 Fund comprehensive plan/home 

ownership program 
Buildings and Equipment Hazardous Materials 3,779 IFERN Grant match 

Response 
Bridges General Fund 100,000 Fund bridge renovations 
Parks and Recreation General Fund 150,000 Fund park development projects 
Parks and Recreation Community Enhancement 136,300 Fund park development projects 
Environmental Improvement Risk Management 95,000 Fund environmental projects 
Library Buildings and Equipment Public Library 310,000 Fund facility improvements 

Enterprise 
Public Transit General Fund 684,127 Operating subsidy 
Parking Utility General Fund 103,232 Subsidize parking ramp renovations 
Hobbs Ice Center General Fund 600,000 Code compliance 
Hobbs Ice Center Community Enhancement 92,300 Subsidize facilities improvements 
Outdoor Pool General Fund 280,935 Operating subsidy 

Internal Service 
Risk Management TIF No.8 - Downtown 1,321,700 Record advances for prior 

Development year transfers 
Central Equipment General Fund 175,000 Highway 53 truck 

SUb-total- Fund Financial Statements 13,647,690 

Less: Fund eliminations {13,349,690) 

Total - Government-Wide Statement of Activities $ 298,000 

Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund that the 
budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the 
receipts to the debt service fund, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to finance 
various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cant.) 

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGA TlONS 

Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 was as follows: 

Amounts 
Beginning Ending Due Within 
Balance Increases Decreases Balance One Year 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
Bonds and Notes Payable 

General obligation bonds $ 64,855,000 $ 11,150,000 $ 4,945,000 $ 71,060,000 $ 4,930,000 
State trust fund notes 38,633 468,000 38,633 468,000 
Add/(Subtract) Deferred Amounts For: 

Refundings - gains/(Iosses) (186,167) (15,734) (170,433) 
Premiums/(discounts) 476,103 (79,625) 30,675 365,803 

SUb-totals 65,183,569 11,538,375 4,998,574 71,723,370 4,930,000 

Other Liabilities 
Vested compensated absences 2,148,269 2,369,123 2,287,188 2,230,204 2,230,204 
Police and fire pensions 390,262 26,972 363,290 69,542 
Duty disability 3,778,342 469,176 373,580 3,873,938 399,058 
Other post-employment benefits 2,318,446 515,882 2,834,328 
Unpaid self-insurance claims 2,091,416 909,227 1,127,052 1,873,591 220,000 

Total Other Liabilities 10,726,735 4,263,408 3,814,792 11,175,351 2,918,804 

Total Governmental Activities 
Long-Term Liabilities $ 75,910,304 $ 15,801,783 $ 8,813,366 $ 82,898,721 $ 7,848,804 

Amounts 
Beginning Ending Due Within 
Balance Increases Decreases Balance One Year 

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 
Bonds and Notes Payable 

General obligation bonds $ 15,445,000 $ 1,760,000 $ 800,000 $ 16,405,000 $ 885,000 
State trust fund notes 197,857 36,169 161,688 37,796 
Revenue bonds 9,015,000 3,825,000 2,770,000 10,070,000 625,000 
Add/(Subtract) Deferred Amounts For: 

Refundings - gains/(Iosses) (141,739) (17,453) (124,286) 
Premiums/(discounts) 99,382 22,050 8,183 113,249 

Sub-totals 24,615,500 5,607,050 3,596,899 26,625,651 1,547,796 

Other Liabilities 
Vested compensated absences 389,656 540,208 540,210 389,654 389,654 
Other post-employment benefits 342,500 9,476 351,976 

Total Other Liabilities 732,156 549,684 540,210 741,630 389,654 

Total Business-type Activities 
Long-Term Liabilities $ 25,347,656 $ 6,156,734 $ 4,137,109 $ 27,367,281 $ 1,937,450 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE /11- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGA TlONS (cont.) 

General Obligation Debt 

All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City. Tax 
incremental bonds are paid by segregated property taxes, but are ultimately backed by the full faith and credit 
of the City if incremental taxes are inadequate to meet payments. Business-type activities debt is payable by 
revenues from user fees of those funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies. 

In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the City may not exceed 5% 
of the equalized value of taxable property within the City's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of December 31, 
2009, was $215,797,325. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was $88,094,688. 

Original 
Date of Final Interest Indebted- Balance 
Issue Maturit~ Rates ness 12-31-09 

Governmental Activities 
General Obligation Bonds 

Corporate purpose 09/15/98 04/01/10 4.45-4.5% $ 6,650,000 $ 235,000 
Corporate purpose 09/01/99 04/01/10 4.65-5.5% 6,450,000 160,000 
Tax incremental bonds 09/01/99 04/01/10 4.65-5.5% 395,000 25,000 
Corporate purpose 08/15/00 04/01/10 5.0-5.5% 4,730,000 260,000 
Tax incremental bonds 08/15/00 04/01/10 5.0-5.5% 1,780,000 90,000 
Corporate purpose 08/15/01 04/01/21 4.13-5.0% 8,700,000 5,410,000 
Corporate purpose 08/15/02 04/01/15 2.85-3.875% 4,120,000 1,025,000 
Corporate purpose 08/15/02 04/01/22 3.7-4.7% 3,700,000 1,925,000 
Corporate purpose 09/15/03 04/01/23 3.625-4.8% 9,870,000 7,700,000 
Corporate purpose 09/15/03 04/01/23 3.5-4.6% 4,405,000 3,080,000 
Corporate purpose 09/01/04 04/01/24 3.5-4.5% 6,270,000 4,500,000 
Tax incremental bonds 09/01/04 04/01/14 6.28% 570,000 570,000 
Corporate purpose 06/01/05 04/01/25 3.5-4.25% 5,850,000 4,665,000 
Tax incremental bonds 06/01/05 04/01/22 3.7-4.1% 200,000 200,000 
Tax incremental bonds 12/01/05 04/01/19 3.7-4.125% 3,000,000 3,000,000 
Corporate purpose 08/01/06 04/01/26 4.125-5.0% 5,125,000 4,305,000 
Corporate purpose 05/01/07 04/01/27 4.0-5.0% 9,500,000 8,430,000 
Tax incremental bonds 05/01/07 04/01/25 4.0-5.0% 1,440,000 1,440,000 
Corporate purpose 05/01/07 04/01/20 4.0-4.125% 12,210,000 11,700,000 
Corporate purpose 07/01/08 04/01/28 3.5-4.2% 6,240,000 5,960,000 
Corporate purpose 07/01/08 04/01/18 3.625-3.875% 2,015,000 1,855,000 
Corporate purpose 07/01/08 04/01/28 5.0-6.125% 8,145,000 8,020,000 
Corporate purpose 07/15/09 04/01/29 1.85-6.15% 8,560,000 8,560,000 
Corporate purpose 07/15/09 04/01/19 1.6-5.1 % 4,350,000 4,350,000 

Sub-total 87,465,000 

Less: Enterprise portion of G.O. Bonds (16,405,000) 

Total - Governmental Activities - G.O. Bonds 71,060,000 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.) 

General Obligation Debt (cont.) 

Governmental Activities 
General Obligation Debt 

Date of 
Issue 

Final 
Maturity 

State trust fund note 09/15/09 03/15/19 

Interest 
Rates 

4.25% 

Total Governmental Activities - General Obligation Debt 

Business-type Activities 
General Obligation Debt 

State trust fund note 08/27/03 

Plus: Enterprise portion of G.O. Bonds 

3115113 

Total Business-type Activities General Obligation Debt 

Total General Obligation Debt 

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

4.5% 

Governmental Activities 
General Obligation Debt 

Years Principal Interest 

2010 $ 4,930,000 $ 3,144,737 
2011 5,420,205 2,860,931 
2012 5,521,514 2,639,668 
2013 5,303,541 2,427,258 
2014 5,700,604 2,204,180 
2015-2019 25,162,136 7,775,940 
2020 - 2024 12,250,000 3,398,605 
2025 - 2029 7,240,000 854,318 

Totals $ 71,528,000 $ 25,305,637 
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$ 

$ 

Original 
Indebted

ness 
Balance 
12-31-09 

$ 468,000 ..:....$ __ 46_8-.:...,0_0_0 

71,528,000 

320,000 161,688 

16,405,000 

16,566,688 

$ 88,094,688 

Business-type Activities 
General Obligation Debt 
Principal Interest 

922,796 $ 721,688 
989,497 664,330 

1,041,264 624,521 
1,068,131 582,518 
1,075,000 538,151 
5,820,000 1,963,014 
4,090,000 798,661 
1,560,000 158,933 

16,566,688 $ 6,051,816 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cant.) 

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGA TIONS (cant.) 

Revenue Debt 

Business-type activities revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the operation of the 
water utility. 

The Water Utility has pledged future water revenues, net of specified operating expenses to repay 
$12,750,000 in water revenue bonds issued from 2001 to 2009. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing 
for utility system improvements and for refinancing previous revenue bonds. The bonds are payable solely 
from water revenues and are payable through 2028. The bonds require net revenues of 1.25 times annual 
principal and interest payments on outstanding bonds. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on 
the bonds are $13,751,095. Principal and interest paid for the current year and total customer net revenues 
were $1,351,158 and $4,232,451, respectively. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to 
require 9% of Water Utility revenues through 2028. 

Revenue debt payable at December 31,2009 consists of the following: 

Business-type Activities Revenue Debt 

Date of Final Interest 
Issue Maturit~ Rates 

Water Utility 

Revenue bonds 08/15/01 10/01/16 4.0-4.8% 
Revenue bonds 09/15/03 10/01/17 2.5-4.3% 
Revenue bonds 05/01/07 10/01/23 4.0-4.5% 
Revenue bonds 07/15/09 10/01/28 3.0-4.8% 

Total Water Utility 

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Business-type Activities 
Revenue Debt 

Years Principal Interest 

2010 $ 625,000 $ 469,244 
2011 745,000 410,768 
2012 775,000 380,905 
2013 805,000 349,136 
2014 845,000 314,736 
2015 - 2019 3,030,000 1,049,913 
2020 - 2024 1,940,000 548,683 
2025 - 2028 1,305,000 157,710 

Totals $ 10,070,000 $ 3,681,095 
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Original 
Indebted- Balance 

ness 12-31-09 

$ 4,615,000 $ 3,300,000 
2,310,000 1,105,000 
2,000,000 1,840,000 
3,825,000 3,825,000 

$ 10,070,000 

Totals 

$ 1,094,244 
1,155,768 
1,155,905 
1,154,136 
1,159,736 
4,079,913 
2,488,683 
1,462,710 

$ 13,751,095 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cant.) 

F. LONG-TERM OSLIGA nONS (cant.) 

Other Debt Information 

Estimated payments of compensated absences and other post-employment benefits are not included in the 
debt service requirement schedules. The compensated absences and post-employment benefits liabilities 
attributable to governmental activities will be liquidated primarily by the general fund. 

A statutory mortgage lien upon the City's system and any additions, improvements and extensions thereto is 
created by Section 66.066 of the Wisconsin Statutes as provided for in the ordinances creating the revenue 
bond issue. The City's system and the earnings of the system remain subject to the lien until payment in full 
of the principal and interest on the bonds. 

There are a number of limitations and restrictions contained in the various bond indentures and loan 
agreements. The City believes it is in compliance with all significant limitations and restrictions, including 
federal arbitrage regulations. 

The City issues debt to fund its capital projects. In 2008, a portion of the debt issued was used to retire the 
City's state retirement unfunded liability. The City has never defaulted on any of its prior outstanding 
indebtedness. Short-term debt is not issued for operational purposes. 

Current Refunding 

On July 15, 2009, the City issued $1,825,000 in revenue bonds with an interest rate of 3.0% - 4.45% to 
current refund $1,825,000 of outstanding bonds with an interest rate of 5.15% - 5.4%. The net proceeds (after 
payment of underwriting fees, insurance and other issuance costs) were used to prepay the outstanding debt 
service requirements on the old bonds on October 1,2009. 

The cash flow requirements on the refunded bonds and notes prior to the current refunding was $2,238,565 
from 2010 through 2016. The cash flow requirements on the refunding bonds are $2,618,392 from 2010 
through 2024. The current refunding resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of 
the debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $48,954. 

Prior-Year Defeasance of Debt 

In prior years, the City defeased certain general obligation and other bonds by placing the proceeds of new 
bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the 
trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the City's financial statements. 
At December 31, 2009, $7,840,000 of bonds outstanding are considered defeased. The bonds are callable 
on April 1, 2010. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cant.) 

F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cant.) 

Deferred Amount on Refunding 

Deferred amounts on refunding arise from advance refunding of debt. The difference between the cost of the 
securities placed in trust for future payment of refunded debt and the net carrying value of that debt is 
deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of the term of the refunding 
issue or the original term of the refunded debt. Amortization for 2009 was $15,734 for the governmental 
activities, $9,145 for the Water Utility, and $8,308 for the Storm Water Utility. 

G. LEASE DISCLOSURES 

The City has no material leases as lessee or lessor. 

H. NET ASSETS/FuND BALANCES 

Net assets reported on the government wide statement of net assets at December 31, 2009 includes the 
following: 

Governmental Activities 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 
Construction in progress 
Land 
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
Less: related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent 
capital related debt proceeds) 

Total Invested in Capital Assets 

Restricted 
Deposits 
Unspent grant proceeds 
New loans 
RCU agreement 
Debt service payments 

Total Restricted 

Unrestricted 

Total Governmental Activities Net Assets 

83 

$ 15,236,043 
4,977,021 

126,706,475 

(58,434,517) 
88,485,022 

991,672 
460,418 

1,986,444 
360,940 

13,458,325 
17,257,799 

51,074,170 

$ 156,816,991 

"., 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

H. NET ASSETS/FuND BALANCES (cont.) 

Governmental Activities (cont.) 

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31, 2009 include the 
following: 

Reserved 
Major Funds 

General Fund 
Notes receivable 
Prepaid items and inventories 
Advances to other funds (noncurrent portion) 

Total 

General Debt Service Fund 
Reserved for debt service 

Nonmajor Funds 
Special Revenue - Home Grant 

Reserved for grant proceeds 

Special Revenue - Economic Development 
Reserved for advances to other funds (noncurrent portion) 
Reserved for grant proceeds 

Sub-total 

Special Revenue - City-County Health Department 
Reserved for prepaid items 
Reserved for grant proceeds 

Sub-total 

Debt Service - TIF NO.6 
Reserved for TIF NO.6 debt service 

Debt Service - TIF NO.7 
Reserved for TIF NO.7 debt service 

Capital Projects - TIF NO.5 Gateway NW Business Park 
Reserved for capital contracts 
Reserved for bond construction 

Sub-total 
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$ 25,000 
751,918 

7,347,960 

$ 8,124,878 

$ 7,597,130 

$ 11,420 

400,000 
428,582 
828,582 

65,766 
31,836 
97,602 

1,240,055 

50,827 

238,776 
261,802 
500,578 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cant.) 

H. NET ASSETS/FuND BALANCES (cont.) 

Governmental Activities (cont.) 

Reserved (cont.) 
Nonmajor Funds (cont.) 

Capital Projects - Street Projects 
Reserved for advances to other funds (noncurrent portion) 
Reserved for capital contracts 
Reserved for bond construction 

Sub-total 

Capital Projects - Bridge Projects 
Reserved for capital contracts 

Capital Projects - Buildings and Equipment 
Reserved for capital contracts 
Reserved for bond construction 

Sub-total 

Capital Projects - Parks and Recreation Projects 
Reserved for capital contracts 

Capital Projects - Environmental Improvements - Landfill 
Reserved for capital contracts 
Reserved for environmental remediation 

Sub-total 

Capital Projects - Library Buildings and Equipment 
Reserved for capital contracts 

Total Reserved Fund Balance - Nonmajor Funds 

Unreserved, deSignated 
Major Funds 

General fund deSignated for 
Highway 53 maintenance 
Working capital 
Subsequent year expenditures 
YMCA land sale 

Total 
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$ 1,000,000 
558,874 

91,864 
1,650,738 

48,716 

169,246 
1,077,152 
1,246,398 

26,697 

2,689 
360,940 
363,629 

15,294 

$ 6,080,536 

$ 2,670,632 
3,700,000 

150,200 
429,341 

$ 6,950,173 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

H. NET ASSETS/FuND BALANCES (cont.) 

Governmental Activities (cont.) 

Unreserved, designated (cont.) 
Nonmajor Funds 

Special Revenue Funds designated for 
Cemetery Maintenance - Subsequent year expenditures 

Hazardous Materials Response - Subsequent year expenditures 

Community Development - Subsequent year expenditures 

Economic Development - Economic development 
- Subsequent year expenditures 
- Downtown facade loans 
- Code compliance loans 

Community Enhancement - Subsequent year expenditures 

Public Library - Library funds 
- Subsequent year expenditures 

City-County Health Department - Subsequent year expenditures 

Downtown Partners - Subsequent year expenditures 
- Loft matching program 

Sub-total - Special Revenue Funds 

Capital Projects Funds designated for 
TIF NO.5 Gateway NW Business Park - Subsequent year expenditures 
Street Projects - Subsequent year expenditures 
Bridge Projects - Subsequent year expenditures 
Buildings and Equipment - Subsequent year expenditures 
Parks and Recreation Projects - Subsequent year expenditures 
Environmental Improvements-Landfill - Subsequent year expenditures 
Library Buildings and Equipment - Subsequent year expenditures 

Sub-total - Capital Projects Funds 

Total Designations - Nonmajor Funds 

86 

$ 87,142 

207,183 

153,308 

950,000 
1,706,836 

10,000 
100,000 

211 

94,636 
634,572 

621,974 

30,706 
11,000 

4,607,568 

2,390,148 
8,254,358 

757,644 
4,179,232 
1,199,877 
1,875,972 

761,413 
19,418,644 

$ 24,026,212 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

H. NETAsSETSIFuND BALANCES (cont.) 

Business-type Activities 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 
Construction in progress 
Land 
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
Less: related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital 

related debt proceeds) 
Total Invested in Capital Assets 

Restricted 
Debt service payments 
Equipment replacement 

Total Restricted 

Unrestricted 

Total Business-type Activities Net Assets 

I. COMPONENT UNITS 

Housing Authority 

$ 15,602,158 
15,755,446 

135,294,169 

{24,504,186) 
142,147,587 

1,319,280 
401,000 

1,720,280 

14,752,404 

$ 158,620,271 

This report contains the Housing Authority of the City of Eau Claire (Housing Authority), which is included as a 
component unit. Financial information is combined with the City's other component units and presented as a 
separate column in the statement of net assets and statement of activities. 

In addition to the basic financial statements and the preceding notes to financial statements which apply, the 
following additional disclosures are considered necessary for a fair presentation. 

a. Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus 

The Housing Authority follows the full accrual basis of accounting and the flow of economic resources 
measurement focus. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

b. Deposits and Investments 

Total cash and investments at year end consist of the following: 

Petty cash and cash on hand 
Deposits with financial institutions 
Investments 
Cash with escrow agent (pooled funds) 

Total Cash and Investments 

Reconciliation to financial statements: 
Per statement of net assets 

Unrestricted cash and investments 
Restricted cash and investments 

Total 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

1,760 
778,942 

2,223,722 
746,173 

3,750,597 

2,829,422 
921,175 

3,750,597 

The Housing Authority has adopted an investment policy. That policy states that the Housing Authority must 
invest its funds in securities that are approved by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 
As of December 31, 2009, the Housing Authority is in compliance with this policy. The policy does not 
address the interest rate risk and custodial credit risk that the Housing Authority has with its deposits and 
investments. 

Deposits 

The Housing Authority's deposits at year end were comprised of the following: 

Demand deposits $ 

Carrying 
Value 

778,942 $ 

Bank 
Balance 

Associated 
Risks 

829,255 Custodial credit risk 

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for interest bearing 
accounts and unlimited amounts for non interest bearing accounts. 

Bank accounts are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of $400,000. However, 
due to the relatively small size of the Guarantee Fund in relationship to the total deposits covered and other 
legal implications, recovery of material principal losses may not be significant to individual municipalities. This 
coverage has been considered in determining custodial credit risk. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

b. Deposits and Investments (cont.) 

Investments 

The Housing Authority's investments at year end were comprised of the following: 

Negotiable certificates of deposit 

Cash with escrow agent 

Carrying 
Value 

Associated 
Risks 

$ 2,223,722 Interest rate risk, custodial credit risk, 
credit risk 

746,173 Interest rate risk, credit risk 

The Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC), created by the Securities Investor Protection Act of 
1970, is an independent government-sponsored corporation (not an agency of the U.S. government). US 
Bancorp's SIPC membership provides account protection up to a maximum of $500,000 per customer, of 
which $100,000 may be in cash. US Bancorp has purchased SIPC-like protection for supplemental protection 
of up to $150,000,000. 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Deposits - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the Housing 
Authority's deposits may not be returned to the Housing Authority. 

The Housing Authority does not have any deposits exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Investments - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty, the Housing Authority will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. 

The Housing Authority does not have any investments exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 

As of December 31,2009, the Housing Authority had negotiable certificates of deposit and cash with an 
escrow agent which were not rated. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

b. Deposits and Investments (cont.) 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an investment. 

As of December 31, 2009, the Housing Authority's investments were as follows: 

Investment Type 

Negotiable certificates of deposit 
Cash with escrow agent 

c. Receivables 

Accounts Receivable - tenants 
Less: Allowance for Uncollectibles 

Due from other governments 
Other receivables 

Net Total Receivables 

$ 

All receivables are expected to be collected within one year. 

d. Restricted Assets 

Voucher Program - Grant Requirements 

Fair Value 

2,223,722 
746,173 

$ 

$ 

Weighted Average 
Maturity (Years) 

.345 
N/A 

7,919 
(1,683) 
89,453 
9,755 

105,444 

The Housing Authority maintains restricted cash in the amount of housing assistance payments equity as 
required by the grantor. The balance as of December 31, 2009 was $175,002. 

Park Towers Apartments - Escrow Accounts 

In accordance with its regulatory agreement with the Wisconsin Housing and Economic Development 
Authority (WHEDA), the Housing Authority has established certain cash escrow funds which are controlled by 
WHEDA and used for the following purposes: 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cant.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cant.) 

Housing Authority (cant.) 

d. Restricted Assets (cant.) 

Escrow for Replacement 

The escrow for replacement, along with interest earned on the fund, can be used to pay the cost of replacing 
structural elements or equipment of the project and to pay any other expense of operating the project. Any 
use of the fund is subject to the prior approval of WHEDA. 

Each month, WHEDA withholds certain amounts from the project's housing assistance payments and 
deposits them into the fund. Interest earned on the fund becomes a part of the fund. Upon termination of the 
project, any balance remaining in the escrow for replacement will be distributed to WHEDA. 

Escrow for Development Cost 

With approval of WHEDA, amounts held in this fund may be utilized if cash provided from operations is not 
sufficient to meet capital and operating requirements of the project. Interest earned on the fund becomes a 
part of the fund. Upon termination of the project, the development cost escrow fund will be returned to the 
Housing Authority. 

Escrow for Residual Receipts 

With approval of WHEDA, amounts held in this fund may be utilized if cash provided from operations is not 
sufficient to meet capital and operating requirements of the project. Each month, WHEDA withholds certain 
amounts from the project's housing assistance payments and deposits them into the fund. Interest earned on 
the fund becomes a part of the fund. Upon termination of the project, the residual receipts escrow fund will be 
returned to the Housing Authority. 

Escrow for Taxes 

The escrow for taxes, along with interest earned on the fund, can be used to pay payment in lieu of taxes. 
Each month, WHEDA withholds certain amounts from the project's housing assistance payments and 
deposits them into the fund. 

The balances as of December 31,2009 for the reserve for replacements escrow, development cost escrow, 
residual receipts escrow and tax escrow are $635,221, $110,952, $0 and $0, respectively. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

e. Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 was as follows: 

Beginning 
Balance Additions 

Capital assets not being depreciated 
Construction work in progress $ 105,694 $ 158,052 
Land 1,415,799 

Total Capital Assets 
Not Being Depreciated $ 1,521,493 $ 158,052 

Other Capital Assets 
Land improvements $ 832,558 $ 8,494 
Buildings 15,708,628 158,065 
Machinery and equipment 889,421 93,678 

Total Capital Assets 
Being Depreciated 17,430,607 260,237 

Less: Accumulated depreciation for 
Land improvements (365,490) (30,732) 
Buildings (5,938,556) (490,343) 
Machinery and equipment (511,366) (43,046) 

Total Accumulated Depreciation (6,815,412) (564,121) 

Net Other Capital Assets $ 10,615,195 
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Ending 
Deletions Balance 

$ 105,694 $ 158,052 
7,500 1,408,299 

$ 113,194 $ 1,566,351 

$ - $ 841,052 
115,319 15,751,374 
57,735 925,364 

173,054 17,517,790 

(396,222) 
56,455 (6,372,444 ) 
41,635 (512,777) 
98,090 (7,281,443) 

$ 10,236,347 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

f. Long-Term Obligations 

Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 was as follows: 

Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases 

Bonds and Notes Payable 
Revenue bonds $ 50,000 $ - $ 25,000 $ 
Mortgage notes 448,649 355,523 
Other loans/notes 991,021 8,381 

Sub-totals 1,489,670 388,904 

Other Liabilities 
Vested compensated absences 51,699 48,483 48,075 
Other post-employment benefits 6,177 
Other noncurrent liabilities 13,303 7,243 454 

Sub-totals 71,179 55,726 48,529 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 1,560,849 $ 55,726 $ 437,433 $ 

Amounts 
Ending Due Within 
Balance One Year 

25,000 $ 25,000 
93,126 93,126 

982,640 323 
1,100,766 118,449 

52,107 52,107 
6,177 

20,092 
78,376 52,107 

1,179,142 $ 170,556 

Revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the operation of the Housing Authority. The 
Housing Authority has pledged future revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay the Owen Rust 
Memorial Apartments 1993 revenue bonds listed below issued to finance housing projects. Annual principal 
and interest payments on the bonds required to be paid from net revenues are listed below. Principal and 
interest paid for the current year were $27,625 and total operating revenues for the current year were 
$66,710. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to require 39% of total operating revenues 
through 2010. 

Revenue debt payable at December 31,2009 consists of the following: 

Owen Rust Memorial Apartments 

Series 1993 housing refunding revenue bonds, $295,000 face value, payable in semi
annual installments including interest at 2.8% - 5.25% through December 1, 2010. 

Total Revenue Debt 

93 

$ 25,000 

$ 25,000 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

f. Long-Term Obligations (cont.) 

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Principal Interest 

2010 $ 25,000 2-$ _----'1..!...:, 3:....:.1-=..3 

Totals $ 25,000 =$==1=,3=1=3 

Mortgage Notes 

Mortgage notes are payable only from revenues derived from the operation of the Housing Authority. 

Mortgage notes payable at December 31, 2009 consists of the following: 

Park Towers Apartments 

Mortgage note payable to WHEDA in monthly installments of $31,434 including interest at 
7.53%, through March, 2010. Secured by the project's real estate. 

Total Mortgage Notes 

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Principal 

$ 93,126 

$ 93,126 

Interest 

2010 $ 

$ 

93,126 ..:....$ __ 1-<..' 1-.:.7-,,-0 

Totals 93,126 =$==1==,=17=0 

Other Loans/Notes Payable 

Other loans and notes payable at December 31,2009 consist of the following: 

Substantial Rehabilitation 

1982 note payable to the City of Eau Claire Community Development Block Grant 
Program, requires monthly installment of $777, which includes principal and interest at a 
rate of 5%. 
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$ 323 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

f. Long-Term Obligations (cont.) 

Other Loans/Notes Payable (cont.) 

Park Towers Apartments 

1992 note payable from the City of Eau Claire Community Development Block Grant 
Program, the note is non-interest bearing and is due on demand should certain conditions be 
met. $ 195,462 

1991 note payable to the City of Eau Claire, Community Development Block Grant Program. 
Unsecured, non-interest bearing, and due on demand. 

Affordable Housing 

2005 note payable to the City of Eau Claire HOME Investment Partnerships Program is non
interest bearing and will be forgiven on December 30, 2023, if the property remains in the 
name of the Housing Authority and is occupied primarily by low income persons. The note is 
due on demand, if conditions are not met. 

2004 note payable to the City of Eau Claire HOME Investment Partnerships Program is non
interest bearing and will be forgiven on January 13, 2023, if the property remains in the name 
of the Housing Authority and is occupied primarily by low income persons. The note is due 
on demand, if conditions are not met. 

2001 note payable to the City of Eau Claire HOME Investment Partnerships Program is non
interest bearing and will be forgiven on March 1, 2021, if the property remains in the name of 
the Housing Authority and is occupied primarily by low income persons. The note is due on 
demand, if conditions are not met. 

1997 note payable to the City of Eau Claire Community Development Block Grant Program is 
non-interest bearing and will be forgiven on December 30,2016, if the property remains in 
the name of the Housing Authority and is occupied primarily by low income persons. The 
note is due on demand, if conditions are not met. 

1996 note payable to the City of Eau Claire HOME Investment Partnerships Program is non
interest bearing and will be forgiven on December 30,2016, if the property remains in the 
name of the Housing Authority and is occupied primarily by low income persons. The note is 
due on demand, if conditions are not met. 

Total Notes Payable 
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63,000 

213,237 

150,000 

120,618 

150,000 

90,000 

$ 982,640 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

f. Long-Term Obligations (cont.) 

Other Loans/Notes Payable (cont.) 

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Principal 

2010 $ 323 $ 
Demand notes with no set payment schedule 982,317 

Interest 

16 

Totals $ 982,640 =$===1=6 

Other Debt Information 

Estimated payments of compensated absences, other postemployment benefits and other noncurrent 
liabilities are not included in the debt service requirement schedules. 

There are a number of limitations and restrictions contained in the various bond indentures and loan 
agreements. The Housing Authority believes it is in compliance with all significant limitations and restrictions. 

Other noncurrent liabilities consists of Family Self-Sufficiency program escrow accounts which are payable to 
program participants upon certain conditions. 

g. Net Assets 

Net assets reported on the statement of net assets at December 31, 2009 include the following: 

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 
Construction in progress 
Land 
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
Less: related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital 

related debt proceeds) 
Total Invested in Capital Assets 

Restricted 
Escrow for replacement 
Escrow for development costs 
Grant requirements 

, Total Restricted 

Unrestricted 

Total Net Assets 
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$ 158,052 
1,408,299 

10,236,347 

{1,100,766) 
10,701,932 

635,220 
110,953 
175,002 
921,175 

2,690,986 

$ 14,314,093 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

h. Employee Retirement System 

The Housing Authority is staffed by City of Eau Claire employees and Housing Authority employees. 

All eligible City and Housing Authority employees participate in the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS), a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit public employee retirement system. All permanent employees 
expected to work over 600 hours a year are eligible to participate in the WRS. Covered employees in the 
General category are required by statute to contribute 5.9% of their salary (3.0% for Executives and Elected 
Officials, 5.0% for Protective Occupations with Social Security, and 3.2% for Protective Occupations without 
Social Security) to the plan. Employers generally make these contributions to the plan on behalf of 
employees. Employers are required to contribute an actuarially determined amount necessary to fund the 
remaining projected cost of future benefits. 

The payroll for Housing Authority employees covered by the WRS for the year ended December 31, 2009 
was $510,916; the employer's total payroll was $519,633. The total required contribution for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 was $53,136 or 10.4% of covered payroll. Of this amount, 99% was contributed for the 
current year. Total contributions for the years ending December 31,2008 and 2007 were $53,364 and 
$48,671, respectively, equal to the required contributions for each year. The City of Eau Claire employees 
who work for the Housing Authority are covered under the City's plan. 

Employees who retire at or after age 65 (62 for elected officials, 54 for protective occupation employees with 
less than 25 years of service, and 53 for protective occupation employees with more than 25 years of service) 
are entitled to receive a retirement benefit. Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation 
employees) and receive actuarially reduced benefits. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average 
earnings, (2) years of creditable service, and (3) a formula factor. Final average earnings is the average of 
the employee's three highest years' earnings. Employees terminating covered employment before becoming 
eligible for a retirement benefit may withdraw their contributions and, by doing so, forfeit all rights to any 
subsequent benefit. For employees beginning partiCipation on or after January 1, 1990 and no longer actively 
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a 
retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, are immediately 
vested. 

The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees. Eligibility and the amount of all benefits is 
determined under Chapter 40 of Wisconsin Statutes. The WRS issues an annual financial report which may 
be obtained by writing to the Department of Employee Trust Funds, P.O. Box 7931, Madison, WI 53707-
7931. 
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NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

i. Risk Management 

The Housing Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. All of these risks, 
except for workers compensation, are covered through the purchase of commercial insurance, with minimal 
deductibles. Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the past three years. There 
were no significant reductions in coverage compared to the prior year. 

Self-Insurance 

The Housing Authority is insured for workers' compensation through the City of Eau Claire. The City of Eau 
Claire self-insures its workers' compensation exposure for the first $300,000 of each occurrence. The City 
has purchased excess insurance from WMMIC for claims in excess of those amounts. Settled claims have 
not exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the past three years. Payments to the City's self-insurance 
program are based on historical cost estimates of amounts needed to pay prior and current year claims. See 
note IV. B. for further details. 

j. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Housing Authority has entered into a Regulatory Agreement with the Wisconsin Housing and Economic 
Development Authority (WHEDA) for the Park Tower Apartments Fund. The Regulatory Agreement contains, 
among other things, restrictions on the conveyance, transfer or encumbrance of any of the project property, 
assumption of additional indebtedness and assignment of rights to manage or receive the rents and profits of 
the property. 

The Housing Authority provides housing for the Park Tower Apartments Fund pursuant to Section 8 of the 
United States Housing Act of 1974. Rentals are subsidized by the federal government through a housing 
assistance payments contract between WHEDA and the Housing Authority. Total assistance payments 
received from WHEDA were $637,417 during 2009. 

The Housing Authority is the City of Eau Claire's component unit responsible for administering the federal 
program accounted for in the Low Rent Fund. This fund accounts for public housing projects which were 
financed primarily through U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) project notes. 
Federal legislation was passed which allowed the Secretary of HUD to forgive the outstanding indebtedness 
related to public housing projects. 

There is no project debt outstanding at year-end. 

The Housing Authority has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review 
and audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor 
agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such disallowances, if 
any, would be immaterial. 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Housing Authority (cont.) 

k. Related Parties 

The City of Eau Claire, Wisconsin provides various administrative services and facilities to the Housing 
Authority. No estimate of cost for these services is included in the financial statements. The City also pays for 
the Housing Authority's pension plan and other employee benefits for which the Housing Authority reimburses 
the City on a monthly basis. No liability has been provided in these financial statements for any unfunded 
actuarial liability that may exist. 

I. Economic Dependency 

The Housing Authority is economically dependent on annual contributions and grants from the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The Housing Authority operates at a loss prior to 
receiving contributions and grants from HUD. 

m. Other Post-Employment Benefits 

While there are no postemployment benefits provided to Housing Authority employees, the City of Eau Claire 
provides some staffing for the Housing Authority operations. Upon retirement, these City employees receive 
benefits according to the City of Eau Claire's policies. See the other postemployment benefits note and 
required supplementary information in these financial statements for further details. 

Redevelopment Authority 

This report contains the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Eau Claire (RDA), which is included as a 
component unit. Financial information is combined with the City's other component units and presented as a 
separate column in the statement of net assets and statement of activities. 

In addition to the basic financial statements and the preceding notes to financial statements which apply, the 
following additional disclosures are considered necessary for a fair presentation. 

a. Basis of Accounting 

The RDA prepares its financial statements in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting and the flow of 
economic resources measurement focus. 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Redevelopment Authority (cont.) 

b. Deposits and Investments 

The RDA is part of the City of Eau Claire's cash and investment pool. The custodial credit risk pertaining 
specifically to the RDA's resources at these institutions cannot be determined individually for those accounts. 
At year end, the RDA's deposits were $904,624. The City's investment policy is applied to the custody of the 
RDA's deposits (see Note IliA). 

Interest income is not allocated to the RDA because the City provides services to the RDA at no cost. 

c. Note Receivable 

The amount of note receivable not expected to be collected within one year was $480,000 as of December 
31,2009. 

d. Property Held for Resale 

Property held for resale activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 was as follows: 

Beginning Ending 
Balance Additions Deletions Balance 

Property held for resale $ 2,252,454 $ 185,644 $ - $ 2,438,098 

Property held for resale $ 2,252,454 $ 185,644 $ - $ 2,438,098 

e. Risk Management 

The RDA participates in the same risk pools as the reporting entity. Information related specifically to the 
RDA is unavailable. See note IV.B. for further details. 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Redevelopment Authority (cont.) 

f. Commitments and Contingencies 

The RDA has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by 
the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor agency for 
expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such disallowances, if any, would 
be immaterial. 

g. Related Parties 

The City of Eau Claire, Wisconsin provides various administrative services and facilities to the RDA. No 
estimate of cost for these services is included in the financial statements. The salaries and fringe benefits of 
the City's staff that work on RDA projects are paid for by the City. The RDA does not reimburse the City for 
any of these costs. 

h. Development and Purchase Agreement 

The RDA has entered into a development and purchase agreement with Phoenix Parkside, LLC (PPL). The 
agreement sets the purchase price for Phase I property at $600,000, payable by PPL to the RDA in ten equal 
annual payments of $60,000 each beginning in 2009. The RDA shall grant PPL a Redevelopment Land Credit 
of up to $600,000 towards the purchase price of the land subject to an increase in the assessed valuation of 
the property. The credit awarded in 2009 was in the amount of $31,068. As of January 1, 2010, PPL has met 
the property valuation required for the land credit on the $480,000 balance of the long term note receivable. 
No further installments will be collected in 2011 and years thereafter. 

In addition, PPL shall receive from the City of Eau Claire an annual payment equal to 50% of the property 
taxes received by the City each year on the incremental increased assessed value of the Phase I property 
and improvements. In calculating the amount due to PPL, the incremental increased fair market value of the 
Phase I property shall be reduced by the $600,000 purchase price discussed above. Also, the 50% of the tax 
increments due to PPL shall be reduced each year by the amount corresponding to the Redevelopment Land 
Credit discussed above. PPL shall receive 50% of the tax increments on the Phase I property until they have 
received a maximum $900,000 payment, or until the termination of the District, whichever occurs first. 

Business Improvement Districts 

a. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

The business improvement districts prepare their financial statements in accordance with the modified 
accrual basis of accounting. The measurement focus of the BIDs is the flow of current financial resources 
concept. Under this concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt 
proceeds and debt retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures 
and commitments of the current period are recognized as deferred revenue or a reservation of fund equity. 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

I. COMPONENT UNITS (cont.) 

Business Improvement Districts (cont.) 

b. Deposits and Investments 

The BIDs are part of the City of Eau Claire's cash and investment pool. The custodial credit risk pertaining 
specifically to the BIDs' resources at these institutions cannot be determined individually for those accounts. 
The City's investment policy is applied to the custody of the BIDs' deposits (see Note lilA). 

At year end, the deposit balances for the BIDs were as follows: 

Downtown $ 72,820 

West Grand $ 17,296 

Water Street $ 46,857 

North BarstowlMedical $ 181,149 

J. TAX INCREMENTAL FINANCING DISTRICTS 

The City currently maintains separate debt service and capital projects funds which account for five Tax 
Incremental Financing Districts (TIF) created in prior years in accordance with Section 66.1105 of the 
Wisconsin Statutes. The purpose of that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and 
improvements costs in a designated area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the 
property after the creation date of the District. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. The 
statutes allow the municipality to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully recovered, or 
until 23 years after the creation date, whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected at the dissolution date 
are absorbed by the City of Eau Claire. 

Debt service and capital project funds are maintained to account for tax increment and other revenues used 
to finance principal and interest payments on outstanding debt applicable to the districts. 

Effective Amended Expenditure Termination 
Date Date Deadline Year 

TIF NO.5 1997 09/23/2003 09/23/2015 10108/2020 
TIF NO.6 1997 NIA 01/28/2015 01/28/2020 
TIF NO.7 1997 02/24/2004 02/24/2015 03/17/2020 
TIF NO.8 2003 04/10/2007 09/24/2020 09/24/2025 
TIF NO.9 2008 NIA 09/09/2023 09/09/2028 
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NOTE 111- DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.) 

J. TAX INCREMENTAL FINANCING DISTRICTS (cont.) 

Upon termination, the incremental tax base created by each TIF will become part of the City's regular tax 
base. Any surplus remaining in the TIF fund at the time of termination will be allocated among all affected 
taxing jurisdictions. 

The following table summarizes the project and expenditures from creation of the districts through 
December 31,2009. 

Project Costs TIF NO.5 TIF No.6 TIF NO.7 TIF NO.8 TIF NO.9 

Capital expenditures $ 5,551,981 $ 1,130,256 $ 1,557,040 $ 8,818,831 $ 
Interest and fiscal charges 2,148,118 604,445 975,152 2,034,696 
Development, Marketing, Bond 
issuance costs 1,000 
Total Project Costs 7,700,099 1,734,701 2,532,192 10,853,527 1,000 

Project Revenues 

Tax increments 3,849,338 1,718,612 887,485 1,457,582 
Interest income and misc. revenue 976,487 238,462 355,534 879,450 
Grants and donations 433,070 
Special assessments revenue 227,679 
Total Project Revenues 4,825,825 2,184,753 1,243,019 2,770,102 

Net Recoverable Costs 
(Refundable) $ 2,874,274 $ (450,052) $ 1,289,173 $ 8,083,425 $ 1,000 

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION 

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

All eligible City employees participate in the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS), a cost-sharing, multiple
employer, defined benefit, public employee retirement system. All permanent employees expected to work at 
least 600 hours a year are eligible to participate in the WRS. Covered employees in the General category are 
required by statute to contribute 5.9% of their salary (3.0% for Executives and Elected Officials, 5.0% for 
Protective Occupations with Social Security, and 3.2% for Protective Occupations without Social Security) to 
the plan. Employers may make these contributions to the plan on behalf of employees. Employers are 
required to contribute an actuarially determined amount necessary to fund the remaining projected cost of 
future benefits. 

The payroll for City employees covered by the WRS for the year ended December 31, 2009 was 
$32,584,361; the employer's total payroll was $33,735,650. The total required contribution for the year ended 
December 31,2009 was $4,414,455 or 13.5% of covered payroll. Of this amount, 100% was contributed by 
the employer for the current year. Total contributions for the years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007 were 
$4,874,226 and $4,805,124, respectively, equal to the required contributions for each year. 
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.) 

Employees who retire at or after age 65 (62 for elected officials, 54 for protective occupation employees with 
less than 25 years of service, and 53 for protective occupation employees with more than 25 years of service) 
are entitled to receive a retirement benefit. Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation 
employees) and receive actuarially reduced benefits. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average 
earnings, (2) years of creditable service, and (3) a formula factor. Final average earnings is the average of 
the employee's three highest years' earnings. Employees terminating covered employment before becoming 
eligible for a retirement benefit may withdraw their contributions and, by dOing so, forfeit all rights to any 
subsequent benefit. For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990 and no longer actively 
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a 
retirement annuity. PartiCipants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998 are immediately vested. 

The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees. Eligibility and the amount of all benefits is 
determined under Chapter 40 of Wisconsin Statutes. The WRS issues an annual financial report which may 
be obtained by writing to the Department of Employee Trust Funds, P.O. Box 7931, Madison, WI 53707-
7931. 

In addition to the above mentioned retirement system, the State of Wisconsin administers an agent multiple
employer plan which covers 14 retired employees of the City police and fire departments. These individuals 
were covered by a private pension plan prior to the City joining the system. No new employees are added to 
the plan. The City's policy is to fund retirement contributions to meet current benefit payments of these retired 
employees (i.e. "pay as you go"). Contributions are not actuarially determined. The total cost for 2009 was 
approximately $69,176. Total estimated unfunded pension-related debt of this plan is approximately $363,290 
as of December 31, 2009, all of which relates to retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits. Total 
cost for the year ended December 31,2008 and 2007 was $74,832 and $99,434, respectively, equal to 
required contributions for each year. The rate of investment return is presently assumed to be 8%. The 
estimated remaining period of amortization is 16 years. This information is included in the above pension 
plan. The report can be obtained from the same address above. 

The Wisconsin Retirement System also manages a duty disability plan under Section 40.65 of the Wisconsin 
Statutes. This plan pays lifetime disability benefits to police and fire employees who sustain on-the-job injuries 
that prevent them from continuing employment. The costs of this program are charged to the City as a 
percentage of current police and fire wages. In 2009, 15 former employees participated in the program at a 
cost of $657,130. The estimated present value of future costs for this program is $3,632,411. 

Under an earlier provision of the law, employers were directly responsible for the administration of duty 
disability payments. During 2009, three former employees were paid a total of $27,980. The estimated 
present value of future costs of these benefits is $241,527. 
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

B. RISK MANAGEMENT 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; workers compensation; health care of its employees, and natural disaster. The City 
purchases commercial insurance to provide coverage for employee health, property damage, and boiler 
insurance. However, workers compensation risks are accounted for and financed by an internal service fund 
- the Risk Management fund. 

Self Insurance 

For workers' compensation claims, the uninsured risk of loss is $400,000 per incident. The City has 
purchased excess insurance from WMMIC for claims in excess of those amounts. Settled claims have not 
exceeded the excess coverage in any of the past three years. 

All funds of the City participate in the insurance program and make payments to the Risk Management fund. 
Amounts payable to the Risk Management fund are based on historical cost estimates of the amounts 
necessary to pay prior and current year claims. 

The unpaid claims liability of $1,873,591 at December 31,2009 is based on GASB Statement No. 10 which 
requires that a liability for claims be established if information indicates that it is probable that a liability has 
been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. The 
liability is based on actuarial estimates of the present value of unpaid losses and includes both current claims 
payable and an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported. The City does not allocate 
overhead costs or other nonincremental costs to the claims liability. The liability at year end includes 
$1,065,390 of potential workers compensation claims and $808,201 for potential liability claims. Changes in 
unpaid claims liabilities in the current and prior year were: 

Claims Liability 

Unpaid claims - Beginning of Year 
Current year claims and changes in estimates 
Claim payments 

Unpaid Claims - End of Year 

Public Entity Risk Pool 

Prior Year 

$ 1,825,540 
1,223,375 
{957,499) 

$ 2,091,416 

Transit Mutual Insurance Corporation of Wisconsin (TMICOW) 

Current Year 

$ 2,091,416 
909,227 

{1,127,052) 

$ 1,873,591 

The Transit Mutual Insurance Corporation of Wisconsin is an organization of Wisconsin municipalities which 
have joined together for the managing and funding of the first party property losses, vehicle physical damage 
and third party liability claims of its member municipalities' mass transit funds. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

B. RISK MANAGEMENT (cont.) 

Public Entity Risk Pool (cont.) 

Transit Mutual Insurance Corporation of Wisconsin (TMICOW) (cont.) 

In 2009, TMICOW issued a Motor Vehicle Insurance Policy to its members with the following available 
coverages: 

> Liability - $250,000 per person, $7,000,000 per accident, no deductible 
> Uninsured Motorists - $25,000 per person, $50,000 per accident, no deductible 
> Physical Damage - Collision and Comprehensive - Agreed value, or Cost of Repairs, whichever is 

less; minus $500 flat deductible per accident for all private passenger and service units, $1,000 flat 
deductible per accident for all bus units 

TMICOW retains $2,000,000 per occurrence (accident) of the liability limit and cedes $5,000,000 to General 
Reinsurance Corporation. TMICOW retains $500,000 per occurrence (accident) of the physical damage limits 
and cedes the balance up to $9,500,000 to General Reinsurance Corporation. 

Management consists of a board of directors comprised of one representative for each member. The City 
does not exercise any control over the activities of the agency beyond its representation on the board of 
directors. 

Initial contributions are determined in advance of each membership year. The board of directors may require 
that supplemental contributions be made by members to ensure adequate funds are available to meet the 
obligations applicable to the membership year. Members have a contractual obligation to fund any deficit 
attributable to a membership year during which they were a member. The City's share of the insurance pool is 
2.80% for auto liability and 6.65% for physical damage. A list of the other members is available in the 
TMICOW report. 

Wisconsin Municipal Mutual Insurance Company (WMMIC) 

The Wisconsin Municipal Mutual Insurance Company (WMMIC) is an intergovernmental cooperation 
commission created by contract under Section 66.30 of the Wisconsin Statutes, which has provided risk 
management and liability insurance services since January 1, 1988. Each member municipality appoints one 
policy holder to serve as a representative. The policy holders elect a seven member board of directors who 
are responsible for financing and budget control. The City does not exercise any control over the activities of 
the agencies beyond the election of officers and board. The City's initial capitalization of $766,496 is recorded 
as an asset in the Risk Management internal service fund. 

Insurance coverage provided through WMMIC includes auto and public liability for claims over $100,000 per 
occurrence or $300,000 aggregate for years 1988-94 and $200,000 per occurrence or $500,000 aggregate 
for years 1995-97, and $200,000 per occurrence or $400,000 aggregate in 1999 through 2009, with an 
annual cap of $5 million. The policy is non-assessable, thereby limiting the City's commitment to a 
proportional share of a $13,935,000 revenue bond issue sold by WMMIC to provide for the initial 
capitalization. The share of participation is determined on a basis of prior claim history and can be affected by 
acceptance of new members. The City's current share of participation is 3.52%. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Funding for the operating budget of the City comes from many sources, including property taxes, grants and 
aids from other units of government, user fees, fines and permits, and other miscellaneous revenues. The 
State of Wisconsin provides a variety of aid and grant programs which benefit the City. Those aid and grant 
programs are dependent on continued approval and funding by the Wisconsin governor and legislature, 
through their budget processes. The State of Wisconsin is currently experiencing budget problems, and is 
considering numerous alternatives including reducing aid to local governments. Any changes made by the 
State to funding or eligibility of local aid programs could have a significant impact on the future operating 
results of the City. 

From time to time, the City is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the outcome of 
such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the City Attorney that 
the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the City's 
financial position or results of operations. 

The City has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by 
the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor agency for 
expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such disallowances, if any, would 
be immaterial. 

At December 31,2009, the City had contracts for construction projects on which work had not been 
completed or billed. These commitments are normal ongoing construction including maintenance of streets, 
storm sewers, and utility mains. They also include major equipment ordered but not delivered. No 
reservations of retained earnings have been made for the proprietary fund amounts. 

Capital Projects 
TIF NO.5 Gateway NW Business Park 
Street Projects 
Bridge Projects 
Buildings and Equipment 
Parks and Recreation Projects 
Environmental Improvements - Landfill 
Library Buildings and Equipment 

Total Committed Construction 

Water Utility 
Sewer Utility 

Proprietary Funds 

Storm Water Utility 
Public Transit 
Hobbs Ice Center 
Central Equipment 

Total Committed Construction and Equipment 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

238,776 
558,874 

48,716 
169,246 
26,697 
2,689 

15,294 

1,060,292 

176,119 
809,874 

4,677 
1,889,785 

221,517 
731,478 

3,833,450 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

D. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 

The City administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan. The plan provides medical benefits 
for eligible retirees and their spouses through the City's health insurance plan which covers both active and 
retired members. Benefit provisions are established through collective bargaining agreements; generally, the 
City will pay 100% of the lowest-priced single health policy between the age established by the Wisconsin 
Retirement System as normal retirement age and age 65. The plan does not issue a publicly available 
financial report. 

Contribution requirements are established through collective bargaining agreements and may be amended 
only through negotiations between the City and the union. The City makes the same monthly health insurance 
contribution on behalf of the retiree as it makes on behalf of all other active employees during that year. For 
fiscal year 2009, the City contributed approximately $2,400,000 to the plan for eligible retirees and their 
spouses. Administrative costs of the plan are financed through investment earnings. 

The City's annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual 
required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with 
parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing 
basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding 
excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. The following table shows the components of the City's 
annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the City's net 
OPEB obligation to the Retiree Health Plan: 

Annual required contribution 
Interest on net OPEB obligation 
Adjustment to annual required contribution 

Annual OPEB cost 
Contributions made 

Increase in Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) 

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) - Beginning of Year 

Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) - End of Year 

$ 

$ 

4,009,543 
64,382 

(1,147,080) 

2,926,845 
(2,400,000) 

526,845 

2,667,123 

3,193,968 

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB 
obligation for 2009 were as follows: 

Percentage 
Annual of Annual 
OPEB OPEB Cost Net OPEB 

Fiscal Year Ended Cost Contributed Obligation 

12/31/08 $ 4,010,000 33.49% $ 2,667,123 
12/31/09 2,926,845 82.00% 3,193,968 

108 

129



CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

D. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (cont.) 

The funded status of the plans as of January 1, 2010, the most recent actuarial valuation date, was as 
follows: 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) 
Actuarial value of plan assets 

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) 

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 

Covered payroll (active plan members) 

UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 

$ 48,935,923 

$ 48,935,923 

0% 

$ 32,584,361 

150.2% 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates for the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the 
plan and annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding 
progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, 
presents multiyear trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan is 
understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of 
each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employer and plan members to 
that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce 
short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term 
perspective of the calculations. 

In the actuarial valuation, the unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial assumptions include a 
4% investment rate of return and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 9.3% initially, reduced by 
decrements to an ultimate rate of 4.4% after 55 years. The plan's unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being 
amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open basis. The remaining amortization period at 
December 31, 2009 was 28 years. 

E. CONTINGENT LiABILITIES 

The City had the usual and customary types of miscellaneous claims pending at year end. At the present 
time, there is one significant matter pending. A City taxpayer has contested the valuation of manufacturing 
property for tax years 2003 and 2004. The matter is currently before the Wisconsin Supreme Court. The 
taxpayer is located in TIF #5. If the taxpayer is successful in contesting the valuation, the impact on the City's 
TIF may be significant, as the repayment of any taxes found to be excessive will be borne entirely by the TIF 
and not shared with local taxing authorities. There are potentially additional revenue losses for assessment 
years subsequent to 2004. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2009 

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

E. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (cont.) 

The City owned and operated a landfill in the Town of Union which closed in 1978. Tests have detected 
volatile organic compounds in the vicinity. The City is currently working with other potentially responsible 
parties (PRP's) and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources to determine the extent of 
contamination and the appropriate remedial action. Ultimate cleanup cost estimates are not available; 
however, it is expected to exceed several million dollars. The City's share of these costs has not been 
determined but it is likely that it will share in these costs. 

F. RELATED PARTIES 

Gateway Industrial Park Corporation (Gateway), a Wisconsin non-stock, non-profit corporation was organized 
in 1984 for the purpose of acquiring, owning, and developing industrial and commercial property in Eau Claire 
County. The Board of Directors of Gateway is comprised of three members who serve indefinite terms and 
exercise equal control over the management of the company. The City, Xcel, and the Eau Claire Area 
Industrial Development Corporation each appoint one director. 

In April, 1991, the City, Xcel, the Industrial Development Corporation, and Gateway signed an agreement to 
provide Gateway with loans up to $960,000 (increased to $3,000,000 in 1995) for the acquisition and 
development of industrial property. As of December 31, 2009, the outstanding loans under the agreement 
were $1,100,000, of which $550,000 was due the City. Total interest earned by the City was $39,875 for the 
year ended December 31,2009. 

Downtown Eau Claire, Incorporated (DECI), a Wisconsin non-stock, non-profit corporation was organized in 
2002 for the purpose of promoting the development of business, housing and cultural resources and activities 
with downtown Eau Claire. The Board of Directors of the corporation consists.of eighteen individuals, of which 
ten are elected directors and eight are perpetual directors. Four of the elected directors represent downtown 
and the adjacent neighborhoods and six of the elected directors reflect the diverse balance of downtown's 
major employers, financial institutions, property owners, business, and non-business activities. 

The eight perpetual directors consist of representatives or appointees of the following: Eau Claire City 
Manager, Eau Claire City Council President, Redevelopment Authority, Eau Claire County Board, Downtown 
Business Improvement District, West Grand Business Improvement District, Regional Arts Council and Eau 
Claire City Council. Downtown Eau Claire, Incorporated is funded primarily by memberships and festival 
revenue. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2009 

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.) 

G. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The City Council has approved various bonds for issuance in 2010. As of the date of these financial 
statements, none of these have been issued; however, the City has the following bonds in process and 
scheduled to close on July 27,2010: 

> Series 2010A for $3,210,000 to fund various City projects (to be issued as taxable Build America 

Bonds) 
> Series 201 OB for $3,975,000 to fund various City projects (to be issued as ten-year Promissory 

Notes) 
> Series 201 OC for $4,685,000 to refund a series of outstanding general obligation debt issues 

H. EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON CURRENT-PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved GASB Statement No. 51, Accounting 
and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets, Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Derivative Instruments, and Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions. Application of these standards may restate portions of these financial statements. 
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Nonmajor Funds - Governmental 

Special Revenue Funds 

The Cemetery Maintenance fund was crea.ted to account for the 
complete operation of two City-owned cemeteries, Lakeview and 
Forest Hill. 

The Hazardous Materials Response fund accounts for a 5-year 
grant from the State of Wisconsin to provide emergency response to 
incidents involving hazardous materials within a 16 county area of 
Northwestern Wisconsin. 

The Community Development fund accounts for activities attributed 
to the federal Community Development Block Grant program. 

The Home Grant fund accounts for grants designated for affordable 
housing development, including weatherization, new construction, 
rental assistance, and down payment assistance. 

The Economic Development fund accounts for the financial activities 
of a loan pool established to provide low interest loans for business 
expansion. It also accounts for promotional activity to encourage area 
economic growth. 

The Community Enhancement fund accounts for collection and 
disbursement of hotel/motel room taxes, which are used for projects 
to encourage tourism and increase convention business. 

The Public Library fund accounts for the collection of revenues, 
primarily a general tax levy set by the city council and the library 
board, and the operations of the L.E. Phillips Public Library. 

The City-County Health Department fund accounts for the collection 
of revenues, primarily a general tax levy set by the city council and 
the county board, and for the operations of the City-County Health 
Department for county-wide health services. 

The Downtown Partners Fund was created in 2002 as the day-to
day operating fund for Downtown Eau Claire, Inc. (DECI). DECI is the 
lead organization for issues relating to downtown and is governed by 
an eighteen member board. 

The Former Landfill Escrow fund accounts for funds contributed by 
potential responsible parties (PRP) for an investigation, feasibility 
study, and possible cleanup operation of the former Blue Valley 
Landfill site and surrounding area. 
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Nonmajor Funds - Governmental (cont.) 

Debt Service Funds 

The Debt Service - TIF #6 fund accounts for debt funded by taxes 
resulting from the incremental property values in a defined area on 
the City's northeast side. This district was created in 1997. 

The Debt Service - TIF #7 fund accounts for debt funded by taxes 
resulting from the incremental property values in the downtown area 
on the site of the former Soo Line depot, as well as City-owned 
property on Railroad Street, part of Doty Street, and the L.E. Philips 
Memorial Public Library. This district was created in 1997. 

Capital Projects Funds 

The TIF #5 Gateway Northwest Business Park fund accounts for 
improvements to the industrial development area north and west of 
the Gateway West Business Park. 

The TIF #8 Downtown Development Area fund accounts for 
acquisition and infrastructure improvements in the North Barstow 
Redevelopment District. 

The TIF #9 Gateway Northwest Business Park Overlay fund 
accounts for improvements to the industrial development area on the 
city's west side, including undeveloped sections of TIF #5. 

The Street Projects fund accounts for construction and rebuilding of 
city streets and purchase of land for future street right-of-way. 

The Bridge Projects fund accounts for construction and major 
upgrades of City-owned bridges. 

The Buildings and Equipment fund accounts for acquisition of land 
for public projects, construction or renovation of City-owned buildings, 
and major equipment purchases. 

The Parks and Recreation Projects fund accounts for improvements 
to parks, stadiums, recreational fields, playgrounds, waterways, and 
trails. 

The Environmental Improvements - Landfill fund accounts for 
development and implementation of a plan to limit environmental 
damage from two former landfill sites. 

The Library Buildings and Equipment fund accounts for library 
building improvements and equipment purchases. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

December 31, 2009 

Nonmajor Nonmajor Nonmajor 
Special Debt Capital 

Revenue Service Projects 
Funds Funds Funds Totals 

ASSETS 
Cash and investments $ 4,938,381 $ 1,290,882 $ 23,373,578 $ 29,602,841 
Receivables 

Taxes 4,511,650 392,344 1,067,309 5,971,303 
Accounts 626,007 282,362 908,369 
Notes 6,642,515 6,642,515 

Prepaid items 65,766 65,766 
Due from other governments 226,221 113,962 340,183 
Advances to other funds 400,000 1,000,000 1,400,000 
Restricted assets 

Revolving loan sequestered funds 243,200 243,200 

Construction account 1,430,818 1,430,818 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 17,653,740 $ 1,683,226 $ 27,268,029 $ 46,604,995 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable $ 229,734 $ - $ 1,621,537 $ 1,851,271 
Accrued liabilities 149,409 149,409 
Deposits 52,704 74,500 127,204 
Due to other governments 42,750 22,663 65,413 
Due to other funds 207,862 1,000 208,862 
Due to component unit 15,802 15,802 
Deferred revenues 11,410,307 392,344 1,173,361 12,976,012 

Advances from other funds 3,238,700 3,238,700 

Total Liabilities 12,108,568 392,344 6,131,761 18,632,673 

FUND BALANCES 
Reserved 
Prepaid items 65,766 65,766 
Advances to other funds (noncurrent portion) 400,000 1,000,000 1,400,000 
Grant proceeds 471,838 471,838 
Debt service 1,290,882 1,290,882 
Capital contracts 1,060,292 1,060,292 
Environmental remediation 360,940 360,940 
Bond construction 1,430,818 1,430,818 

Unreserved, designated 
Economic development 950,000 950,000 
Library funds 94,636 94,636 
Subsequent year expenditures 3,441,932 19,418,644 22,860,576 
Loft matching program 11,000 11,000 
Downtown facade loans 10,000 10,000 
Code compliance loans 100,000 100,000 

Unreserved, undesignated (deficit) {2,134,426) {2,134,426) 

Total Fund Balances 5,545,172 1,290,882 21,136,268 27,972,322 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 17,653,740 $ 1,683,226 $ 27,268,029 $ 46,604,995 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
For the Year Ended December 31,2009 

Nonmajor Nonmajor Nonmajor 
Special Debt Capital 

Revenue Service Projects 
Funds Funds Funds Totals 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ 5,655,577 $ 368,154 $ 892,561 $ 6,916,292 
Special assessments 42,484 10,981 53,465 
Intergovernmental 2,669,542 1,666 495,936 3,167,144 
Licenses and permits 352,299 352,299 
Fines and forfeitures 121,296 121,296 
Charges for services - public 411,407 411,407 
Charges for services -

intergovernmental 1,912,676 1,912,676 
Investment income 96,301 3,356 268,459 368,116 
Miscellaneous 

Loan repayments 488,920 488,920 
Building rental 65,863 65,863 
Gifts and donations 68,778 782,125 850,903 
Other 248,173 459,773 707,946 

Total Revenues 12,133,316 384,157 2,898,854 15,416,327 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

General government 200 200 
Public safety 183,647 183,647 
Public works 107,734 82,425 190,159 
Health services 4,958,705 4,958,705 
Culture and recreation 3,563,854 1,440 3,565,294 
Development 3,096,424 3,096,424 

Capital Outlay 148,643 9,536,244 9,684,887 
Debt Service 

Principal retirement 175,000 775,000 950,000 
Interest and fiscal charges 88,218 578,202 666,420 

Total Expenditures 12,059,007 263,418 10,973,311 23,295,736 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
For the Year Ended December 31,2009 

Nonmajor 
Special 

Revenue 
Funds 

Nonmajor 
Debt 

Service 
Funds 

Nonmajor 
Capital 
Projects 
Funds 

over expenditures $ 74,309 $ 120,739 $ (8,074,457) $ 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Long term debt issued 7,268,000 
Discount on long term debt issued (47,692) 
Transfers from other funds 794,229 83,033 3,066,079 
Transfers to other funds (1,196,410) (2,804,733) 
Sale of capital assets 528 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (401,653) 83,033 7,481,654 

Net changes in fund balances (327,344) 203,772 (592,803) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 5,872,516 1,087,110 21,729,071 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 5,545,172 $ 1,290,882 $ 21,136,268 $ 
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Totals 

(7,879,409) 

7,268,000 
(47,692) 

3,943,341 
(4,001,143) 

528 

7,163,034 

(716,375) 

28,688,697 

27,972,322 
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ASSETS 
Cash and investments 
Receivables 

Taxes 
Accounts 
Notes 

Prepaid items 
Due from other governments 
Advances to other funds 
Restricted Assets 

Revolving loan sequestered funds 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 
Deposits 
Due to other governments 
Due to other funds 
Due to component unit 
Deferred revenues 

Total Liabilities 

FUND BALANCES 
Reserved 
Prepaid items 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

December 31, 2009 

Hazardous 

Cemetery Materials 
Maintenance Res~onse 

$ 97,242 $ 208,194 

7,011 13,737 

$ 104,253 $ 221,931 

$ 5,050 $ 1,011 
5,050 

7,011 13,737 

17,111 14,748 

Advances to other funds (noncurrent portion) 
Grant proceeds 

Unreserved, designated 
Economic development 
Library funds 
Subsequent year expenditures 87,142 207,183 
Loft matching program 
Downtown facade loans 
Code compliance loans 
Total Fund Balances 87,142 207,183 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 104,253 $ 221,931 
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Community Home 
Develo~ment Grant 

$ 153,424 $ 

2,752,043 1,975,024 

41,782 66,408 

$ 2,947,249 $ 2,041,432 

$ 26,004 $ 1,355 
766 217 

1,740 
51,002 

13,388 2,414 
2,752,043 1,975,024 

2,793,941 2,030,012 

11,420 

153,308 

153,308 11,420 

$ 2,947,249 $ 2,041,432 
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City-County Former 

Economic Community Public Health Downtown Landfill 
Development Enhancement Library Department Partners Escrow Totals 

$ 2,965,111 $ - $ 779,554 $ 674,135 $ 45,131 $ 15,590 $ 4,938,381 

2,833,500 1,678,150 4,511,650 
137,953 336,333 92,343 38,630 626,007 

1,900,865 14,583 6,642,515 
65,766 65,766 

118,031 226,221 
400,000 400,000 

243,200 243,200 

$ 5,509,176 $ 152,536 $ 3,949,387 $ 2,628,425 $ 45,131 $ 54,220 $ 17,653,740 

$ 5,590 $ - $ 74,393 $ 98,175 $ 92 $ 18,064 $ 229,734 
7,303 67,065 65,675 3,333 149,409 

16,548 36,156 52,704 
32 40,978 42,750 

137,742 9,795 9,323 207,862 
15,802 

1,900,865 14,583 3,068,894 1,678,150 11,410,307 

1,913,758 152,325 3,220,179 1,908,849 3,425 54,220 12,108,568 

65,766 65,766 
400,000 400,000 
428,582 31,836 471,838 

950,000 950,000 
94,636 94,636 

1,706,836 211 634,572 621,974 30,706 3,441,932 
11,000 11,000 

10,000 10,000 
100,000 100,000 

3,595,418 211 729,208 719,576 41,706 5,545,172 

$ 5,509,176 $ 152,536 $ 3,949,387 $ 2,628,425 $ 45,131 $ 54,220 $ 17,653,740 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES 

NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

Hazardous 
Cemetery Materials Community Home 

Maintenance Res~onse Develo~ment Grant 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ -

Special assessments 
Intergovernmental 178,263 774,491 548,346 
Licenses and permits 
Fines and forfeitures 
Charges for services - public 156,346 2,117 
Charges for services -

intergovernmental 
Investment income 1,760 
Miscellaneous 

Loan repayments 251,820 917 
Building rental 
Gifts and donations 
Other 

Total Revenues 156,346 182,140 1,026,311 549,263 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Public safety 183,647 
Public works 
Health services 402,297 
Culture and recreation 
Development 596,939 557,833 

Capital Outlay 142,522 

Total Expenditures 402,297 183,647 739,461 557,833 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (245,951) (1,507) 286,850 (8,570) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers from other funds 245,951 
Transfers to other funds (31,300) (3,779) (368,326) 
Sale of capital assets 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 214,651 (3,779) (368,326) 

Net change in fund balances (31,300) (5,286) (81,476) (8,570) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 118,442 212,469 234,784 19,990 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 87,142 $ 207,183 $ 153,308 $ 11,420 
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Economic 
Develo~ment 

$ 

93,741 

236,183 
65,863 

230 
396,017 

929,779 

929,779 

(533,762) 

404,400 
(85,000) 

319,400 

(214,362) 

3,809,780 

$ 3,595,418 
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City-County Former 
Community Public Health Downtown Landfill 

Enhancement Library Department Partners Escrow Totals 

$ 1,174,077 $ 2,825,000 $ 1,656,500 $ - $ - $ 5,655,577 
42,484 42,484 

1,189 1,167,253 2,669,542 
352,299 352,299 

121,296 121,296 
5,119 140,091 107,734 411,407 

671,239 1,241,437 1,912,676 
800 96,301 

488,920 
65,863 

30,578 38,200 68,778 
15 247,928 248,173 

1,174,092 3,903,149 4,600,064 38,200 107,734 12,133,316 

183,647 
107,734 107,734 

4,556,408 4,958,705 
3,563,854 3,563,854 

868,403 143,470 3,096,424 
6,121 148,643 

868,403 3,569,975 4,556,408 143,470 107,734 12,059,007 

305,689 333,174 43,656 (105,270) 74,309 

58,878 85,000 794,229 
(328,600) (349,983) (29,422) (1,196,410) 

528 528 

(328,600) (349,455) 29,456 85,000 (401,653) 

(22,911 ) (16,281) 73,112 (20,270) (327,344) 

23,122 745,489 646,464 61,976 5,872,516 

$ 211 $ 729,208 $ 719,576 $ 41,706 $ - $ 5,545,172 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 

December 31, 2009 

Debt Debt 
Service - Service -
TIF No.6 TIF No.7 Totals 

ASSETS 
Cash and investments $ 1,240,055 $ 50,827 $ 1,290,882 
Receivables 

Taxes 248,081 144,263 392,344 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,488,136 $ 195,090 $ 1,683,226 

LIABILITIES 
Deferred revenues $ 248,081 $ 144,263 $ 392,344 

Total Liabilities 248,081 144,263 392,344 

FUND BALANCES 
Reserved 

Debt service 1,240,055 50,827 1,290,882 

Total Fund Balances 1,240,055 50,827 1,290,882 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 1,488,136 $ 195,090 $ 1,683,226 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES 

NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

Debt Debt 
Service - Service -
TIF NO.6 TIF NO.7 Totals 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ 236,174 $ 131,980 $ 368,154 
Special assessments 10,981 10,981 
Intergovernmental 1,120 546 1,666 
Miscellaneous 

Investment income 3,278 78 3,356 

Total Revenues 251,553 132,604 384,157 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 
General government 100 100 200 

Debt Service 
Principal retirement 65,000 110,000 175,000 

Interest and fiscal charges 33,508 54,710 88,218 

Total Expenditures 98,608 164,810 263,418 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 152,945 (32,206) 120,739 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 

Transfers from other funds 83,033 83,033 

Net change in fund balances 152,945 50,827 203,772 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 1,087,110 1,087,110 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 1,240,055 $ 50,827 $ 1,290,882 
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ASSETS 
Cash and investments 
Receivables 

Taxes 
Accounts 

Due from other governments 
Advances to other funds 
Restricted assets 

Construction account 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 
Deposits 
Due to other governments 
Due to otherfunds 
Deferred revenues 
Advances from other funds 

Total Liabilities 

FUND BALANCES 
Reserved 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 

December 31,2009 

TIF No.5 TIF No.8 
Gateway NW Downtown 
Business Park Development 

$ 2,852,904 $ 1,105,274 

518,867 498,863 

261,802 

$ 3,633,573 $ 1,604,137 

$ 201,317 $ -

22,663 

518,867 498,863 
3,238,700 

742,847 3,737,563 

Advances to other funds (noncurrent portion) 
Capital contracts 238,776 
Environmental remediation 
Bond construction 261,802 

Unreserved, designated 
Subsequent year expenditures 2,390,148 

Unreserved, undesignated (deficit) (2,133,426) 

Total Fund Balances 2,890,726 (2,133,426) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
FUND BALANCES $ 3,633,573 $ 1,604,137 
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TIF No.9 
Gateway NW 

Business Park Street 
Overlay Projects 

$ - $ 9,846,820 

49,579 
248,383 

1,000,000 

91,864 

$ 49,579 $ 11,187,067 

$ - $ 1,207,471 
74,500 

1,000 
49,579 

50,579 1,281,971 

1,000,000 
558,874 

91,864 

8,254,358 
(1,000) 

(1,000) 9,905,096 

$ 49,579 $ 11,187,067 
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Buildings Parks and Environmental Library 
Bridge and Recreation Improvements- Buildings & 

Projects Equipment Projects Landfill Equipment Totals 

$ 806,360 $ 4,397,887 $ 1,301,290 $ 2,239,601 $ 823,442 $ 23,373,578 

1,067,309 
27 33,952 282,362 

113,962 113,962 
1,000,000 

1,077,152 1,430,818 

$ 806,360 $ 5,589,001 $ 1,301,317 $ 2,239,601 $ 857,394 $ 27,268,029 

$ - $ 57,346 $ 74,716 $ - $ 80,687 $ 1,621,537 
74,500 
22,663 

1,000 
106,025 27 1,173,361 

3,238,700 

163,371 74,743 80,687 6,131,761 

1,000,000 
48,716 169,246 26,697 2,689 15,294 1,060,292 

360,940 360,940 
1,077,152 1,430,818 

757,644 4,179,232 1,199,877 1,875,972 761,413 19,418,644 
(2,134,426) 

806,360 5,425,630 1,226,574 2,239,601 776,707 21,136,268 

$ 806,360 $ 5,589,001 $ 1,301,317 $ 2,239,601 $ 857,394 $ 27,268,029 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES 

NON MAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 
For the Year Ended December 31,2009 

TIF NO.9 
TIF NO.5 TIF NO.7 TIF NO.8 Gateway NW 

Gateway NW Soo Line Downtown Business Park 
Business Park DeveloQment DeveloQment Overlay 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ 488,053 $ - $ 404,508 $ 
Intergovernmental 6,481 87,601 
Investment income 49,603 6,620 
Miscellaneous 
Gifts and donations 
Other 

Total Revenues 544,137 498,729 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 
Public works 
Culture and recreation 

Capital Outlay 350,978 6,777 
Debt Service 
Principal retirement 245,000 530,000 
Interest and fiscal charges 229,813 348,389 

Total Expenditures 825,791 885,166 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (281,654) (386,437) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
Long-term debt issued 
Discount on long-term debt issued 
Transfers from other funds 
Transfer to other funds {83,033) {2,721,700) 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) {83,033) {2,721,700) 

Net change in fund balances (281,654) (83,033) (3,108,137) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 3,172,380 83,033 974,711 P,OOO) 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 2,890,726 $ - $ (2,133,426) $ (1,000) 
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Buildings Parks and Environmental Library 
Street Bridge and Recreation Improvements- Buildings & 

Projects Projects Equipment Projects Landfill Equipment Totals 

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 892,561 
166,280 43,391 192,183 495,936 
135,086 6,430 32,700 8,250 19,170 10,600 268,459 

18,000 14,125 750,000 782,125 
266,973 66,403 91,220 35,177 459,773 

568,339 6,430 160,494 305,778 19,170 795,777 2,898,854 

22,425 60,000 82,425 
1,440 1,440 

5,570,502 14,532 1,935,936 231,545 4,357 1,421,617 9,536,244 

775,000 
578,202 

5,592,927 14,532 1,935,936 231,545 64,357 1,423,057 10,973,311 

(5,024,588) (8,102) (1,775,442) 74,233 (45,187) (627,280) (8,074,457) 

5,800,000 1,468,000 7,268,000 
(40,680) (7,012) (47,692) 

1,115,000 100,000 1,159,779 286,300 95,000 310,000 3,066,079 
{2,804,733) 

6,874,320 100,000 2,620,767 286,300 95,000 310,000 7,481,654 

1,849,732 91,898 845,325 360,533 49,813 (317,280) (592,803) 

8,055,364 714,462 4,580,305 866,041 2,189,788 1,093,987 21,729,071 

$ 9,905,096 $ 806,360 $ 5,425,630 $ 1,226,574 $ 2,239,601 $ 776,707 $ 21,136,268 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Cemetery Maintenance 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Charges for services - public $ 182,200 $ 182,200 $ 156,346 $ (25,854) $ 162,408 
Miscellaneous 
Gifts and donations 25 

Total Revenues 182,200 182,200 156,346 (25,854) 162,433 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Health services 434,800 434,800 402,297 32,503 394,865 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (252,600) (252,600) (245,951) 6,649 (232,432) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers from other funds 252,600 252,600 245,951 (6,649) 232,432 
Transfers to other funds (31,300) (31,300) (31,300) {24,000) 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 221,300 221,300 214,651 {6,649) 208,432 

Net change in fund balances (31,300) (31,300) (31,300) (24,000) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 118,442 118,442 118,442 142,442 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 87,142 $ 87,142 $ 87,142 $ - $ 118,442 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Hazardous Materials Response 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Intergovernmental $ 180,100 $ 180,100 $ 178,263 $ (1,837) $ 180,069 
Charges for services - public 3,000 3,000 2,117 (883) 
Investment income 1,000 1,000 1,760 760 6,550 

Total Revenues 184,100 184,100 182,140 (1,960) 186,619 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Public safety 258,400 258,400 183,647 74,753 194,007 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (74,300) (74,300) (1,507) 72,793 (7,388) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers to other funds (3,779) (3,779) 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,779) (3,779) 

Net change in fund balances (74,300) (74,300) (5,286) 69,014 (7,388) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 212,469 212,469 212,469 219,857 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 138,169 $ 138,169 $ 207,183 $ 69,014 $ 212,469 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Economic Development 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Investment income $ 171,500 $ 171,500 $ 93,741 $ (77,759) $ 195,829 
Miscellaneous 

Loan repayments 184,000 184,000 236,183 52,183 305,602 
Building rental 78,600 78,600 65,863 (12,737) 83,366 
Other 300 300 230 (70) 234 

Total Miscellaneous 434,400 434,400 396,017 (38,383) 585,031 

Total Revenues 434,400 434,400 396,017 (38,383) 585,031 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Development 587,300 987,300 929,779 57,521 834,814 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (152,900) (552,900) (533,762) 19,138 (249,783) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers from other funds 4,400 4,400 404,400 400,000 201,365 
Transfers to other funds (85,000) (85,000) (85,000) (85,000) 

Other Financing Sources (Uses) (80,600) (80,600) 319,400 400,000 116,365 

Net change in fund balances (233,500) (633,500) (214,362) 419,138 (133,418) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 3,809,780 3,809,780 3,809,780 3,943,198 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 3,576,280 $ 3,176,280 $ 3,595,418 $ 419,138 $ 3,809,780 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
ANDCHANGESINFUNDBALANCE~BUDGETANDACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Community Enhancement 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ 1,228,600 $ 1,228,600 $ 1,174,077 $ (54,523) $ 1,081,752 
Miscellaneous 

Loan repayments 2,083 
Other 15 15 

Total Revenues 1,228,600 1,228,615 1,174,092 (54,523) 1,083,835 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Development 899,300 899,315 868,403 30,912 796,343 

Excess of revenues over 
expenditures 329,300 329,300 305,689 (23,611 ) 287,492 

OTHER FINANCING USES 
Transfers from other funds 11,675 
Transfers to other funds (342,300) (342,300) (328,600) 13,700 (298,600) 

Total Other Financing Uses (342,300) (342,300) (328,600) 13,700 (286,925) 

Net change in fund balances (13,000) (13,000) (22,911 ) (9,911 ) 567 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 23,122 23,122 23,122 22,555 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 10,122 $ 10,122 $ 211 $ (9,911 ) $ 23,122 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Public Library 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 

Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ 2,825,000 $ 2,825,000 $ 2,825,000 $ - $ 2,757,900 
Intergovernmental 2,500 2,500 1,189 (1,311) 
Fines and forfeitures 133,400 133,400 121,296 (12,104) 130,962 
Charges for services - public 5,600 5,600 5,119 (481 ) 5,558 
Charges for services -

intergovernmental 656,300 656,300 671,239 14,939 663,588 
Investment income 800 800 2,710 
Miscellaneous 

Gifts and donations 16,000 16,000 30,578 14,578 24,262 
Other 258,100 258,100 247,928 (10,172) 233,144 

Total Miscellaneous 274,100 274,100 279,306 5,206 260,116 

Total Revenues 3,896,900 3,896,900 3,903,149 6,249 3,818,124 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Culture and recreation 3,809,800 3,812,300 3,563,854 248,446 3,570,162 
Capital Outlay 5,800 5,800 6,121 {321) 6,020 

Total expenditures 3,815,600 3,818,100 3,569,975 248,125 3,576,182 

Excess of revenues over 
expenditures 81,300 78,800 333,174 254,374 241,942 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers to other funds (350,000) (350,000) (349,983) 17 (55,900) 
Sale of capital assets 200 200 528 328 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (349,800) (349,800) (349,455) 345 {55,900) 

Net change in fund balances (268,500) (271,000) (16,281) 254,719 186,042 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 745,489 745,489 745,489 559,447 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 476,989 $ 474,489 $ 729,208 $ 254,719 $ 745,489 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31,2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

City-County Health Department 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 

Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ 1,656,500 $ 1,656,500 $ 1,656,500 $ - $ 1,608,600 
Special assessments 37,000 37,000 42,484 5,484 21,065 
Intergovernmental 956,400 1,476,000 1,167,253 (308,747) 1,028,324 
Licenses and permits 322,700 322,700 352,299 29,599 320,907 
Charges for services - public 171,200 171,200 140,091 (31,109) 145,179 
Charges for services -

intergovernmental 1,251,200 1,260,600 1,241,437 (19,163) 1,219,383 
Investment income 1,000 1,000 (1,000) 

Total Revenues 4,396,000 4,925,000 4,600,064 (324,936) 4,343,458 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Health services 4,601,400 5,130,400 4,556,408 573,992 4,418,905 

Excess of revenues 
over expenditures (205,400) (205,400) 43,656 249,056 (75,447) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers from other funds 61,800 61,800 58,878 (2,922) 62,207 
Transfers to other funds (29,400) (29,400) (29,422) (22) 

Total Other Financing Sources 32,400 32,400 29,456 (2,944) 62,207 

Net change in fund balances (173,000) (173,000) 73,112 246,112 (13,240) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 646,464 646,464 646,464 659,704 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 473,464 $ 473,464 $ 719,576 $ 246,112 $ 646,464 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31, 2008 

Downtown Partners 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Miscellaneous 

Gifts and donations $ 37,000 $ 38,200 $ 38,200 $ - $ 33,000 
Total Revenues 37,000 38,200 38,200 33,000 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Development 153,300 154,500 143,470 11,030 128,787 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (116,300) (116,300) (105,270) 11,030 (95,787) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
Transfers from other funds 85,000 85,000 85,000 85,000 

Net change in fund balances (31,300) (31,300) (20,270) 11,030 (10,787) 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 61,976 61,976 61,976 72,763 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 30,676 $ 30,676 $ 41,706 $ 11,030 $ 61,976 
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REVENUES 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Budgeted Amounts 

Original Final 

Former Landfill Escrow 

2009 

Actual 
Variance with 
Final Budget 

2008 

Actual 

Charges for services - public $ 150,000 $ 150,000 $ 107,734 $ (42,266) .0:..$ __ 7.:....:9,-,-,,6::...:4,-,-1 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 

Public works 150,000 150,000 107,734 42,266 79,641 

Net change in fund balances 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR ~$---~- ~$---~- ~$======~- ~$======~- ~$======= 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31,2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Debt Service - TIF NO.6 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Taxes 

Real and personal property $ 235,800 $ 235,800 $ 236,174 $ 374 $ 219,665 
Special assessments 11,000 11,000 10,981 (19) 10,981 
Intergovernmental 7,100 7,100 1,120 (5,980) 9,077 
Investment income 22,400 22,400 3,278 (19,122) 22,290 

Total Revenues 276,300 276,300 251,553 (24,747) 262,013 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 
General government 100 100 100 100 
Development 900 900 900 

Debt Service 
Principal retirement 65,000 65,000 65,000 60,000 
Interest and fiscal charges 58,500 58,500 33,508 24,992 49,465 

Total Expenditures 124,500 124,500 98,608 25,892 109,565 

Net change in fund balances 151,800 151,800 152,945 1,145 152,448 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 1,087,110 1,087,110 1,087,110 934,662 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 1,238,910 $ 1,238,910 $ 1,240,055 $ 1,145 $ 1,087,110 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (WITH ANNUAL BUDGETS) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 

With Comparative Actual Totals for the Year Ended December 31,2008 

Debt Service - TIF NO.7 

2009 2008 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 

Original Final Actual Final Budget Actual 

REVENUES 
Taxes 

Real and personal property $ 129,800 $ 129,800 $ 131,980 $ 2,180 $ 
Intergovernmental 6,400 6,400 546 (5,854) 
Investment income 1,300 1,300 78 (1,222) 

Total Revenues 137,500 137,500 132,604 (4,896) 

EXPENDITURES 
Current 
General government 1,200 1,200 100 1,100 

Debt Service 
Principal retirement 110,000 110,000 110,000 
Interest and fiscal charges 54,700 54,700 54,710 (10) 

Total Expenditures 165,900 165,900 164,810 1,090 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (28,400) (28,400) (32,206) (3,806) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
Transfers from other funds 83,033 83,033 

Net change in fund balances (28,400) (28,400) 50,827 79,227 

FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ (28,400) $ {28,400) $ 50,827 $ 79,227 $ 
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STATISTICAL SECTION 
(Unaudited) 

This part of the City of Eau Claire's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information 
as a context for understanding what the information is the financial statements, note disclosures, and 
required supplementary information says about the city's overall financial health. 

FINANCIAL TRENDS - TABLES 1-4 
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the city's financial 
performance and well-being have changed over time. 

REVENUE CAPACITY - TABLES 5-21 
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the city's most significant local 
revenue source, the property tax, as well as other significant revenue sources which include the 
water and sewer utility charges for services. 

DEBT CAPACITY - TABLES 22-28 
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the city's 
current levels of outstanding debt and the city's ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION - TABLES 29-30 
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the city's financial activities take place. 

OPERATING INFORMATION - TABLES 31-37 
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the city's financial report relates to the services the city provides and the activities it 
performs. 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive 
annual financial reports for the relevant year. The City implemented GASB Statement 34 in 2003; 
schedules presenting government-wide information include information beginning in that year. 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 11 
PROPERTY TAX RATES-

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

(Per $1,000 Assessed Valuation) 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

City Property Located in 
Eau Claire County (Eau Claire Area School District) 

City $6.286 $6.658 $6.070 $6.424 $6.422 $5.895 $6.006 $6.075 $5.767 $6.084 
Library 0.988 0.974 0.854 0.880 0.851 0.753 0.724 0.725 0.652 0.653 
Health 0.536 0.536 0.448 0.469 0.469 0.422 0.418 0.416 0.380 0.383 
Eau Claire School Dis!. 12.760 13.376 11.111 11.311 10.694 11.391 9.954 9.624 8.774 8.714 
Vocational District 1.858 1.950 1.762 1.838 1.817 1.593 1.620 1.634 1.511 1.535 
Eau Claire County 2.977 3.268 3.095 3.154 3.298 3.078 3.095 3.159 3.338 3.316 
State Forestry 0.212 0.223 0.194 0.204 0.213 0.196 0.189 0.183 0.163 0.165 

Gross Tax Rate 25.617 26.985 23.534 24.280 23.764 23.328 22.006 21.816 20.585 20.850 

Less State Credit 1.805 1.853 1.600 1.616 1.577 1.323 1.325 1.627 1.615 1.630 

Net Tax Rate $ 23.812 $ 25.132 $ 21.934 $ 22.664 $ 22.187 $ 22.005 $ 20.681 $ 20.189 $ 18.970 $ 19.220 

City Property Located in 
Eau Claire County (Altoona School District) 

City $5.994 $6.286 $6.070 $6.424 $6.422 $5.895 $6.006 $6.075 $5.767 $6.084 
Library 0.995 0.988 0.854 0.880 0.851 0.753 0.724 0.725 0.652 0.653 
Health 0.540 0.536 0.448 0.469 0.469 0.422 0.418 0.416 0.380 0.383 
Altoona School Dis!. 11.782 11.598 10.184 11.190 11.650 9.791 9.718 10.034 10.025 8.533 
Vocational District 1.754 1.858 1.762 1.838 1.817 1.593 1.620 1.634 1.511 1.535 
Eau Claire County 3.517 2.977 3.095 3.154 3.298 3.078 3.095 3.159 3.338 3.316 
State Forestry 0.204 0.212 0.194 0.204 0.213 0.196 0.189 0.183 0.163 0.165 

Gross Tax Rate 24.786 24.455 22.607 24.159 24.720 21.728 21.770 22.226 21.836 20.669 

Less State Credit 1.833 1.805 1.600 1.616 1.577 1.323 1.325 1.627 1.615 1.630 

Net Tax Rate $ 22.953 $ 22.650 $ 21.007 $ 22.543 $ 23.143 $ 20.405 $ 20.445 $ 20.599 $ 20.221 $ 19.039 

Source: City of Eau Claire Annual Program of Services 

(Continued) 

171 

159



CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 11 (cont.) 
PROPERTY TAX RATES -

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

(Per $1,000 Assessed Valuation) 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

City Property Located in 
Chippewa County (Eau Claire Area School District) 

City $6.286 $6.658 $6.070 $6.424 $6.422 $5.895 $6.006 $5.991 $5.819 $6.135 
Library 0.988 0.974 0.854 0.880 0.851 0.753 0.724 0.714 0.658 0.659 
Health 0.536 0.536 0.448 0.469 0.469 0.422 0.418 0.410 0.384 0.386 
Eau Claire School Dis!. 12.648 13.466 11.258 11.282 10.793 11.528 9.961 9.491 8.870 8.787 
Vocational District 1.841 1.963 1.801 1.833 1.834 1.612 1.621 1.611 1.524 1.549 
Chippewa County 3.773 4.197 3.673 3.652 3.840 3.438 3.408 3.270 3.080 3.044 
State Forestry 0.211 0.224 0.198 0.203 0.215 0.198 0.189 0.181 0.164 0.166 

Gross Tax Rate 26.283 28.018 24.302 24.743 24.424 23.846 22.327 21.668 20.499 20.726 

Less State Credit 1.825 1.759 1.606 1.631 1.578 1.318 1.313 1.583 1.547 1.586 

Net Tax Rate $ 24.458 $ 26.259 $ 22.696 $ 23.112 $ 22.846 $ 22.528 $21.014 $20.085 $18.952 $19.140 

City Property Located in 
Chippewa County (Chippewa Falls Area School District) 

City $5.994 $6.286 $6.070 $6.424 $6.422 $5.895 $6.006 $5.991 $5.819 $6.135 
Library 0.995 0.988 0.854 0.880 0.851 0.753 0.724 0.714 0.658 0.659 
Health 0.540 0.536 0.448 0.469 0.469 0.422 0.418 0.410 0.384 0.386 
Chippewa Falls School Dis!. 9.994 10.430 9.849 9.445 9.693 8.463 8.240 8.085 6.914 7.403 
Vocational District 1.787 1.841 1.801 1.833 1.834 1.612 1.621 1.611 1.524 1.548 
Chippewa County 3.816 3.773 3.673 3.652 3.840 3.438 3.408 3.270 3.080 3.044 
State Forestry 0.208 0.211 0.198 0.203 0.215 0.198 0.189 0.181 0.164 0.166 

Gross Tax Rate 23.334 24.065 22.893 22.906 23.324 20.781 20.606 20.262 18.543 19.341 

Less State Credit 1.957 1.825 1.606 1.631 1.578 1.318 1.313 1.583 1.547 1.586 

Net Tax Rate $ 21.377 $ 22.240 $ 21.287 $ 21.275 $ 21.746 $ 19.463 $19.293 $18.679 $16.996 $17.755 

Source: City of Eau Claire Annual Program of Services 

172 

160



Taxpayer 

Oakwood Hills Mall 
Hutchinson Technology, Inc. 
Keystone Corporation 
Marshfield Clinic 
Luther Hospital 
Nestle Foods 
Royal Credit Union 
Midelfort Clinic 
Menard Inc. 
Phillips Properties (1) 
Sam's Club - Walmart 
Dayton Hudson Corporation 

Principal Taxpayers total 

TOTAL CITY EQUALIZED VALUE 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 12 
PRINCIPAL TAXPAYERS 

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

2009 
Percentage of 

2009 Total 
Equalized 2009 Equalized 

Value Rank Value 

$ 71,139 1.65% 
39,486 2 0.91% 
38,444 3 0.89% 
32,597 4 0.76% 
32,158 5 0.75% 
25,365 6 0.59% 
22,780 7 0.53% 
21,773 8 0.50% 
20,950 9 0.49% 
17,092 10 0.40% 

$ 321,784 

$ 4,315,947 

2000 
Percentage of 

2000 Total 
Equalized 2000 Equalized 

Value Rank Value 

$ 41,085 1 1.52% 
26,296 4 0.97% 
29,041 3 1.07% 
16,602 7 0.61% 

16,614 6 0.61% 

32,141 2 1.19% 
12,896 10 0.48% 
14,114 9 0.52% 
17,751 5 0.66% 
15,589 8 0.58% 

$ 222,129 

$ 2,706,974 

(1) NOTE: Equalization is based on both Eau Claire and Chippewa Counties as of January 1 of the fiscal year listed. 

Sources: City of Eau Claire Assessor's Office, Clerk's Statement of Assessments, Statistical Report: 
Eau Claire and Chippewa Counties 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 13 
GROSS TAX LEVY BY TAXING ENTITY 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 

City $14,296 $15,750 $17,512 $18,915 $19,887 $21,081 $ 22,058 
TIF Districts 1,548 1,703 2,259 2,518 749 905 1,008 
Library 2,247 2,305 2,464 2,592 2,637 2,694 2,658 
Health 1,219 1,268 1,291 1,379 1,453 1,508 1,537 
Eau Claire School District 28,857 31,391 31,828 33,130 32,959 40,550 36,385 
Chippewa Falls School 

District 31 111 115 34 34 32 31 
Altoona School District 105 117 113 129 145 139 137 
Vocational District 4,223 4,615 5,088 5,410 5,629 5,699 5,951 
Eau Claire County 6,495 7,401 8,569 8,917 9,818 10,595 10,947 
Chippewa County 350 427 429 430 462 462 464 
State Forestry-

Eau Claire County 476 518 554 596 638 681 674 
State Forestry-
Chippewa County 20 23 24 25 28 29 27 

Total tax levy $59,867 $65,629 $70,246 $74,075 $74,439 $84,375 $ 81,877 

City percent of total levy 23.88% 24.00% 24.93% 25.53% 26.72% 24.98% 26.94% 

CHANGES IN PROPORTIONS - TAX LEVIES BY ENTITY 

2008 Tax Levy 

Vocational 
7.3% 

Eau Claire 
County 
15.4% 

Health 
1.8% 

City 
27.7% 

Other 
1.3% 

Library 
3.1% 

School 
Districts 
42.1% 

TIF 
Districts 

1.3% 

2009 Tax Levy 

Eau Claire 
County 
15.1% 

Health_ .... ~. 
1.8% 

Vocational 
7.3% 

Other 
1.3% 

2007 

$22,734 
1,110 
2,712 
1,557 

35,847 

31 
140 

6,113 
11,395 

451 

667 

27 

$ 82,784 

27.46% 

Library 
1% 

2008 

$24,380 
1,151 
2,758 
1,609 

36,934 

30 
142 

6,387 
13,596 

474 

670 

27 

$ 88,158 

27.65% 

School 
Districts 
41.2% 

TIF Districts 
1.4% 

Sources: City of Eau Claire Annual Program of Services, Annual Tax Levy Certification Forms from the Board of Education, 
Vocational School and Counties. 
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2009 

$26,301 
1,251 
2,825 
1,656 

37,511 

33 
121 

6,639 
13,824 

465 

695 

27 

$91,348 

28.79% 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 14 
REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY TAX 

LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Total tax levy $14,296 $15,750 $17,512 $18,915 $19,888 $21,081 $22,058 $22,734 $24,380 $26,301 

Current tax collections 14,206 15,579 17,329 18,741 19,565 20,781 21,917 22,623 24,314 26,170 

Collection of delinquent personal 
property taxes from prior years 72 141 134 157 295 265 116 78 42 69 

Total tax collections (1) $14,278 $15,720 $17,463 $18,898 $19,860 $21,046 $22,033 $22,701 $24,356 $26,239 

Percent of current 
collections to tax levy 99.4% 98.9% 99.0% 99.1% 98.4% 98.6% 99.4% 99.5% 99.7% 99.5% 

Percent of total tax 
collections to tax levy 99.9% 99.8% 99.7% 99.9% 99.9% 99.8% 99.9% 99.9% 99.9% 99.8% 

Total delinquent taxes 
outstanding $57 $61 $95 $114 $83 $101 $113 $133 $144 $200 

(1) NOTE: Does not include mobile home fees or payment in lieu of taxes. 

Source: City of Eau Claire Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 15 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COLLECTIONS 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Total assessments levied 
each fiscal period: (1 ) 

General fund $457 $365 $130 $137 $157 $75 $89 $100 $109 $120 
Business Improvement 
Districts 74 74 74 75 91 92 141 151 152 152 

Debt Service 1,160 1,289 1,525 1,566 1,663 1,657 1,516 1,547 1,721 1,546 
Water Utility 86 101 142 193 191 105 90 99 90 87 
Sewer Utility 104 120 183 242 238 122 104 105 91 90 
Health 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 
Delinquent utility bills 420 450 587 526 581 521 561 548 617 655 

Total assessments 
levied $2,301 $2,399 $2,641 $2,739 $2,921 $2,572 $2,501 $2,550 $2,780 $2,657 

Current collections $2,301 $2,399 $2,641 $2,739 $2,921 $2,572 $2,501 $2,550 $2,780 $2,657 

Total collections $2,301 $2,399 $2,641 $2,739 $2,921 $2,572 $2,501 $2,550 $2,780 $2,657 

(1) NOTE: Includes current interest due on installment special assessments. 

Sources: City of Eau Claire Comprehensive Annual Financial Report; Statement of Taxes 
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Equalized valuation 

Legal debt percentage 

Legal debt limit 

Resources on hand for 
payment of debt 

Net long-term debt 

Legal debt margin 

Legal debt margin as a 
percentage of the debt limit 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 26 
COMPUTATION OF LEGAL DEBT MARGIN 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 

$2,706,974 $2,889,295 $3,105,363 $3,330,561 $3,546,277 $3,741,043 

5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 

$135,349 $144,465 $155,268 $166,528 $177,314 $187,052 

($5,571) ($7,208) ($7,590) ($8,560) ($9,566) ($8,039) 

$37,106 $41,140 $41,855 $48,171 $50,586 $54,774 

$98,243 $103,325 $113,413 $118,357 $126,728 $132,278 

73% 72% 73% 71% 71% 71% 

2009 LEGAL DEBT MARGIN 

Debt Capacity 
Remaining 

63.3% 

2006 2007 

$3,951,641 $4,110,179 

5% 5% 

$197,582 $205,509 

($8,862) ($9,504) 

$54,715 $60,434 

$142,867 $145,075 

72% 71% 

Long-Term Debt 
36.7% 

2008 

$4,254,935 

5% 

$212,747 

($8,735) 

$71,801 

$140,946 

66% 

~ ______ . __ . ___________ --.J 

Sources: City of Eau Claire Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
City of Eau Claire Annual Program of Services 
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2009 

$4,315,947 

5% 

$215,797 

($8,888) 

$79,207 

$136,590 

63% 
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Population 

Consumer price 
index (1) 

Per capita income (2) 

Personal income 

Area in square miles 

Number of business properties 

Acres devoted to business 

Miles of street 

67,000 

66,000 

65,000 

64,000 

63,000 

62,000 

61,000 

60,000 

59,000 

2000 

2000 

61,704 

172.2 

$26 

$1,579,190 

32.59 

1,445 

3,110 

345.9 

2001 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 29 
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 

62,368 63,214 63,882 63,897 64,632 65,056 

177.1 179.9 184.0 188.9 195.3 201.6 

$26 $26 $27 $27 $28 $29 

$1,617,826 $1,673,970 $1,721,173 $1,789,372 $1,809,696 $1,886,624 

32.33 33.00 33.29 33.32 33.59 33.85 

1,455 1,460 1,480 1,495 1,494 1,507 

3,135 3,139 3,180 3,190 3,192 3,209 

350.2 352.2 355.0 358.5 361.5 366.0 

POPULATION AND PER CAPITA INCOME 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

E:ImI:B Population -+-Per Capital Income 

2007 2008 

65,202 65,362 

207.3 215.3 

$30 $31 

$1,956,060 $2,026,222 

33.47 33.77 

1,520 1,525 

3,271 3,281 

341.4 341.7 

$35 

$30 

$25 

(/) 

$20 "0 
c: 
ro 
(/) 

$15 ::J 
0 

.s= 
I-

$10 

$5 

$0 

2009 

=========------- ------ -----_._-
(1) U.S, All Cities Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers (CPU-U), annual average. 

(2) Through 2008, U,S. Bureau of Economic Analysis; 2009 is estimated. 

Sources: City of Eau Claire Department of Community Development 
City of Eau Claire Public Works Department 
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2009 

65,950 

214.5 

$32 

$2,110,400 

33.88 

1,524 

3,282 

341.9 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 29 (cont.) 
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Number of residential 
parcels, 18,447 18,814 19,004 19,087 19,313 19,678 19,838 20,072 19,766 19,829 

Vacancy rates (percent): 
Residential 
Commercial 
Industrial 

Unemployment rate 
E.C. Metro Area 

3.00 3.50 3.75 3.75 4.25 4.75 
7.00 8.80 8.00 7.75 9.60 5.60 
2.00 6.50 8.50 8.00 13.80 20.80 

3.8% 4.4% 5.1% 5.1% 4.4% 4.5% 

METRO AREA UNEMPLOYMENT RATE 

4.80 4.70 
5.50 4.75 

17.70 7.50 

4.5% 4.3% 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Sources: Department of Community Development 
WI Dept. of Labor, Bureau of Workforce Information 
Statistical Report of Property Values - Eau Claire and Chippewa Counties 
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5.00 3.50 
5.90 7.09 
7.50 7.50 

5.5% 7.0% 
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Employer 

Menard's Inc. 
Luther Midelfort, Mayo Health System 
United Health Group 
University of Wisconsin - Eau Claire 
Eau Claire Area School District 
Sacred Heart Hospital 
CVTC 
Hutchinson Technology 
Marshfield Clinic 
City of Eau Claire 
Oakwood Mall 
Mt. Washington Heyde Health System 
State of Wisconsin 
Northern States Power 

Total Principal Employers 

TOTAL EMPLOYEES 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 30 
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS 

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO 

2009 

Percentage of 
Total City 

Employees Rank Employment 

4,500 1 13% 
3,261 2 9% 
1,470 3 4% 
1,400 4 4% 
1,350 5 4% 
1,350 6 4% 
1,300 7 4% 
1,054 8 3% 

716 9 2% 
570 10 2% 

16,971 49% 

35,366 

Sources: Greater Eau Claire Area Chamber of Commerce 

Employees 

3,000 
2,450 

1,172 
1,700 

800 
1,500 

3,000 
960 
670 
600 

15,852 

35,010 

Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development, Office of Economic Advisors 

Note: 2009 numbers are preliminary 
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2000 

Percentage of 
Total City 

Rank Employment 

2 9% 
3 7% 

6 3% 
4 5% 

8 2% 
5 4% 

1 9% 
7 3% 
9 2% 
10 2% 

46% 
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CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 33 
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

General government 
Size of the City in square miles 32.59 32.33 33.00 33.29 33.32 33.59 33.85 33.47 33.71 33.88 
Population 61,704 62,368 63,214 63,882 63,897 64,632 65,056 65,202 65,362 65,950 
Number of City employees 513.9 519.9 525.4 524.9 500.7 498.9 497.5 494.3 496.3 495.8 

Community Development 
Building permits issued 1,479 1,443 1,340 1,452 1,375 1,175 1,255 1,159 1,064 1,102 

Police 
Calls for service 33,071 33,371 32,490 31,545 31,717 31,048 30,750 30,006 29,628 27,309 
Adult arrests 3,610 4,311 5,039 4,589 5,309 5,697 6,171 5,891 6,465 5,604 

Fire 
EMS responses 3,251 3,471 3,774 3,908 4,191 4,559 4,741 4,622 6,060 5,819 
Fire responses 170 160 144 211 182 204 201 166 157 183 
Fire inspections 5,526 5,752 5,840 5,910 5,950 6,071 6,148 5,893 6,005 3,962 

Public Works 
Miles of street plowed/maintained 307 319 319 319 323 326 333 335 337 349 
Vehicles and equipment in fleet 252 252 258 262 282 284 284 284 291 293 

Parks & Recreation 
Neighborhood playground 15,582 14,353 13,141 11,904 12,774 13,063 11,625 10,368 9,148 6,549 

program attendance 
Hobbs Ice Arena - rented hours 4,825 3,206 4,631 3,794 3,952 3,425 3,554 3,321 3,683 3,199 
Outdoor Pool attendance 60,442 71,192 62,101 60,141 45,961 62,151 58,025 51,560 57,151 47,027 

Library 
Volumes in collection 270,931 267,617 292,957 297,877 292,957 294,077 297,799 304,261 298,458 291,003 
Circulation 843,187 969,344 1,084,708 1,314,267 1,354,595 1,387,388 1,367,066 1,345,609 1,371,203 1,324,094 

Health Department 
Environmental Health Inspections 5,575 5,269 5,700 5,383 5,120 5,145 5,387 5,470 4,647 5,117 
Number of lab analyses 24,383 21,590 21,415 21,151 24,002 23,351 24,507 21,858 19,308 18,817 
Public Health Nurse visits 7,206 7,259 6,129 4,719 5,396 5,507 5,022 4,751 3,741 4,928 

Water 
Meters in service 23,004 24,500 24,110 24,467 24,783 25,176 25,424 25,660 25,982 26,146 
Average daily consumption 7,663 7,366 7,608 7,828 7,463 7,606 8,067 8,122 7,690 7,490 

(1,000 gallons) 
Sewer 

Sewer customers 22,196 22,607 23,012 23,431 23,847 24,214 24,536 24,810 25,017 25,180 
Stormwater 

ERU rate $ 29.00 $ 33.00 $ 36.00 $ 41.00 $ 43.00 $ 47.00 $ 53.00 $ 59.00 $ 62.00 $ 68.00 
Transit 

Total route miles 966,306 1,055,167 1,023,548 1,113,066 1,010,582 1,045,132 1,066,727 900,099 960,910 1,008,425 
Passengers 896,873 938,718 927,129 971,414 956,610 1,010,644 1,030,374 1,067,303 1,090,203 1,001,790 

Source: Various City Department records and Program of Services 
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New single family dwellings: 
# of units 

Value 

Other new construction 

Additions/alterations/repairs 
& all other types of const. 

Total construction valuation 

Number of permits 

$250 

$200 

$150 

$100 

$50 

$0 

189 

$26,432 

$57,946 

$91,173 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 36 
PROPERTY VALUE AND CONSTRUCTION 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

170 156 192 188 102 

$26,303 $23,757 $29,076 $28,697 $16,396 

$49,208 $53,440 $64,368 $46,270 $41,809 

$24,864 $42,237 $35,292 $40,488 $65,363 

104 66 37 47 

$17,451 $12,203 $5,780 $8,407 

$46,399 $36,100 $47,992 $20,002 

$65,484 $58,675 $54,531 $165,200 

$175,551 $100,375 $119,434 $128,736 $115,455 $123,568 $129,334 $106,978 $108,303 $193,609 

1,479 1,443 1,340 1,452 1,375 1,175 1,255 1,159 1,064 1,102 

CONSTRUCTION TRENDS 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

DNew Single Family mOther New Construction DAdd/Alter/Rep/Other 

Source: City of Eau Claire Inspections Division, "Fee Summary Report". 
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Worker's Compensation 

Commercial general liability: 
Bodily injury and property damage liability 

Boiler and machinery 

Fire and extended coverage 

Inland marine - all risks (contractor's equipment) 

Money and securities - broad form coverage 

Public official liability insurance 
(includes police) 

Automobile and truck insurance (excluding Transit): 
Bodily injury and property damage liability 

Uninsured motorists 

Comprehensive 

Collision 

Transit 
Bodily injury and property damage liability 

Public official surety bond 
Chief of Police 
Director of Finance 

Source: City of Eau Claire Risk Manager 

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 

TABLE 37 
INSURANCE COVERAGES 

December 31, 2009 

Coverage Limits 

Statutory 

$5,000,000 

$50,000,000 

$205,620,650 

$3,825,269 

$10,000 

$5,000,000 

$5,000,000 

$50,000 

$6,591,334 

$6,591,334 

$7,000,000 

199 

$10,000 
$10,000 

Deductible or Self-Insured 
Retention (SIR) 

$400,000 per occurrence 

$200,000 (SIR) per occurrence 
$400,000 (SIR) annual aggregate 

$5,000 

$25,000 

$500 

$1,000 

$200,000 (SIR) per occurrence 
$400,000 (SIR) annual aggregate 

$200,000 (SIR) per occurrence 
$400,000 (SIR) annual aggregate 

$200,000 (SIR) per occurrence 
$400,000 (SIR) annual aggregate 

$5,000 

$5,000 

$0 

N/A 
N/A 
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Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 080610L

Invoice Description Invoice #

AT&T 212785 $45.33TELEPHONE 287002846404

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $11.03NONPRINT I25687440

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $20.16NONPRINT I26127110

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $21.56NONPRINT I26099100

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $21.56NONPRINT I26099101

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $21.56NONPRINT I26191261

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $21.59NONPRINT I25781761

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $30.77NONPRINT I26127130

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $43.16NONPRINT I26099103

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $43.18NONPRINT I25781760

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $43.18NONPRINT I26099102

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212786 $72.51NONPRINT, LOST/DMGD I26191260

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212787 $224.73BOOKS-ADULT 2024866792

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212787 $307.44BOOKS-ADULT 2024858595

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212787 $423.70BOOKS-ADULT, NONPRINT 2024866450

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212787 $581.61BOOKS-ADULT, GIFTS 2024886753

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212787 $611.03BOOKS-ADULT 2024867185

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212787 $995.77BOOKS-ADULT 2024882155

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212787 $1,508.53BOOKS-ADULT 2024867575

BLACK BOOK 212788 $125.00BOOKS-ADULT ACCT 246267

CDW GOVERNMENT 212789 $1,175.00YS PRINTER RDM1022

GROUP HEALTH CO-OP 212790 $2,521.48PREMIUM COBRA/RETIREES 250-33 SEPT

GROUP HEALTH CO-OP 212790 $29,899.64PREMIUM ACTIVES 250-31 SEPT

HIGHSMITH COMPANY 212791 $-152.35SUPPLIES 1015289063

HIGHSMITH COMPANY 212791 $67.75SUPPLIES 1015417122

HIGHSMITH COMPANY 212791 $306.54SUPPLIES 1015795420

L&M MAIL SERVICES INC 212792 $132.55FRIENDS FALL PLEDGE DRIVE 21237

MEGA FOODS 212793 $32.11FRIENDS PROGRAM RFRSHMNTS 322314

MICHAUD COOLEY ERICKSON 212794 $12,228.81BLDG VENTILATION STUDY 098183

MINNESOTA MUTUAL LIFE INS 212795 $1,114.71PREMIUM 2832L-G SEPT

NETTELL, KIMBERLY M 212796 $17.98LIBRARY REFUND LIBRARY REF

PAPA JOHNS 212797 $10.00PRGRAM REFRESHMENTS 85981

PAPA JOHNS 212797 $10.00PRGRAM REFRESHMENTS S1138101273

$52,537.62
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Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 081310L

Invoice Description Invoice #

A M BEST CO 212798 $1,128.95BOOKS-ADULT 2490069

ALTOONA PUBLIC LIBRARY 212799 $30.00LOST ITEM REFUND LIB REFUND

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $10.20LOST/DMGD 014926355647

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $14.96BOOKS-ADULT 064884673718

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $17.27BOOKS-JUV 033292179837

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $18.49NONPRINT 155683636516

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $19.15BOOKS-ADULT 064884673963

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $21.95BOOKS-JUV 033292371118

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $34.90BOOKS-JUV 033293119305

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $43.70BOOKS-JUV 184263999370

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $64.23BOOKS 033292093210

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $73.41BOOKS, NONPRINT 271162784557

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $79.99IFLS NONPRINT 137568433342

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $90.44BOOKS, NONPRINT 275124183283

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $92.47IFLS NONPRINT 093495067534

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $93.69BOOKS, NONPRINT 064889470905

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $99.14LOST/DMGD, BOOKS, NONPRINT 014925244488

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $114.66NONPRINT 232501112889

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $139.33NONPRINT 232504635572

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $187.07BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 269971559729

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212800 $229.91NONPRINT 232508107395

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212801 $34.99NONPRINT 275124386132

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212801 $59.46NONPRINT 232502168755

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212802 $10.18NONPRINT I26619560

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212802 $10.79NONPRINT I26013900

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212802 $21.58NONPRINT I26529660

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212802 $43.12NONPRINT I26274270

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212802 $57.73NONPRINT I26514660

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212802 $64.77NONPRINT I26619550

BAKER & TAYLOR ENTERTAINMENT 212802 $129.54NONPRINT I26514661

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $40.78BOOKS-JUV 5010944910

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $143.73BOOKS-ADULT 5010947983

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $228.07BOOKS-JUV 2024863087

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $297.21BOOKS-JUV 2024919066

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $319.04BOOKS, LOST/DMGD, GIFTS 2024919300

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $362.66BOOKS-ADULT 2024924670
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Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 081310L

Invoice Description Invoice #

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $393.08BOOKS-JUV 2024866589

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $468.24BOOKS-JUV 2024923805

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $470.80BOOKS, NONPRINT 2024862783

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $578.16BOOKS-ADUKT, LOST/DMGD 2024923818

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $609.59BOOKS-JUV 2024913195

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $630.62BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024932047

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212803 $848.99BOOKS-JUV 2024866823

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $56.48BOOKS-ADULT 2024901990

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $69.45BOOKS, YS PRIZES 2024908125

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $108.20BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024901582

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $128.12BOOKS-JUV 2024908847

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $133.72BOOKS-JUV 2024904838

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $166.25BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024908775

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $177.87BOOKS-ADULT 2024901006

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $203.50BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024909366

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $218.84BOOKS, NONPRINT, YS PRIZES 2024886456

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $222.40BOOKS-ADULT 2024905543

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $284.50BOOKS, NONPRINT, YS PRIZES 2024883957

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $315.63BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024912391

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $334.67BOOKS, NONPRINT, YS PRIZES 2024901359

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $363.50BOOKS, NONPRINT 2024908763

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $382.08BOOKS, NONPRINT 2024912451

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $398.16BOOKS-JUV 2024909333

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $407.13BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024900509

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $501.21BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024908427

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $529.46BOOKS, LOST/DMGD 2024904883

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $639.61BOOKS-ADULT 2024896718

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212804 $750.00SERVICES U20NS9932M

BANBURY PLACE INC 212805 $50.00ROOM RENTAL 67419

BOOK WHOLESALERS INC 212806 $40.22BOOKS-JUV 191820C

BOOK WHOLESALERS INC 212806 $44.16BOOKS-JUV 187933C

BOOKPAGE 212807 $432.00PERIODICALS RC30576

DEAR READER.COM 212808 $390.00PERIODICALS 19050

EAU CLAIRE CHAMBER OF COMMERC 212809 $125.00WELCOME PACKETS 1064702

EO JOHNSON CO INC 212810 $38.00COPIER SVC CNIN432052

EO JOHNSON CO INC 212810 $492.13SUPPLIES ARIN234847
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Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 081310L

Invoice Description Invoice #

EO JOHNSON CO INC 212810 $505.00RISOGRAPH SVC CNIN431949

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $38.98BOOKS-ADULT 16865570

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $44.99BOOKS-ADULT 16869936

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $47.99BOOKS-ADULT 16867468

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $59.99BOOKS-ADULT 16867131

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $64.78BOOKS-ADULT 16867928

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $89.34BOOKS-ADULT 16875280

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $97.48BOOKS-ADULT 16872126

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $208.44BOOKS-ADULT 16865316

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $252.25BOOKS-ADULT 16859319

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $917.50BOOKS-ADULT 16859048

GALE RESEARCH INC 212811 $1,249.65BOOKS-ADULT 16859787

GRESSCO LTD 212812 $1,535.73SUPPLIES IN025626

GUITAR PLAYER 212813 $14.99PERIODICALS PREPAYMENT

HANNAFIN, COLLEEN 212814 $400.00YS PROGRAM 8/21 PROGRAM 8/2

JAYS SIGN SERVICE 212815 $115.00BANNER INSTALLATION 19635

JOHNSONSTAPLER.COM 212816 $34.67SUPPLIES 22484

KOTENKO, GANNA 212817 $14.98LOST ITEM REFUND NONPRINT LIBRARY REF

L&M MAIL SERVICES INC 212818 $1,478.42POSTAGE, MAIL SERVICE JULY JULY

LAM, PATRICK 212819 $18.98LIBRARY REFUND NONPRINT LIBRARY REF

LERNER PUBLISHING GROUP 212820 $124.53BOOKS-JUV 970765

LOGISTECH INC 212821 $85.12BOOKS-ADULT 128686

RECORDED BOOKS INC 212822 $307.45NONPRINT 4934317

RUSK COUNTY COMMUNITY LIBRARY 212823 $22.00LOST ITEM REFUND JV BK LIBRARY REF

TANTOR MEDIA 212824 $50.39NONPRINT 34548

TANTOR MEDIA 212824 $50.39NONPRINT 34554

UNIQUE MANAGEMENT SERVICES INC212825 $384.85COLLECTION AGENCY JULY 201528

WI INTERLIBRARY SERVICES 212826 $50.00SERVICES 29477

$24,693.22
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Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 082010L

Invoice Description Invoice #

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212827 $11.65ADULT BKS 162682791016

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212827 $14.50JUV BKS 184261087300

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212827 $45.97NONPRINT 158116585579

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212827 $73.98NONPRINT 137565355378

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212827 $136.50NONPRINT IFLS NONPRINT 137566069559

AT&T 212828 $57.50PHONEBOOK LISTINGS NONE1034

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $10.18NONPRINT I27039630

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $17.99NONPRINT I27039632

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $25.17NONPRINT I26682270

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $43.18NONPRINT I27039633

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $43.19NONPRINT I27215060

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $75.57L&D NONPRINT NONPRINT I27215061

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $92.85NONPRINT I27039631

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $98.92ADULT BKS 2024947094

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $100.73NONPRINT I27254080

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $292.36L&D NONPRINT NONPRINT I27039634

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212829 $428.78ADULT BKS 5010971189

BLACKSTONE AUDIO INC 212830 $50.00NONPRINT 542103

BOOK WHOLESALERS INC 212831 $156.44JUV BKS 195426C

CHIPPEWA FALLS PUBLIC LIBRARY 212832 $10.00LIBRARY REFUND NONE1034LL

CHIPPEWA FALLS PUBLIC LIBRARY 212832 $11.00LIBRARY REFUND LIBRFND1034

CHIPPEWA FALLS PUBLIC LIBRARY 212832 $13.00LIBRARY REFUND LIBRFND1034L

CHIPPEWA FALLS PUBLIC LIBRARY 212832 $34.95LIBRARY REFUND LIBRFND1034L

CITY OF EAU CLAIRE 212833 $1,699.80APR/MAY/JUN 1232718

EAU CLAIRE REGIONAL ARTS CENTER212834 $3,000.00CV BK FESTIVAL/AUTHOR VISITS NONE1034

ELLISON EDUCATIONAL EQUIPMENT I 212835 $28.50SUPPLIES 2609516

ELLISON EDUCATIONAL EQUIPMENT I 212835 $1,065.30SUPPLIES 2602323

ENCORE DATA PRODUCTS, INC. 212836 $327.00SUPPLIES 12946

GALE RESEARCH INC 212837 $47.24ADULT BKS 16886076

GALE RESEARCH INC 212837 $94.48ADULT BKS 16885375

GALE RESEARCH INC 212837 $95.23ADULT BKS 16886490

GALE RESEARCH INC 212837 $122.23ADULT BKS 16882075

GALE RESEARCH INC 212837 $129.73ADULT BKS 16879041

GALE RESEARCH INC 212837 $200.96ADULT BKS 16882299

INDIANHEAD FEDERATED LIBRARY SY212838 $178.08SUPPLIES M210151

INDIANHEAD FEDERATED LIBRARY SY212838 $604.08SUPPLIES M210151L

176



Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 082010L

Invoice Description Invoice #

LOGISTECH INC 212839 $60.92ADULT BKS 128829

MENOMONIE PUBLIC LIBRARY 212840 $15.99LIBRARY REFUND LIBRFND1034

NO-LOAD FUND INVESTOR 212841 $149.00NO LOAD FUND INVESTOR 65837110AR

OFFICE DEPOT 212842 $1,861.77SUPPLIES 970786

SOFTMART GOVT SERVICES INC 212843 $2,631.25SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE ARINV222314

UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN - MADISO212844 $300.00BACK IN CIRC-MILLER NONE1034

WI DEPT OF ADMINISTRATION 212845 $414.86STS JUNE NONE1034

XCEL ENERGY 212846 $6,864.17JULY-AUG 249050577

$21,735.00
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Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 082710L

Invoice Description Invoice #

1100 INC 212868 $300.00SOUND SYSTEM NONE1035

ADALAR FLORAL 212847 $140.00SUPPLIES NONE1035

ALIBRIS 212848 $26.45L&D ADULT BKS 43117630

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $7.99L&D ADULT BKS 004360199810

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $8.95ADULT BKS 137564421062

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $21.09NONPRINT 246178785085

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $40.82NONPRINT JUV BKS 004366041566

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $53.28ADULT BKS 201162827599

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $55.46ADULT BKS IFLS NONPRINT 183018352837

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $70.72L&D ADULT BKS 246173181139

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $82.75IFLS NONPRINT 288698138173

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $155.50ADULT BKS 201163751995

AMAZON.COM CREDIT 212849 $410.87NONPRINT 162685613467

AT&T 212850 $34.98JULY IFLS 800 TRS/TNS 2049593701

AT&T 212850 $272.08JULY RS FAX TRS/TNS 2149347813

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $7.63NONPRINT I27638950

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $14.39NONPRINT I27638951

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $21.59NONPRINT I27638952

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $35.99NONPRINT I27638953

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $75.14JUV BKS 2024947093

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $105.77NONPRINT I27417080

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $153.35JUV BKS 2024965687

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $155.40JUV BKS YS PRIZES 2024966375

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $160.27ADULT BKS L&D ADULT BKS 2024950968

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $199.17FRNDS VID TO DVD I27638954

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $258.61ADULT BKS JUV BKS 2024966374

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $359.92JUV BKS YS PRIZES 2024959520

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $383.08ADULT BKS NONPRINT 2024965122

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $443.31ADULT BKS GIFT BKMRKS 2024946042

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $458.19JUV BKS NONPRINT 2024942309

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $519.51FRDS CHINESE JUV BKS 2024970535

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $604.87ADULT BKS 2024959701

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $608.39ADULT BKS GIFT BKMRKS 2024975869

BAKER & TAYLOR INC 212851 $850.12ADULT BKS 2024942295

BOOK WHOLESALERS INC 212852 $10.24JUV BKS 199210C

BOOK WHOLESALERS INC 212852 $65.11JUV BKS 198822C
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Vendor Name Check # Amount

Warrant Report for 082710L

Invoice Description Invoice #

BRILLIANCE AUDIO INC 212853 $234.20NONPRINT IN0561418

CDW GOVERNMENT 212854 $11.17SUPPLIES TMS6320

CDW GOVERNMENT 212854 $292.01Supplies TNX2424

CDW GOVERNMENT 212854 $320.60SUPPLIES TMF0453

EAU CLAIRE AREA FOUNDATION INC 212855 $103.37ADM FEE CR CARD FUND SUPPORT20102Q

EAU CLAIRE CHAMBER OF COMMERC 212856 $20.00LEADERSHIP EC STONEBERG 1064938

EAU CLAIRE COUNTY TREASURER 212857 $10,356.85REISSUE LOST CHECK REISSUE

EO JOHNSON CO INC 212858 $99.00REF COPIER SVC SEPT-DEC CNIN435098

EO JOHNSON CO INC 212859 $359.77ADM COPIER SEPT-OCT 28356863

HIMMEL & WILSON LIBRARY CONSULT212861 $7,500.00PLANNING SERVICES 1047

JACKSON COUNTY 212862 $33.00RPLCING LOST CHECK NONE1035

L&M MAIL SERVICES INC 212863 $186.63POSTAGE ARTSHOW 21409

MEGA 212864 $15.30TS DISTILLED WATER 325387

MEGA 212864 $18.36FRNDS PRGRM RFRSHMNTS 318646

NADA SERVICES CORPORATION 212865 $87.00ADULT BKS 100084680081

PER MAR SECURITY SERVICES 212866 $1,147.53SEC SYS MONITOR SEP-NOV 540730

SHREDAWAY 212867 $171.00SHREDDING MAY-JUNE 25606

TANTOR MEDIA 212869 $35.99NONPRINT 35138

TANTOR MEDIA 212869 $50.39NONPRINT 35139

VIDEO ART PRODUCTIONS 212870 $28.20NONPRINT NONE1035

$28,241.36
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LE PHILLIPS MEMORIAL PUBLIC LIBRARY
Supplemental Bills & Claims Listing  August 2010

CUSTODIAL OPERATING BUDGET
VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

Various Salaries & wages, overtime, spec. pay 8,722.00$      
Various WRS, SS, life, disability 1,552.73        
Various Health insurance, deductible 2,515.75        
Hudson Electric Inc Library building repair 68.00              
Hudson Electric Inc Library building repair 136.00            
McQuay Service Library chiller repairs 670.96            
Johnson Controls Library reset 288.00            
Hovlands Inc HVAC repair 74.00              
Viking Electric Supply Parts, electrical 45.15              
Valley Builders Hardware Keys and hardware/repairs 68.00              
Traci's Green Interiors Plant rental 287.90            
Wil Kil Pest Control Pest control services 30.00              
Braun Thyssenkrupp Elevator Service 512.50            
City of Eau Claire Stormwater fee Apr/May/Jun 228.13            
Lawson Products Blanket purchase order 137.55            
Waupun Central Toilet paper dispensers 70.85              
Viking Electric Supply Parts, electrical 3.78                 
Menards West Building materials, misc 64.41              
Menards West Building materials, misc 106.61            
Menards West Building materials, misc 16.26              
Menards West Building materials, misc 51.94              
Menards West Building materials, misc 11.82              
G&K Services Rental, coveralls, mats, mops, 71.52              
G&K Services Rental, coveralls, mats, mops, 71.52              

15,805.38$    

LIBRARY OPERATING BUDGET
VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

Various Salaries & wages, shift prem, longevity 129,826.18$  
Various WRS, FICA, life insurance, EAP 23,402.27       

153,228.45$  

LIBRARY CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS
VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

Various Salaries & wages, shift prem, longevity 71.80$            
Various WRS, FICA, life insurance, EAP 13.35              

85.15$            
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LE PHILLIPS MEMORIAL PUBLIC LIBRARY
Statistical Report  August

Chng.
2008 2009 2010 Prev. Yr.

AVERAGE ADJUSTED DAILY NUMBER OF LIBRARY VISITS IN BUILDING
1,182         n/a 1,771         n/a    Month of August
1,160         n/a 1,554         n/a    Year to date

AVERAGE DAILY NUMBER OF LIBRARY VISITS TO YOUTH SERVICES
901            n/a 1,024         n/a    Month of August
845            n/a 815            n/a    Year to date

% SHARE OF CHECKOUTS AND INBUILDING RENEWALS (Does NOT 
include outgoing MORE transactions)

72.2% n/a 71.0% n/a    City of Eau Claire
15.7% n/a 16.6% n/a    Remainder of Eau Claire County participating in Co. Lib. Svcs. Agreement
12.1% n/a 12.4% n/a    All other users checking something out or renewaing from this building

      Figures given for billable period according to contract (JulyAugust)

NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS CHECKING SOMETHING OUT FROM THIS BLDG:
15,896      n/a 16,972      n/a    Month of August
127,620    n/a 130,983    n/a    Year to date

NUMBER OF ITEMS CHECKED OUT FROM LIBRARY BUILDING*
80,146      n/a 84,074      n/a    Month of August
661,676    n/a 637,460    n/a    Year to date

RENEWALS FROM LIBRARY BUILDING*
3,002         n/a 2,602         n/a    Month of August
28,035      n/a 21,154      n/a    Year to date

 *Does not include remote or telephone renewals

REMOTE & TELEPHONE RENEWALS OF ITEMS OWNED BY LE PHILLIPS
LIBRARY
   Telephone renewals

1,256         n/a 1,273         n/a    Month of August
10,804      n/a 9,723         n/a    Year to date

     Web renewals
16,827      n/a 19,275      n/a    Month of August
138,049    n/a 142,932    n/a    Year to date

MORE CONSORTIUM CHECKOUTS
  Incoming materials (included in "Checkouts from Library Bldg" above)

9,625         n/a 12,215      n/a    Month of August
75,263      n/a 91,845      n/a    Year to date

    Outgoing materials (NOT included in "Checkouts from Library Bldg"
    above)

10,319      n/a 10,580      n/a    Month of August
83,637      n/a 90,575      n/a    Year to date
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Chng.
2008 2009 2010 Prev. Yr.

MORE CONSORTIUM CHECKOUTS OF JUVENILE MATERIALS
   Incoming materials (included in "MORE Consortium Checkouts" above)

1,116         n/a 1,870         n/a     Month of August (included renewals)
10,376      n/a 13,199      n/a     Year to date (includes renewals)

    Outgoing materials (NOT included in "Checkouts from Library Bldg"
    above)

1,419         n/a 1,659         n/a     Month of August
12,021      n/a 14,520      n/a     Year to date

INTERLIBRARY LOANS
  Incoming materials (included in "Checkouts from Library Building" above)

344            n/a 472            n/a    Month of August (without renewals)
3,402         n/a 3,134         n/a    Year to date (without renewals)

 
    Outgoing materials (included in "Checkouts from Library Building" above)

284            n/a 255            n/a    Month of August (without renewals)
2,909         n/a 2,344         n/a    Year to date (without renewals)

 
    Outgoing materials (included in "Checkouts from Library Building" above)

17              n/a 5                 n/a    Month of August (renewals)
45              n/a 19              n/a    Year to date (renewals)

HOME DELIVERY (included in "Checkouts from Library Building" above)
1,055         n/a 845            n/a    Month of August (without renewals)
n/a n/a 7,635         n/a    Year to date (without renewals)

HOME DELIVERY RENEWALS (included in "Checkouts from Library Building"
above)

66              n/a 60              n/a    Month of August Renewals
n/a n/a 613            n/a    Year to date Renewals

 

UNIQUE VISITORS TO WEBSITE
9,959         n/a 9,625         n/a    Month of August
85,372      n/a 59,092      n/a    Year to date

 *New web statistics vendor December 2009
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    Number: 9 

    Category:  Circulation and Collection 
      Development Management 
 
   

 
Policy Title:  LIBRARY RECORDS   

Date adopted: 01/20/83    

Date amended: 09/16/10 

Date last reviewed: 08/20/09   

 

 

The Library’s policy on the maintenance, preservation and destruction of library records and 
on public access to those records shall be governed by the provisions of “Record Retention 
Schedule for Wisconsin’s Public Libraries and Public Library Systems” of the 
Wisconsin Public Records Board, Chapter 1.08 of the Ordinances of the City of Eau Claire 
and by the provisions of Section 43.30 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 
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e present a schedule of retention guidelines for public records created by Wisconsin public libraries and library 
systems. 

The schedule is grouped in the following way: introduction; board/governing body materials; administrative files; financial 
materials; buildings, grounds & equipment; human services files; integrated library system, interlibrary loan & information 
technology; departmental records; library system/shared system records; and miscellaneous records for a library to add 
additional record series. 

W 

The initial guidelines were presented to the Wisconsin library community via listservs and a presentation at the Wisconsin 
Library Association conference in October 2005. A month–long public comment period allowed the ad hoc committee to 
review suggestions and make changes to the proposed schedule. The Wisconsin Public Records Board reviewed the 
schedule and also made amendments before adopting it February 2006. 

The goal is that public libraries and systems will adopt the schedule as is; however, libraries and systems have the option 
to lengthen any retention period. To adopt a retention period that is shorter than what is stated needs the approval of the 
Public Records Board. 

This ad hoc committee of stakeholders gratefully acknowledges the records retention schedule adopted by the State of 
Michigan-Dept. of History, Arts and Libraries in January 2005 as the model for this Wisconsin schedule, as well as the 
guidance and assistance of the Wisconsin Public Records Board. 

Committee members: 
Sue Braden, Hedberg Public Library 
Mike Cross, Division for Libraries, Technology & Community Learning (DLTCL) 
John K. DeBacher, Division for Libraries, Technology & Community Learning (DLTCL) 
Anita Taylor Doering, La Crosse Public Library 
Mary E. Dunn, Tomahawk Public Library 
Virginia Fritzsch, Wisconsin Historical Society 
Steve Hirsch, Public Records Board 
Julie A. Schmude, Winnefox Library System 
Virginia Schwartz, Milwaukee Public Library 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
I. Purpose 

The purpose of this records retention schedule is to authorize destruction of public library records pursuant to the schedule on an annual basis. 
Records custodians may destroy a record prior to the time set forth in the schedule only if such a record has been photographically reproduced as 
an original record or converted to optical disc or electronic format pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 16.61 (7). 
  
Any record not covered by this schedule or municipal law shall be retained 7 years unless the record is added by amendment into the ordinance 
and the shorter time period approved by the state Public Records Board. 
 
 
II. Schedule Does Not Require Creation of Records 

It is understood that not all libraries may have all the types of records listed in this schedule. This schedule does not require records to be created 
by libraries. Rather, it provides policy guidance for those records that are created or received by libraries. 
 
 
III. Definitions  

"Legal Custodian" means the individual responsible for maintaining records pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.33. 
 
"Record" has the meaning defined in Wis. Stat. § 19.32 (2). 
 
“Records Series:” The records series is the unit of records analysis. It consists of a group of identical or related records typically used, indexed 
and/or filed as a unit because they have a common subject or function, and that are evaluated as a unit for retention and disposition scheduling. 
 
 
IV. General Provisions 

A. Historical Records-Notification to State Historical Society of Wisconsin 
Under Wis. Stat. § 19.21 (4)(a) local government units must notify the State Historical Society of Wisconsin (SHSW) 60 days prior to destroying 
records. Records designated for permanent retention with the original custodian are not to be destroyed, therefore notification is not applicable. 
Notice to SHSW is also required prior to the destruction of any record not listed in this schedule. 
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Page 2 INTRODUCTION  

B. Microfilming or Optical Imaging or Converting to Electronic Formats 
Local units of government may keep and preserve public records through the use of microfilm, optical imaging or electronic format providing the 
microfilm, optical imaging, or electronic format meets applicable standards in Wis. Stat. § 16.61 (7) (microfilm) and 16.61(5) (optical imaging and 
electronic format); see also Wis. Adm. Code 12.01. Retention periods and estimated costs and benefits of converting records between different 
media should be considered in deciding which records to microfilm or store in optical disc format. After verification and notification to the State 
Historical Society, records converted to microfilm, optical imaging, or electronic format should be destroyed. The retention periods identified in this 
schedule apply to all records regardless of their format or media, including all types of records maintained in electronic format.  
  
C. Destruction After Request for Inspection 
No records requested under Wis. Stat. § 19.35 may be destroyed until after the request is granted or 60 days after the request is denied. If any 
action is commenced under Wis. Stat. § 19.37, the requested record may not be destroyed until after a court order is issued and all appeals have 
been completed. See Wis. Stat. § 19.35 (5). 
 
D. Destruction Pending Litigation 
No record subject to pending litigation shall be destroyed until the litigation is resolved.  
 
E. Destruction Pending Audit 
No record subject to pending audit shall be destroyed until completion of the audit. 
 
F. Review and Approval by Public Records Board 
This schedule and the retention periods of less than 7 years have been reviewed and approved by the Public Records Board. 
 
 
V. Legend of Terms and Phrases 
For each record series identified in the schedule, there is a records series title (titles may not be the exact title used by a library: the schedule 
requires some interpretation regarding its applicability to a specific library’s records), additional description, and sometimes a comment on the 
administration of this series noted by the words ADM. NOTE, abbreviated for Administrative Note. The retention and disposition of the record 
series are also specified. 
 
Lastly, the word “confidential” was noted for record series that could compromise patron confidentiality as specified in Wis. Stat. § 43.30 or could 
contain personally identifiable information about employees as stated in Wis. Stat. § 19.36, limitations upon access and withholdings. It is 
suggested a library/system discuss all record requests for potentially personally identifiable information with their counsel/municipal attorney 
before releasing records under the open records law. 
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Retention Periods 
Retention Period is the length of time an office must keep particular records. This is usually expressed in terms of years and may be contingent 
upon an event date or specification date that triggers the “clock”. These are minimum retention periods: there is no absolute requirement to 
destroy these records at the end of the retention period.  Nonetheless, records should be destroyed when the minimum retention period has been 
met unless a legal, audit, or open records request “hold” has been placed on the records. Obsolete records consume expensive office space and 
computer storage capacity, and they hinder efficient access and retrieval of current records. Use of the schedule will allow destruction of inactive 
records when they become obsolete in a timely manner and efficient manner. If other specific temporary situations occur that requires longer 
retention of these administrative records longer than specified, libraries may keep the records longer.  
 
CR refers to creation. Creation retention periods start when a record is created or received.  
 
EVT refers to event. Retention periods tied to event dates do not begin until the event occurs and the retention time period is then triggered. For 
example, if a records series has a retention period of EVT+1 year and the event is defined as the life of an asset, all records in this category would 
be retained one year after the asset is sold, scrapped or otherwise taken out of service. Close of contract, termination of employee, and date of 
receipt are common events. 
 
FIS means the current fiscal year. Therefore FIS+6 years indicates that these records must be retained for the current fiscal year and six complete 
additional fiscal years. It has been determined that most of the budget related records in this schedule should be retained for at least FIS + 6 years 
to satisfy any audit requirements. Unlike CR and EVT retention periods, records series identified as FIS are managed in blocks by fiscal year. 
 
PERM means retaining the record forever: permanently. Because of the high costs associated with maintaining records, only a small number of 
records can be justified as requiring permanent administrative value. 
 
Retention Periods, continued 
 
ACT means active: while the record is being used on a regular basis. 
 
SUP means until the record is superseded by a more current version. 
 
 
Disposition 
Disposition is what happens to the records after the retention period is satisfied. Most record series in the schedule have a disposition of destroy. 
This suggests that the records can be destroyed without concern for the confidentiality of the materials. 
 
The State Records Center has fact sheets that explain options for destruction of paper and microfilm records. 
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If a library adopts the Schedule, the Notification of Adoption Form provides a "blanket" waiver of the 60-day notice to the Historical Society in 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 19.21, 2003-04. Unless the Historical Society informs the library otherwise, the library may begin record destruction 
upon acknowledgment of receipt of the form from the Historical Society. 
 
Notice to the State Historical Society is required for any record not listed in this schedule. 
 
 
VI. To Adopt the Schedule 
 
Libraries are advised to adopt the schedule even though they may not have all the records listed in it. A library may adopt the entire schedule, 
individual sections, or a modified version. A library may develop a schedule with different retention periods from those listed. For records to be 
retained less than seven years, the library may not adopt a retention period shorter than that indicated in the schedule without the approval of the 
Public Records Board. A new schedule, or list of modifications, must be sent with the Notification Form. Specific library records can be listed in 
Section 9, Miscellaneous Records. An adopted schedule becomes the library’s policy on record retention, destruction, and local preservation.  
 
 
VII. Sources Consulted 
 
Sources from the Wisconsin Public Records Board were consulted in conjunction with this schedule and can be found at 
http://www.doa.state.wi.us/docs_list.asp?doccatid=7. 
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VIII. Table of Contents 
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Adopted by the Public Records Board, 2/27/2006    

Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

 
 
 

Sec. 1 BOARD / GOVERNING BODY MATERIALS 

 
001 Bylaws       PERM 

Bylaws state the purpose of the library/system, establish the structure and responsibilities of the board, and state the manner in which 
the library will meet its regulatory requirements and achieve best practice standards. Bylaws are created and amended by the board. 
These records are preserved permanently to document the institutional memory of the library/system. 

 
 
002 Policy Manual       SUP+2 

Policy manuals may include statements on hours of operation, rules and regulations for the reading rooms, gifts and donations, human 
resource management, and other administrative matters. They may govern the use of patron cards, loan periods for various materials, 
fines and other charges, collection development, reference services, access to the Internet and other library equipment. Personnel 
policies may include job descriptions and requirements, as well as policies concerning leave, appropriate behavior, evaluation, and 
benefits. Policies may also document how the library will comply with statutory regulations, such as the Americans with Disabilities Act, 
Wisconsin public records law (Wis. Stat. § 19.21 - 19.39), and the patron confidentiality law (Wis. Stat. § 43.30), and laws governing 
employment, environmental health, fiscal accountability, and civil rights. This series does not include policies that are not reviewed by 
the board. 
 
ADM. NOTE:  Generally a copy of policies and policy changes are kept permanently in the board of trustee (or other governing body) 
meeting minutes series, usually organized by date.   
 
 

003 Annual Reports-to the Board &/or Municipality PERM 
These records document the library's services and finances over the previous year. They are presented to the board for review and 
approval. They may include narrative and statistical reports summarizing circulation, interlibrary loan (ILL), finances, programming, and 
other major issues facing the library/system over the year. These records may include audits, circulation, administrative, and financial 
reports. These records are preserved permanently to document the institutional memory of the library/system. 
 
 

004 Annual Reports-to the State (Division of Libraries,  PERM 
  Technology and Community Learning) 

This statistical report is submitted to the state annually, and describes the governing structure of the library/system, its size, hours of 
operation, circulation, holdings by type of material, number of users, the volume of reference queries, computer usage statistics, 
budgetary information, sources of library income, and expenditures. These records are preserved permanently to document the 
institutional memory of the library/system. 
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Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

005 Minutes and Meeting Materials   PERM 
Meeting minutes and attachments document all matters brought before the governing body (e.g. board of trustees) at meetings. These 
records document all changes to policies, resolutions, and correspondence. They include agendas, minutes, and supporting 
documentation. Supporting documents may include copies of the librarian/director's report, monthly financial/treasurer's reports, 
circulation reports, budgets, financial audits, committee reports and minutes, library flyers, newspaper clippings, or publicity materials 
concerning the library. This series does not include meeting notices, bulletins, or documentation of meeting related expenditures. These 
records are preserved permanently to document the institutional memory of the library/system. 
 
If audio and/or video recordings of the meeting are transcribed, the recordings can be destroyed 90 days after the minutes have been 
approved and published (Wis. Stat. § 19.21(7)).  
 
 
 
 

Sec. 2  ADMINISTRATIVE FILES 

 
006 General Correspondence    CR+2  

General correspondence does not pertain to a specific project or case, and it is often organized chronologically or by correspondent's 
name. General correspondence may include referral correspondence. If the correspondence does pertain to a specific project or case, it 
should be filed with that project or case file. General correspondence may exist in a variety of formats, including memos, letters, notes 
and electronic mail messages. This series also includes automated or manual tools that index and/or track when correspondence was 
received, the topic of the correspondence, who is responsible for responding to the correspondence, and when the correspondence is 
considered closed for further action. Correspondence concerning transient and non-substantive matters can be discarded when it is no 
longer of use for reference. 

007 Director/Assistant Director's Reports   CR+2 
These reports to the governing body summarize current issues facing the library. They are both narrative and statistical, and include 
information received from department managers.  
 
ADM. NOTE:  a copy of the report is usually included in the governing body’s meeting records. 

008 Subject Files      ACT+5  
These records are used to support administrative analysis, program and project planning, procedure development, and programmatic 
activities for a library. Subject files are generally organized alphabetically by topic. Document types may include periodic activity reports 
(narrative and statistical), special reports, topical correspondence, research materials, project planning notes, organizational charts, 
agency descriptions, etc. Subject files do NOT include files related to individual program activities, human resources files, and 
accounting records. For topics of continuing interest, files may be segmented into annual files. ACT = while of interest for ongoing 
administration. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

009 Meeting Records-Internal Staff   CR+2    
These records may include meeting minutes, agendas, and distribution materials related to staff meetings consisting of members that 
are entirely or primarily internal to the library. 

 
 
010 Procedures      SUP 

Procedures are generally a process or series of steps especially of a practical or mechanical nature involved in a particular form of work.  
Examples include circulation check out, reference desk procedures, and the like. 

 
 
011 Planners/Calendars     ACT    

These may be electronic or manual planners and calendars that are used to track an individual staff member's work-related meetings, 
assignments, and tasks.  ACT = use until no longer current. 

 
 
012 Donor File—Monetary Donations   CR+3   

This file contains information about donors of monetary contributions to the library. These donations may be used for construction, 
equipment, special projects, library programs, memorial gifts, etc. Information in the file may include the donor name, contact 
information, the amount of money donated, and an inventory of the items purchased with the funds, and the name of the person 
memorialized. This file may include receipts for donations, letters of acknowledgment, and supporting documentation. 

 
 
013 Donor File—Property Donations   ACT+2    

This file contains information about donors of property (such as artwork, furniture, computers, etc.) to the library. Donors of popular or 
used books are usually not included in these files. Information in the file may include the donor name, contact information, and an 
inventory of the item(s). This file may include signed deed of gift forms, receipts for donations, letters of acknowledgment, and 
supporting documentation. ACT = while the item is in the possession of the library. 

 
ADM. NOTE: archival deed of gift forms may be filed in a separate series. 
 
 

014 Grant Files      FIS+4   
These files document grants from federal and other sources, from the Library Services Technology Act (LSTA), the Gates Foundation, 
Universal Service Fund, and any others. The files may include planning session documents, financial materials, meeting notes, the grant 
application, contracts with builders, files from construction, and final reports. FIS = fiscal year of the close of the granting period. 

 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

015 Accident Reports/Claims    CR+7    
The Personal Injury/Property Damage Claim/Incident Report gives details about any unexpected incidents on the library premises by 
non-employees. It lists the location, witnesses, person injured, type of injury or property damage, and actions to prevent reoccurrence. 
The reports are reviewed and signed by relevant administrators. These files may include related information, such as witness 
statements, medical information, legal counsel, or subsequent claims.  Another series deals with employee injury.  
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

 
 
016 Patron Incident and Disciplinary Files   ACT+5    CONFIDENTIAL 

These files document patrons who have received disciplinary action or prohibitory sanctions. They are organized by patron name, and 
consist of letters sent to patrons describing the unacceptable activity and the prohibitions on patron privileges. They may also contain 
correspondence with public safety or patron guardians. ACT = Until date of the last incident involving the patron. 
 
 

017 Purchase Request     ACT+1    CONFIDENTIAL 
These are requests by library patrons for materials they would like to see added to the library collection.  The information contained in 
these files may include patron name and contact information, library card number, and information about the material requested.  Follow 
up materials may also be included, such as the selection committee’s decision, ordering information, and correspondence with patron.  
ACT = date of completion. 
 
 

018 Compliments/Complaints/Suggestions   ACT+1 
These files document compliments, complaints and suggestions received and actions taken concerning any aspect of the library or its 
services or staff. ACT = date of completion if action taken. 

 
 
019 Request for Reconsideration of Library Materials ACT+6 

These files document a suggestion by a patron or group of people to request the library to discard or reclassify a specific item in the 
collection and the library’s response and action if any.  ACT = date of completion. 
 

 
020 Strategic Planning—Development Documentation SUP   

These documents are used to outline the mission and long-term goals for the library. A consultant, management team, staff, board, 
and/or community members may prepare plans. SUP = retain until the subsequent plan is approved. 

 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

021 Strategic Planning—Final Approved Plan  PERM   
This is the final version of the strategic plan that is approved by the library board. 

022 Open Records Requests    EVT+1  
This file documents any requests for information or public records, maintained by the library. They may include requests for information, 
correspondence, a copy of the information released, and billing information.  EVT = date of completion of request. 

023 Contracts      EXP+4  
This record series consists of any original contracts that document agreements between the library, vendors, customers, or others. It 
may also include contracts with Internet service providers, other agencies, library systems or consortiums, as well as depository 
agreements with governmental entities. Contract files also document equipment and professional service contracts for elevators, 
wireless phones, copiers and microfilm reader/printers, and legal, security, and janitorial services. Contracts may be filed with supporting 
documents pertaining to the contract, and amendments to the contract.   
 
ADM. NOTE: Some contracts may not have an expiration date. 

024 Leases       EXP+4   
This file contains any leases for library buildings or equipment. 

025 Legal Opinions     SUP+5   
These files consist of correspondence with the attorney who provided legal counsel to the library.  SUP = date superseded or 
obsolescence of the opinion. 

026 Litigation Files      ACT+5   
These files document any litigation to which the library is a party. They may include depositions, transcripts, decisions, correspondence, 
data, exhibits, research materials, reports, press releases, media clippings, etc. ACT = until case is closed. 
 
 

027 Staff/System Newsletters    ACT    
Internal newsletters communicate new policies and procedures and relate important news to employees and/or system members. They 
are used to disseminate information and promote staff/system cohesion. ACT = until no longer needed for reference.  
 
ADM. NOTE:  Libraries are encouraged to retain newsletters permanently to document the history of the library/system. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

 
 
 

Sec. 3  FINANCIAL MATERIALS 

028 Final Annual Budget     FIS+10   
The budget forecasts income and allocates expenditures for the next fiscal year. Revenue sources may include governmental entities, 
grants, fees, fines, sales, and service provision. Expenditures may include payroll, facilities, electronic equipment, collection 
development, supplies and other maintenance costs.  

ADM. NOTE: These records are the version approved by the governing body, and official copies are generally kept in board meeting 
packets.  

029 Budget Documentation    FIS+5   
These records are used to prepare the library's budget. The files may include planning materials, such as current budget and financial 
reports, projections of revenue, expenses (materials, services, marketing, IT), and fixed costs, and requests by each department for 
funding. 

030 Annual Financial Report/Audit    FIS+10   
These records document the library's financial condition and evaluate the accounting practices of the previous year. The annual 
financial report may include a balance sheet of assets and liabilities, an income and expense statement, and notes explaining any 
discrepancies. An audit is conducted by an outside accounting firm and includes comments on the library's accounting practices.  

ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

031 Monthly Financial Reports    FIS+4  
These statistical reports list the income and expenses for library operations. They may itemize income streams and expenses such as 
state aid, investment income, cash receipts, fixed costs, payroll, and purchases. These records may be created in electronic accounting 
systems and consist of balance sheets or profit/loss versus budget reports. 

032 Accounts Payable/Receivable    FIS+4   
Accounts payable lists money owed by the library and accounts receivable lists money owed to the library from the time from inception 
to resolution. Accounts payable may include purchase of equipment, supplies, insurance, contract services, performances, and 
obligations from standing orders that have not yet been paid. Accounts receivable may include payments due to the library from 
governmental entities or from grantors among others.  

ADM. NOTE: These records may be generated manually or they may be maintained using electronic accounting software.  This series 
may be kept by the governing municipality. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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033 Journal Entries/General Ledger   FIS+4   
Revenue and expenditures are entered into the journal from source documents such as cash receipts, invoices, deposit slips, and 
checks. They are then arranged by account numbers in the general ledger. Electronic accounting systems automatically post entries into 
accounts. Separate journals and ledgers may be generated manually or may be part of an electronic accounting system. 

 
    ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 
 
 
034 Balance Sheet      FIS+4    

This record reports all financial liabilities and assets of the library at any given time. It may include income and expenses, as well as 
assets and liabilities in current accounts. 

 
 
035 Deposit Slips and Cancelled Checks   FIS+4    

Deposit slips record money deposited in specific bank accounts; cancelled checks record payments made. 
 
 
036 Invoices      FIS+4   

These documents accompany the exchange of goods and services between customers and vendors. They may list the items and price 
of goods and services purchased or sold by the library. They are source documents for journal entries/general ledgers and accounts 
payable/receivable records. 

037 Purchase/Order Records    FIS+4   
This file documents the ordering of goods that are added to the library's collection, such as monographs, serial publications and 
recordings. The file may include purchase requisitions, purchase orders, and packing slips. These records are source documents for the 
journal/general ledger, and accounts payable ledger.  
 

 
038 Sales Records      FIS+4  

These records document sales, and may identity the item sold, price, and name of purchaser. It does not include cash register receipts. 
 
 
039 Cash Receipts      FIS+4   

This file contains cash register totals that are tallied by the day or week. These receipts are entered into a cash receipts record that may 
separate receipts into various accounts such as audio-video rentals, fines, sales of items, lost books, donations, photocopies, fax, or 
miscellaneous. These records may include cash register tapes, cash box tallies, cash journals, or cash accounts in electronic 
accounting systems. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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040 Petty Cash Vouchers     FIS+4   
Vouchers authorize expenditures from cash registers drawers or petty cash boxes. Vouchers are used to reconcile the daily cash count 
with the cash receipts. 

041 Bank Statements and Reconciliation   FIS+4  
These records list all transfers of money through a given bank account. For each bank account held by the library, the bank provides a 
statement listing all deposits and withdrawals made during the previous calendar month.  

042 Annual Inventory and Depreciation Schedules FIS+4   
This record is a list of all major library property and its book value. Library policy determines the value at which property must be 
included on an inventory. Governmental Standards Accounting Board (GASB) Statement 34 (1999) requires that library property be 
inventoried and listed on a depreciation schedule. Items remain on the inventory until their active life has elapsed. 

043 State Tax Returns     FIS+4  
These statements report the taxes collected on sale of items and for rent or use of library facilities and equipment. The library may 
submit sales and use tax statements to the State of Wisconsin annually. 

 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

044 Payroll Deduction/Liability Records   FIS+4    CONFIDENTIAL 
These records document payment of financial liabilities for monies withheld from employee wages. The records may include the 
quarterly form 941 to pay the Internal Revenue Service for taxes withheld, coupons accompanying the quarterly transfer of state 
withholding taxes, unemployment wage detail reports and the quarterly report, as well as any records of charitable contributions 
deducted from payroll. It also includes documentation of employer contributions to employee insurance. 

 
    ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 
 
045 Insurance Policies     EXP+6    

These files contain any insurance policies that the library has purchased or records of any claims against those policies. Policies may 
cover library contents, library vehicles, general liability, directors' and officers' liability, insurance against business interruption, and 
failure of information systems. 

 
    ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
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046 Requests for Bids, Proposals and RFP  EVT+4    
This file consists of formal bid packets submitted in response to a request by the library. When the library selects one provider for goods 
and services, other formal bids are retained as evidence supporting the final choice and as reference.  EVT = close of contract period. 
 

 
047 W-2 Forms      FIS+4    CONFIDENTIAL 

This form documents the annual gross wages, federal, state, Medicare, and local taxes withheld for the purpose of reporting income 
taxes.  
 

    ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

 
048 Employer Contributions to Retirement Accounts FIS+4  

These records are used to calculate and document library payments to employee retirement plans. Files may contain forms that are 
used to report gross wages and hours for each employee, the invoice for the employer contribution, and documentation of the transfer of 
funds. 
 

    ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

 
049 Electronic Funds Transfer    ACT+1    CONFIDENTIAL 

This file includes signed applications and authorization for any funds to be transferred electronically from payroll accounts. ACT = until 
superseded, voided, or employment ends. 
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

 
050 Payroll Summaries     FIS+4    

Payroll summaries tally the gross pay and all deductions for every employee by the month, year, or pay period. The records may be 
created manually, by a payroll service, or using an electronic accounting system. They do not include employee names, but may 
organize information according to department or job status. Payroll summaries are source documents for monthly and annual financial 
reports. 
 

    ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 
 
 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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051 Payroll Records     ACT+5    CONFIDENTIAL 
Payroll records document the gross pay and all deductions for each employee for every pay period. These records may list the hours 
worked, pay rate, all deductions (withholding taxes, FICA, Medicare, insurance premiums, charitable contributions, and retirement 
benefits), and any miscellaneous adjustments. These records are source documents for payroll summaries and may be required to 
calculate retirement benefits. A copy of these records is often included on the payroll check stub. These records may be created 
manually, in an electronic payroll system, or by a payroll service. ACT = while individual is employed by the library. 
 

    ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 
 
 
 
 

 

Sec. 4  BUILDINGS, GROUNDS & EQUIPMENT 

 
052 Blueprints/Building Plans/Final Specifications EVT    

 
Plans and blueprints give specific construction details for existing buildings, later improvements, asbestos abatement, or new 
construction. They are kept for on-going reference, maintenance, or renovation.   EVT = life of structure. 
 

    ADM. NOTE: The library may want to keep the material for historical purposes after the life of the structure. 
 
 
053 Licenses and Permits     EXP+1   

This file contains legally required permits and licenses for regular operation of the library facilities and services, as well as construction. 
It includes a sales and use tax license and any building and elevator permits. 

 
 
054 Inspection Reports     ACT  

Government officials who have inspected the library facilities generate these reports. Governmental regulations require regular 
inspections by fire and elevator inspectors. Inspection records from renovation projects, asbestos abatement projects, and any legally 
mandated projects should include supporting documentation. ACT = until superseded or equipment/building is not owned by the library. 

 
 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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055 Hazardous Material Safety Data Sheets  ACT+30  
Federal law [OSHA 29 CFR 1910.1200.g] requires that employers provide Material Safety Data Sheets to staff regarding any hazardous 
material on the premises. These sheets include information on product manufacturer, composition, physical and chemical properties, 
identification of hazards, fire hazard, accidental release measures, handling and storage, first aid measures, toxicology, ecological 
information, disposal and transport considerations, as well as any regulatory information. ACT = while the hazardous material being 
used or stored is on library property. 
 

    ADM. NOTE:  These records are maintained where they are readily available by employees working with or near the materials. 
 
 
056 Security Log      CR+3   

The log consists of reports regarding unusual incidents occurring on library property. This log may include or refer to videotaped or eye 
witness accounts, descriptions of damage or injury, dates, times, and nature of the incidents, along with other pertinent information. 
Files may also address further investigations or court proceedings. 

 
 
057 Surveillance Recordings    CR+120 days  

These are visual recordings of activity taking place on library property. 
 
 
058 Vehicle Files      ACT   

These files record financial and maintenance information about individual vehicles in the library fleet. They may include insurance 
documents, and fuel/use records. ACT = life of the vehicle. 

 
 
059 Mobile Collection Schedule    SUP 

These records may include courier routes, stops and scheduled times for each delivery route and the day of the week. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Number 

 
 

 

Sec. 5    HUMAN SERVICES FILES 

 
060 Personnel Files     ACT+6    CONFIDENTIAL 

These files are maintained for each employee and contain records that document all human resource related transactions that occurred 
during the employee's period of active employment. They are used to record employee performance and remuneration, maintain current 
contact information, and keep track of employee benefits (including retirement).   These records document the qualifications possessed 
by the employee to carry out their duties. It includes resumes, letters of reference and/or a signed release for reference, transcripts, 
required licenses, notes and ratings from the job interview, the official letter of hire stating position and salary, performance evaluations, 
any changes to the position and rate of pay for the employee, any disciplinary reviews and outcomes, and requests for change in 
position. Retirement records document the eligibility for and determination of retirement benefits. These files include membership 
applications, notice by the employee of the qualifying event, application to receive retirement benefits, any change of name or address 
forms, and changes in designated beneficiaries forms. Leave records document any intervals in which the employee was not accruing 
retirement benefits. They may include the employee's request for a leave, any supporting documents, and managerial decisions. Life 
insurance files include enrollment and beneficiary forms for life and accidental death insurance plans. ACT = while individual is 
employed by the library. 

 
    ADM. NOTE: When the employee is no longer employed by the library, this series may be kept by the governing municipality. 
 
 
061 Interview Materials for Non-Hires   EVT+4    CONFIDENTIAL 

These files include applications, correspondence, interview notes, and any other material related to the interview process for job 
candidates who were not hired for an open position.  EVT = date of hire. 
 
 

062 Open Application Files    EVT+180 days   CONFIDENTIAL 
Applications for library jobs; some applications may not be solicited.  EVT = date of application. 
 
 

063 Withholding Forms     ACT+5    CONFIDENTIAL 
These files consist of signed federal, state, and local tax withholding forms that are filed with the respective government agencies. They 
may also include forms authorizing savings plans or pledged donations. 
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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064 Health Plan Applications    SUP+1    CONFIDENTIAL 
These files include applications for employee benefits, such as health, dental, vision, long-term disability, accident, and flexible benefit 
plans. 
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

 
 
065 Union Membership     ACT   

These files include all records about the employee's union membership. They may contain membership application forms, authorization 
for payroll deductions for union dues, and requests for non-union status. ACT = until superseded or employment ends 
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 
 
 

066 I-9 File       EVT+3    
Federal Form I-9 includes verification by employers of identity and immigration status of all new employees. Federal code 8 CFR 274A.2 
(1998) requires that employers maintain signed copies of I-9 forms for 3 years after the date of hire or one year after termination, 
whichever is later.  
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 
 

 
067 Staff Work Schedules     ACT+1    

These records consist of schedules of employee hours in order to provide library services during hours of operation. ACT = until the end 
of the pay period. 

 
 
068 Time and Attendance     CR+5    

Time cards, timesheets, etc. and are used to document the attendance and hours worked by date and time. The records may be signed 
by the employee.  
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

  
069 Vacation and Sick Leave Calculator and Report FIS+5  

These records are used to determine the amount of vacation and sick time available to each employee according to the hours worked in 
the pay period. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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070 Time Off/Vacation Requests    FIS+1   
These forms document requests for time off. They may include the date of request and the dates of requested absence. They do not 
include documentation of extended leave without pay, which are kept in the personnel file. 

071 Employee Injury Records    ACT+30   CONFIDENTIAL 
These files consist of any reports of accidents or injuries involving the employee. Libraries are not required to make annual reports to 
OSHA, but must report any incident in which more than three employees are injured (29 CFR 1904.2).  These files may include incident 
reports, medical reports, responses by supervisors and management, requests for medical leave, insurance forms, application for 
continuation of insurance, and any supporting medical documentation. OSHA requires any information pertaining to job-related illness 
and injury to be kept on file for 30 years after the end of the fiscal year in which the event occurred.  These files consist of any reports of 
accident or injury involving exposure to toxic substances or blood-borne pathogens. These files are maintained separately from the 
personnel file. These files may include incident reports, medical reports, responses by supervisors and management, requests for 
medical leave, insurance forms, applications for continuation of insurance, and any supporting medical documentation. Access to these 
files is governed by OSHA 29CFR 1910.1020(d)(1)(i). ACT = while individual is employed by the library. 

 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

072 Grievances      EVT+5  
These files document employee grievances against the library and the resolution of the grievance. EVT = until the grievance is solved. 

073 Union Contract Negotiation Files   EVT+5    
This file documents the negotiations and resulting contract with employee labor unions and is used for referral in subsequent 
negotiations. It may include the following: salary and benefit schedules, ground rules proposals and counter proposals, secondary 
negotiations, meeting minutes or notes, any agreements, draft contracts with changes, and the final contract. EVT = date contract is 
signed into effect. 
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

074 Workers Disability Compensation Files  ACT+30   CONFIDENTIAL 
These files document any claims made for workers disability compensation benefits. They may consist of a copy of the report of the 
incident/injury made by the employee (original is sent to the insurer) and a copy of all reports from the occupational health center. Any 
litigation is kept in a separate file. ACT = until the claim is settled. 
 
ADM. NOTE: This series may be kept by the governing municipality. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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075 Job Descriptions     SUP  
These records document job classification systems and positions. They may include research, surveys, or reviews done to create job 
descriptions, as well as job classifications and selection criteria.  
 

 
076 Volunteer/Community Service Files   ACT    CONFIDENTIAL 

These files document volunteer or community service workers. They may identify assignment locations, hours worked, background 
checks, and training related to the job. Records may include an application, signed forms authorizing the release of employee 
information, correspondence with program officers, timesheets and schedules. ACT = while the individual is participating in the program 
and working at the library. 

 
 
077 Continuing Education & Training   ACT 

These records document on-going training of employees and may include certification material. ACT = while individual is employed by 
the library. 
 
 
 

 
 

Sec. 6    INTEGRATED LIBRARY SYSTEM, ILL & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

078 User Accounts      ACT 
These accounts give library staff access to employee e-mail, calendars, and file space on a library server. The file may include names, 
titles, locations, and phone numbers. ACT = while the employee is on staff. 

  
079 Confidentiality Form     ACT 

Records include employee acknowledgement of security-related responsibilities, such as data confidentiality form or employee 
password security agreements. 
 

080 Logon ID Request Acknowledged by User   EVT+8 
Records that include an acknowledgement of the user responsibilities, date of such acknowledgement and the logon id requested.  EVT 
= departure of employee. 
 

081 Security Reports FIS+3 CONFIDENTIAL 
Records may include the following reports and can be in electronic or paper format: daily events, restricted LID log, info-storage 
violations, info-storage log, data set traces, logging and violations, daily by-pass label processing, resource tracing and violation for all 
platforms and applications. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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082 Network Usage Logs                            FIS+1                   CONFIDENTIAL 
Logs contain information about the use of network services. Libraries determine which logs contain high-risk records, such as those 
providing security information about system usage. Maintain logs that track communications considered to be a risk to the agency based 
on agency operations and the applications affected. The logs may include network operating system logs (such as NT security logging 
etc.) or other network monitoring (such as intrusion detection devices, modem pool logs, central web cache logs, network flows 
generated by routers, firewall logs, DHCP logs, e-mail server logs, web servers logs, NT security logs, UNIX system logs, etc). Retain an 
extended time period if the records are needed to meet other issues, e.g. billing, statistics, etc. 
 
 

083 Electronic Equipment Inventory   FIS+1       
This inventory lists each computer, software license, and peripheral equipment used by library patrons and staff as well as servers, 
network and telecommunications equipment. The inventory may identify the model number, manufacturer, location, connections, 
inventory numbers, type of user, date of purchase, peripherals, software licenses, IP addresses and allocations assigned to each 
device. ACT = while equipment is in use. 

 
 
084 Web/Intranet Files     ACT                               

These files document library intranet and internet sites. These files may include a site map, a list of content on the sites, and who is 
responsible for the content of the site. ACT = while current. 

 
 
085 Library/System Website    ACT  

These websites may include online information about services, hours, library events and programs, links to popular reference resources, 
subscription databases, and provide a gateway to one or more online catalogs. ACT = while website information is current and of use to 
the public and member libraries and their constituents. 
 

 
086 Order Records      CR+4  

These records document acquisitions to the library collections and track new acquisitions. The records may include order lists, 
acquisition records, serial records, vendor records, printouts of online purchase, and electronic ordering data on the integrated library 
system (ILS). 

087 Bibliographic Records     ACT                               
These records contain the basic information about each title in the library collection.  They are maintained in a card catalog system and 
shelf list, or electronically in an ILS. They contain highly structured Machine Readable Catalog (MARC) information including, descriptive 
cataloging and location information. In an ILS, the records may be linked temporarily to confidential patron information during circulation 
of library materials. ACT = while a copy of the title is held by the library.   

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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088 Item Level Record                                                     ACT                               
These records document each individual copy of any title within the collection. The record consists links to a bibliographic record, plus 
the copy number, location, and availability. If it is maintained in the ILS it may also include links to patron information about the current 
and last patron who borrowed the item. However, libraries are encouraged to only retain information about the current circulation 
transaction. When the library possesses only a single copy, the bibliographic record may also serve as the item level record. ACT = 
while the library possesses the item. 

089 Authority Files                                                           ACT       
These files promote consistency of identifying names and subjects according to established rules in bibliographic records. They are 
deleted from an ILS when there is no longer an item to which it can refer (blind reference). ACT = as long as the file references an item 
in the collection. 

090 Patron Registration and Application Forms                  ACT                     CONFIDENTIAL 
Patron registration and applications contain identifying information for each individual, including contact information, who may borrow 
materials or use library resources. The forms may include, registration or policy acknowledgement for other library services or privileges, 
such as acceptable use of the Internet. Cards are typically signed and list personal identifying information.  ACT = while active as 
defined by library policies and procedures. 

091 Patron Database                                                        ACT                     CONFIDENTIAL  
Identifying information from the patron registration forms, including a card number, is entered into the ILS. In conjunction with the ILS, 
patron records identify the items currently borrowed, fines, holds, and special privileges or other information. ACT = until the card 
expires without renewal and all items are returned and fines paid, per library policy. 

092 Overdue Notices     ACT    CONFIDENTIAL  
These notices are sent to patrons to remind them to return borrowed items. Notices may be generated manually or automatically by the 
ILS. ACT = until fines are paid or are written off, per library or system policy. 

093 Library Use Reports                                 CR+1                             
These detailed reports summarize acquisition, interlibrary loan activity, catalog and circulation activities. 

094 Online Union Catalogs     ACT   
Systems may provide online access to the combined catalogs of member libraries. 
 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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095 Interlibrary Loan Records                                          ACT                     CONFIDENTIAL 
These records track the request and return of library items with libraries outside the local ILS. The requests may be made manually, but 
are generally made and filled through a shared automated system. Records indicate when and where the item was sent, when it is due 
back, and when it was returned. ACT = until the item is received by the lending library. 

096 ILL Requests by Member Libraries-non-ILS             ACT+30 days            CONFIDENTIAL             
The computer system may include fields for items shipped, unfilled requests, conditional loans, renewal requests, and returns through 
WISCAT or other non-ILS system. Library staff checks these fields to process requests and record any information about the request on 
the printout. Printed copies of these transactions are kept in an active file until the item is returned, plus an additional month in an 
inactive file. May contain confidential patron information. ACT = until the item is returned. 

097 Interlibrary Loan Requests from Non-Member           ACT+30 days                        CONFIDENTIAL 
             Libraries 

These requests are received in the pending data file of the ILL system. They list the requesting library, title and other bibliographic 
information, as well as any notes regarding the request. This form is printed and a lending library is sought through the System's ILL 
system. Member libraries holding the item are entered, and the ILL system automates the request. The printout of the item, with the 
lending library code, is kept by the System in a loan file. If the request cannot be filled within the System, a note is attached in the reply 
stating the reason why the item is not currently available. May contain confidential patron information. ACT = until the item is borrowed 
and returned. 

098 Log of ILL Transactions                       CR+1                 
This document lists information of ILL activity, date shipped, place shipped from and to, the title, and the date it was returned for all 
requests by member libraries. This log is a source document for monthly statistics. 

099 Monthly ILL Transactions-Borrowing Statistics CR+1     
These reports summarize the number of items borrowed by member libraries. They list the number of books, photocopies, other media 
materials, and totals for each month. They also summarize the lending source, the items unfilled, and the completed requests during the 
current fiscal year. A copy of this report may be submitted to the board each month and filed with the board packet. 

100 Monthly Statistics on Items Lent by                           CR+5     
                        Member Libraries 

These detailed reports summarize the number of requests shipped from individual member libraries. It may also include the total 
requests shipped, unfilled requests, and total requests. This document lists the total items requested and shipped by month through 
WISCAT, OCLC and the ILS ILL system. A copy of this report is submitted to the board each month and is filed with the board packet. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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101 Interlibrary Loan (ILL) Reference Codes                        ACT                               
These documents list ILL codes for member libraries in order to facilitate ILL requests. The lists may include OCLC and System codes, 
codes and or e-mail addresses of member libraries that participate the rapid journal article transmission service. Other documents may 
specify the policies of various libraries regarding the loan of materials such as reference books, audio, CDs, video, etc. ACT = while 
information is current and useful for administration of the program. 

102 ILL Periodical Title Requests    FIS+5 
This list of periodical titles, date of articles and the number of requests per year is maintained for copyright compliance by the requesting 
library. 

 
 
 

 

Sec. 7  DEPARTMENTAL RECORDS 

103 Internet, Equipment or Room Use Agreements         ACT                     CONFIDENTIAL  
These documents are signed by patrons and may include personal or financial identification information or library barcode number. The 
document establishes that the patron agrees to abide by the library's policies. The agreements may include a date, name, signature, 
birth date, and contact information. A parent's signature may be required for minors.  ACT = Agreements are retained until the patron's 
registration (see item #90) expires.  

104 Computer Use Schedules                                          EVT                       CONFIDENTIAL 
These sign-up lists for use of computer terminals may include a name, start time, and the computer assigned. Reservations and time 
constraints may be managed by software or via the ILS.    EVT = end of business day. 

105 Reference Statistics     ACT    
These records document the number of reference inquiries and may include online queries. ACT = while of use to the agency. 

106 Reference Requests & Responses   90 days or until no longer needed CONFIDENTIAL  
This series documents research or scholarly requests for information about or access to items within the institution's collections. This 
series may include requestor’s name, address, and telephone number; the nature/explanation of the requests; use/purpose of the 
requests; date of receipt and completion of the request; staff member handling the request; amount of time spent on handling the 
request; disposition of the request; and related documentation and correspondence.  Transitory or routine correspondence/requests are 
dealt with in series 90500005 of the State of Wisconsin’s “General Records Schedule: Common Records in Wisconsin State Agencies 
and Local Units of Government”. ACT = date of completion. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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107 Publicity, Design, and Production Requests  CR+1   
These records document requests for marketing or publicity materials. Documents may include the originating location, staff, and date. 
The documents may also describe the event to be publicized, a description of the work product needed, and the number of copies. 
These records may track when the work is completed and sent to the person requesting the job.  

 
 
108 Publicity and Programming Files   CR+1 

These files provide information about specific library programs or events.  These files may contain a copy of materials developed for 
publicity and programming, and evaluation forms. They may also include any contacts or purchase orders for the event, the number and 
distribution sites of publicity materials, and schedules.  Files documenting performances may include promotional literature, printouts 
from performer websites, press releases, notes, permission/consent to photograph forms signed by attendees, any donation requests, 
correspondence, and flyers.  A copy of any performer contract may be kept in contract files.  These files may include subject files about 
performers in general, copies of flyers or other promotional ephemera.   

 
ADM. NOTE: Attendance sheets and reservations that include individuals’ names should be destroyed after compilation of statistics for 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 43.30. Libraries are encouraged to keep some of these materials permanently, particularly more popular 
events and/or activities, for an historical perspective. 

 
 

109 Photographs      ACT 
These images of library events are kept to document library activities and/or to accompany press releases.  A clearance signed by the 
subject of the image to reproduce the image should be kept with the photograph.  ACT = while of value, keep some permanently as part 
of historical file. 

 
 

110 Contest Entry Forms     ACT+30 days 
These forms are used to award prizes for contests.  They may include names, contact information, school, grade, and age.  They may 
accompany original art or writing samples.  ACT = until determination of the contest winner. 
 
 

111 Exhibit Files      EVT+1 
These records describe a library exhibit and document which items were used to create it.  The files may include photographs of the 
exhibit, lists of materials used, any loan agreements for the exhibit materials, and dates the exhibit was shown.  EVT = until the exhibit 
closes; a library may decide to keep permanently as part of historical file. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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112 Library Publicity and Historical Files   PERM 
These records document the history of the library and any community libraries that merged to form the existing library.  These files may 
contain scrapbooks, photographs, newspaper clippings, memorabilia, and flyers from various events. 

113 Library Newsletters     CR+3  
These publications are created to inform the public and staff of events, policies, and other matters of interest to the library. They may 
include programming calendars, updates on electronic resources, or changes in library policies.  

 
ADM. NOTE: A library may decide to keep permanently as part of the historical file. 

114 Press Releases     ACT   
Only the official press release and related topical indexes need to be retained permanently. ACT = while of reference value to the 
library. Some press releases should be preserved permanently to document the institutional memory of the library. 

115 Archival - Donor Files     PERM   
These files document the donation of materials to an archival collection. They may include a signed deed of gift, any correspondence 
pertaining to the donation, a list of the contents of the collection, and donor contact information. 

116 Archival – Accession/Deaccession Records  PERM    
These records document the transfer of legal and physical custody of materials (photographs, documents, objects, printed materials, 
furniture, etc.) to and from the local history collection. It may include the date of transfer, name of and brief biographical information 
about the donor/creator, a brief description of the extent and contents of each box/container, documentation transferring intellectual 
property rights to the library, the accession number of the collection, information about the acquisition price and existence of copies, any 
restrictions on use of the collection, notes, and the date that a letter of acknowledgement was sent. 

117 Archival - Processing Files    PERM    
These files contain information about what is retained or deaccessioned during the processing of each collection that has been 
accessioned. 

118 Archival - Finding Aids    ACT   
These access tools constitute the official inventory and description of a processed collection. They are used to facilitate research and 
include the title of the collection, span dates, size/extent of the collection, a brief description of the collection and history of or 
biographical notes about the creator. Where relevant, they also include a content list of items within the collection. ACT = while 
collection is retained. 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Page 22 Adopted by the Public Records Board, 2/27/2006 

Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

 
 

 
 

Sec. 8  LIBRARY SYSTEMS/SHARED AUTOMATED SYSTEMS RECORDS 

ADM. NOTE: This section includes records unique to library systems and shared automated systems in Wisconsin. See the above seven 
sections for materials related to the governing body, administrative files, financial files, buildings, grounds & equipment, human 
services files, ILS, ILL, IT, and departmental records.  
 
 
119 Plan of Service      PERM    

The plan identifies the services that are offered by the library system, and the budget for other services.  The system board approves 
the plan and it must also be approved by DLTCL.  
 

 
120 System Advisory Board Meeting Records  PERM    

Library system board, advisory committee, and/or membership meeting records document all matters brought before those governing 
bodies. Records may include an agenda, treasurer's report, minutes, and any committee reports. They also include any supporting 
documents relating to agenda items. 
 

 
121 Membership Lists     ACT   

These lists contain contact information for member libraries. ACT = while the information is current. 
 
 

122 Materials Collection Records    ACT  
These files contain current lists of materials available for circulation. Collections may include professional collections, supplemental 
materials, AV materials, or rotating collections.  The collections may be for general circulation to all member libraries, or may be 
available to local collections on a rotation basis. ACT = while information is current and useful for reference. 
 
 

123 Rotating Collection Inventories   ACT    
These records document system-owned materials. Boxed collections of materials rotate from library to library on a monthly basis. Each 
box contains a copy of the box inventory listing the material description. When the box is returned, all items are checked, broken items 
are replaced, and the inventory is updated.  ACT = while information is current and useful for reference. 

 
 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Adopted by the Public Records Board, 2/27/2006   Page 23 

 
Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

124 Materials Circulation Summary   CR+5   
This report lists the circulation or distribution information from the system holdings to borrowers or member libraries’ temporary holding 
status.  

125 Document Delivery Service Forms   ACT    
These forms document ILL items that are in transit. The forms list all libraries on courier routes and hub connections with other state, 
system, school district, and private courier services. The form stating the destination is attached to each ILL item. The forms do not 
include any information about the item. ACT = while item is in transit. 

126 Delivery and Mobile Collections Schedule  SUP    
These records list the courier routes, stops, and times for each delivery route and the day of the week.  

127 Training and Workshop Records   ACT+5   
These files include materials used to teach workshops such as handouts, electronic presentations, and other documents created by 
system training staff. They may also include preparation files or subject files, and information about workshop leaders and their 
offerings, but do not include contracts. ACT = while workshop is included in the curriculum. 

128 Workshop Calendars and Flyers   SUP    
These materials publicize workshop offerings and are mailed statewide to participants of previous workshops. They are also mailed 
electronically to all system directors and are posted on the system website. Flyers may include titles, dates, times, locations, course 
descriptions, presenter information, general information, and registration forms. 

129 Registration Forms     ACT    
These forms accompany payments for workshops, and are used when applying for Continuing Education Units (CEUs). The forms and 
a photocopy of the payment are used to compare attendance and fees received. The forms may include names, contact information, 
and library membership. ACT = until attendee completes workshop. 

130 Workshop Statistics     CR+3   
This summary of training room events may include workshop titles, dates, CEUs granted, number of attendees, revenue received, 
expenses and the net income. Attendance and income/expense/net profit is totaled monthly and annually according to the system's 
fiscal year. 

 
 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Page 24 Adopted by the Public Records Board, 2/27/2006 

Item Series Title Total Retention Confidentiality 
Number 

 
 
 
 

Sec. 9    MISCELLANEOUS RECORDS 
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Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded    EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Summary of Approved Record Retention Guidelines ● Feb. 27, 2006 
 
Series 

Number Series Title Retention Confidentiality 
001 Bylaws PERM  
002 Policy Manual SUP+2  
003 Annual Reports-to the Board &/or Municipality PERM  
004 Annual Reports-to the State (Division of Libraries, 

Technology and Community Learning 
PERM  

005 Minutes and Meeting Materials PERM  
006 General Correspondence CR+2  
007 Director/Assistant Director’s Reports CR+2  
008 Subject Files ACT+5  
009 Meeting Records-Internal Staff CR+2  
010 Procedures SUP  
011 Planners/Calendars ACT  
012 Donor File-Monetary Donations CR+3  
013 Donor File-Property Donations ACT+2  
014 Grant Files FIS+4  
015 Accident Reports/Claims CR+7  
016 Patron Incident and Disciplinary Files ACT+5 CONFIDENTIAL 
017 Purchase Request ACT+1 CONFIDENTIAL 
018 Compliments/Complaints/Suggestions ACT+1  
019 Request for Reconsideration of Library Materials ACT+6  
020 Strategic Planning-Development Documentation SUP  
021 Strategic Planning-Final Approved Plan PERM  
022 Open Records Requests EVT+1  
023 Contracts EXP+4  
024 Leases EXP+4  
025 Legal Opinions SUP+5  
026 Litigation Files ACT+5  
027 Staff/System Newsletters ACT  
028 Final Annual Budget FIS+10  
029 Budget Documentation FIS+5  
030 Annual Financial Report/Audit FIS+10  
031 Monthly Financial Reports FIS+4  
032 Accounts Payable/Receivable FIS+4  
033 Journal Entries/General Ledger FIS+4  
034 Balance Sheet FIS+4  
035 Deposit Slips and Cancelled Checks FIS+4  
036 Invoices FIS+4  
037 Purchase/Order Records FIS+4  
038 Sales Records FIS+4  
039 Cash Receipts FIS+4  
040 Petty Cash Vouchers FIS+4  
041 Bank Statements and Reconciliation FIS+4  
042 Annual Inventory and Depreciation Schedules FIS+4  
043 State Tax Returns FIS+4  
044 Payroll Deduction/Liability Records FIS+4 CONFIDENTIAL 
045 Insurance Policies EXP+6  
046 Requests for Bids, Proposals and RFP EVT+4  
047 W-2 Forms FIS+4 CONFIDENTIAL 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded     
EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Series 
Number Series Title Retention Confidentiality 
048 Employer Contributions to Retirement Accounts FIS+4  
049 Electronic Funds Transfer ACT+1 CONFIDENTIAL 
050 Payroll Summaries FIS+4  
051 Payroll Records ACT+5 CONFIDENTIAL 
052 Blueprints/Building Plans/Final Specifications EVT  
053 Licenses and Permits EXP+1  
054 Inspection Reports ACT  
055 Hazardous Material Safety Data Sheets ACT+30  
056 Security Log CR+3  
057 Surveillance Recordings CR+120 days  
058 Vehicle Files ACT  
059 Mobile Collection Schedule SUP  
060 Personnel Files ACT+6 CONFIDENTIAL 
061 Interview Materials for Non-Hires EVT+4 CONFIDENTIAL 
062 Open Application Files EVT+180 days CONFIDENTIAL 
063 Withholding Forms ACT+5 CONFIDENTIAL 
064 Health Plan Applications SUP+1 CONFIDENTIAL 
065 Union Membership ACT  
066 I-9 File EVT+3  
067 Staff Work Schedules ACT+1  
068 Time and Attendance CR+5  
069 Vacation and Sick Leave Calculator and Report FIS+5  
070 Time Off/Vacation Requests FIS+1  
071 Employee Injury Records ACT+30 CONFIDENTIAL 
072 Grievances EVT+5  
073 Union Contract Negotiation Files EVT+5  
074 Workers Disability Compensation Files ACT+30 CONFIDENTIAL 
075 Job Descriptions SUP  
076 Volunteer/Community Service Files ACT CONFIDENTIAL 
077 Continuing Education and Training ACT  
078 User Accounts ACT  
079 Confidentiality Form ACT  
080 Logon ID Request Acknowledged by User EVT+8  
081 Security Reports FIS+3 CONFIDENTIAL 
082 Network Usage Logs FIS+1 CONFIDENTIAL 
083 Electronic Equipment Inventory FIS+1  
084 Web/Intranet Files ACT  
085 Library/System Website ACT  
086 Order Records CR+4  
087 Bibliographic Records ACT  
088 Item Level Record ACT  
089 Authority Files ACT  
090 Patron Registration and Application Forms ACT CONFIDENTIAL 
091 Patron Database ACT CONFIDENTIAL 
092 Overdue Notices ACT CONFIDENTIAL 
093 Library Use Reports CR+1  
094 Online Union Catalogs ACT  
095 Interlibrary Loan Records ACT CONFIDENTIAL 
096 ILL Requests by Member Libraries-non-ILS ACT+0/1 CONFIDENTIAL 
097 ILL Requests from Non-Member Libraries ACT+0/1 CONFIDENTIAL 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded     
EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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Series 
Number Series Title Retention Confidentiality 
098 Log of ILL Transactions CR+1  
099 Monthly ILL Transactions-Borrowing Statistics CR+1  
100 Monthly Statistics on Items Lent by Member 

Libraries 
CR+5  

101 Interlibrary Loan Reference Codes ACT  
102 ILL Periodical Title Requests FIS+5  
103 Internet, Equipment or Room Use Agreements ACT CONFIDENTIAL 
104 Computer Use Schedules EVT CONFIDENTIAL 
105 Reference Statistics ACT  
106 Reference Requests & Responses ACT          CONFIDENTIAL 
107 Publicity Design, and Production Requests CR+1  
108 Publicity and Programming Files CR+3  
109 Photographs ACT  
110 Contest Entry Forms ACT+30 days  
111 Exhibit Files EVT+3  
112 Library Publicity and Historical Files PERM  
113 Library Newsletters CR+3  
114 Press Releases ACT  
115 Archival-Donor Files PERM  
116 Archival-Accession/Deaccession Records PERM  
117 Archival-Processing Files PERM  
118 Archival-Finding Aids ACT  
119 Plan of Service PERM  
120 System Meeting Records PERM  
121 Membership Lists ACT  
122 16 mm Film & Video Collection Records ACT  
123 Rotating Collection Inventories ACT  
124 Film/Video Circulation Summary CR+5  
125 Document Delivery Service Forms ACT  
126 Delivery and Mobile Collections Schedule SUP  
127 Training and Workshop Records ACT+5  
128 Workshop Calendars and Flyers SUP  
129 Registration Forms ACT  
130 Workshop Statistics CR+3  
 

Key to Retention Periods (numbers represent years unless stated otherwise): 
ACT = Active    CR = Creation    EXP = Expiration    FIS = Fiscal Year    SUP = Superseded     
EVT = Event    PERM= Permanent 
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1.08.010 
 
 
 Chapter 1.08 

 

 PUBLIC RECORDS 

 

 

Sections: 

 

1.08.010  Definitions. 

1.08.020  Duty to maintain records. 

1.08.030  Legal custodians. 

1.08.040  Public access to records. 

1.08.050  Access procedures. 

1.08.060  Limitations on right to access. 

1.08.070  Destruction of records. 

1.08.080  Lesser time, when authorized. 

1.08.090  Preservation through reproduction methods. 

 

1.08.010  Definitions.  In this chapter, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 
A.  "Authority" means any of the following entities having custody of a city record: an office, elected 

official, agency, board, commission, committee, council, department or public body corporate and politic 
created by construction, law, ordinance, rule or order; or a formally constituted subunit of the foregoing. 

B.  "Custodian" means that officer, department head, division head, or employee of the city designated 
under Section 1.08.030 or otherwise responsible by law to keep and preserve any city records or file, deposit 
or keep such records in his or her office, or is lawfully in possession or entitled to possession of such public 
records and who is required by this chapter to respond to requests for access to such records. 
C.  "Record" means any material on which written, drawn, printed, spoken, visual or electromagnetic 
information is recorded or preserved, regardless of physical form or characteristics, which has been created or 
is being kept by an authority.  "Record" includes, but is not limited to, handwritten, typed or printed pages, 
maps, charts, photographs, films, recordings, tapes (including computer tapes), and computer printouts.  
“Record" does not include drafts, notes, preliminary computations and like materials prepared for the 
originator's personal use or prepared by the originator in the name of a person for whom the originator is 
working; materials which are purely the personal property of the custodian and have no relation to his or her 
office; materials to which access is limited by copyright, patent or bequest; and published materials in the 
possession of an authority other than a public library which are available for sale, or which are available for 
inspection at a public library.  (Ord. 4328, 1983). 
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1.08.020--1.08.040 
 
 
 
 
 

1.08.020  Duty to Maintain Records.  A.  Except as provided under section 1.08.070, each officer 
and employee of the city shall safely keep and preserve all records received from his or her predecessor or 
other persons and required by law to be filed, deposited or kept in his or her office or which are in the lawful 
possession or control of the officer or employee or his or her deputies, or to the possession or control of which 
he or she or they may be lawfully entitled as such officers or employees. 

B.  Upon the expiration of an officer's term of office or an employee's term of employment, or 
whenever the office or position of employment becomes vacant, each such officer or employee shall deliver to 
his or her successor all records then in his or her custody and the successor shall receipt therefor to the officer 
or employee, who shall file said receipt with the city clerk.  If a vacancy occurs before a successor is selected 
or qualifies, such records shall be delivered to and receipted for by the clerk, on behalf of the successor, to be 
delivered to such successor upon the latter's receipt. (Ord. 4328, 1983). 
 

1.08.030  Legal Custodians.  A.  Each elected official is the legal custodian of his or her records and 
the records of his or her office, but the official may designate an employee of his or her staff to act as the legal 
custodian. 

B.  Unless otherwise prohibited by law, the city clerk or the clerk's designee shall act as legal 
custodian for the city council and for any committees, commissions, boards, or other authorities created by 
ordinance or resolution of the city council. 

C.  For every authority not specified in subsections A. or B., the authority's chief administrative officer 
is the legal custodian for the authority, but the officer may designate an employee of his or her staff to act as 
the legal custodian. 

D.  Each legal custodian shall name a person to act as legal custodian in his or her absence or in the 
absence of his or her designee. 

E.  The legal custodian shall have full legal power to render decisions and to carry out the duties of an 
authority under subchapter II of Chapter 19, Wisconsin Statutes, and this section.  The designation of a legal 
custodian shall not affect the powers and duties of an authority under this section.  (Ord. 4328, 1983). 
 

1.08.040  Public Access to Records.  A.  Except as provided in section 1.08.060, any person has a 
right to inspect a record and to make or receive a copy of any record as provided in section 19.35(1), 
Wisconsin Statutes. 

B.  Records shall be available for inspection and copying during all regular office hours. 
C.  If regular office hours are not maintained at the location where records are kept, the records will be 

available for inspection and copying upon at least 48 hours' advance notice of intent to inspect or copy. 
D.  A requester shall be permitted to use facilities comparable to those available to city employees to 

inspect, copy or abstract a record. 
E.  The legal custodian may require supervision during inspection or may impose other reasonable 

restrictions on the manner or access to an original record if the record is irreplaceable or easily damaged. 
F.  A requester shall be charged a fee to defray the cost of locating and copying records as follows: 
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 1.08.050 
 
 
 
 

1.  The cost of photocopying shall be as stated in the City of Eau Claire Fees and Licenses 
Schedule.  Other costs may be imposed not to exceed the actual, necessary and direct cost of reproduction 
and transcription of the record. 

2.  If the form of a written record does not permit copying, the actual and necessary 
cost of photographing and photographic processing shall be charged. 

3.  The actual full cost of providing a copy of other records not in printed form on paper, such 
as films, computer printouts and audio- or video-tapes, shall be charged. 

4.  If mailing or shipping is necessary, the actual cost thereof shall also be charged. 
5.  There shall be no charge for locating a record unless the actual cost therefor exceeds 

$50.00, in which case the actual cost shall be determined by the legal custodian and billed to the requester.  
Such actual cost shall be derived by multiplying the actual hourly wage of the employee or employees 
conducting the search, including fringe benefits, by the amount of time spent in the search. 

6.  The legal custodian shall estimate the cost of all applicable fees and may require a cash 
deposit adequate to assure payment, if such estimate exceeds $5.00. 

7.  Elected and appointed officials of the city of Eau Claire shall not be required to pay for 
public records they may reasonably require for the proper performance of their official duties. 

8.  The legal custodian may provide copies of a record without charge or at a reduced charge 
where he or she determines that waiver or reduction of the fee is in the public interest. 

G.  Pursuant to Section 19.34, Wisconsin Statutes, and the guidelines therein listed, each authority 
shall adopt, prominently display and make available for inspection and copying at its offices, for the guidance 
of the public, a notice containing a description of its organization and the established times and places at 
which the legal custodian from whom, and the methods whereby, the public may obtain information and 
access to records in its custody, make requests for records, or obtain copies of records, and the costs thereof. 
This subsection does not apply to members of the city council. (Ord. 6363 §1, 2002; Ord. 4331, 1983; Ord. 
4328, 1983). 
 

1.08.050  Access Procedures.  A.  A request to inspect or copy a record shall be made to the legal 
custodian.  A request shall be deemed sufficient if it reasonably describes the requested record or the 
information requested.  However, a request for a record without a reasonable limitation as to subject matter or 
length of time represented by the record does not constitute a sufficient request.  A request may be made 
orally, but a request must be in writing before an action to enforce the request is commenced under Section 
19.37, Wisconsin Statutes.  Except as provided below, no request may be refused because the person 
making the request is unwilling to be identified or to state the purpose of the request.  No request may be 
refused because the request is received by mail, unless prepayment of a fee is required under Section 
1.08.040 F.6.  A requester may be required to show acceptable identification whenever the requested record is 
kept at a private residence or whenever security reasons or federal law or regulations so require. 

B.  Each custodian, upon request for any record, shall, as soon as practicable and without delay, 
either fill the request or notify the requester of the authority's determination to deny the request in whole or in 
part and the reasons therefor.  If the legal custodian, after conferring with the city attorney, determines that a 
written request is so general as to be unduly time consuming, the party making the request may first be 
required to itemize his or her request in a manner which would permit reasonable compliance. 

C.  A request for a record may be denied as provided in section 1.08.060.  If a request is made orally, 
the request may be denied orally unless a demand for a written statement of the reasons denying the request 
is made by the requester within 5 business days of the oral denial.  If a written request is denied in whole or in 
part, the requester shall receive a written statement of the reasons for denying the request.  Every written 
denial of a request shall inform the requester that if the request for the record was made in writing, then the 
determination is subject to review upon petition for a writ of mandamus under section 19.37(1), Wisconsin 
Statutes, or upon application to the attorney general or a district attorney.  (Ord. 4328, 1983). 
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1.08.060--1.08.070 
 
 
 
 

1.08.060  Limitations on Right to Access.  A.  As provided by section 19.36, Wisconsin Statutes, 
the following records are exempt from inspection under this section: 

1.  Records specifically exempted from disclosure by state or federal law; 
2.  Any record relating to investigative information obtained for law enforcement purposes if 

federal law or regulations requires exemption from disclosure or if exemption from disclosure is a condition to 
receipt of aids by the state; 

3.  Computer programs, although the material used as input for a computer program or the 
material produced as a product of the computer program is subject to inspection; and 

4.  A record or any portion of a record containing information qualifying as a common law 
trade secret. 

B.  As provided by section 43.30, Wisconsin Statutes, public library circulation records are exempt 
from inspection under this section. 

C.  In responding to a request for inspection or copying of a record which is not specifically exempt 
from disclosure, the legal custodian, after conferring with the city attorney, may deny the request, in whole or in 
part, only if he or she determines that the harm to the public interest resulting from disclosure would outweigh 
the public interest in full access to the requested record.  Examples of matters for which disclosure may be 
refused include, but are not limited to, the following: 

1.  Records obtained under official pledges of confidentiality which were necessary and given 
in order to obtain the information contained in them. 

2.  Records of current deliberations after a quasi-judicial hearing. 
3.  Records of current deliberations concerning employment, dismissal, promotion, demotion, 

compensation, performance, or discipline of any city officer or employee, or the investigation of charges 
against a city officer or employee, unless such officer or employee consents to such disclosure. 

4.  Records concerning current strategy for crime detection or prevention. 
5.  Records of current deliberations or negotiations on the purchase of city property, investing 

of city funds, or other city business whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require nondisclosure. 
6.  Financial, medical, social or personal histories or disciplinary data of specific persons 

which, if disclosed, would be likely to have a substantial adverse effect upon the reputation of any person 
referred to in such history or data. 

7.  Communications between legal counsel for the city and any officer, agent or employee of 
the city, when advice is being rendered concerning strategy with respect to current litigation in which the city or 
any of its officers, agents or employees is or is likely to become involved, or communications which are 
privileged under section 905.03, Wisconsin Statutes. 

D.  If a record contains information that may be made public and information that may not be made 
public, the custodian of the record shall provide the information that may be made public and delete the 
information that may not be made public from the record before release.  The custodian shall confer with the 
city attorney prior to releasing any such record and shall follow the guidance of the city attorney when 
separating out the exempt material.  If in the judgment of the custodian and the city attorney there is no 
feasible way to separate the exempt material from the nonexempt material without unreasonably jeopardizing 
nondisclosure of the exempt material, the entire record shall be withheld from disclosure.  (Ord. 4328, 1983). 
 

1.08.070  Destruction of Records.  A.  City officers may destroy the following non-utility financial 
records of which they are the legal custodians and which are considered obsolete, after completion of any 
required audit by the bureau of municipal audit or an auditor licensed under chapter 442 of the Wisconsin 
Statutes, but not less than 7 years after payment or receipt of any sum involved in the particular transaction, 
unless a shorter period has been fixed by the state public records board pursuant to section 16.61(3)(e), 
Wisconsin Statutes, and then after such shorter period: 
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 1.08.070 
 
 
 
 

1.  Bank statements, deposit books, slips and stubs; 
2.  Bonds and coupons after maturity; 
3.  Cancelled checks, duplicates and check stubs; 
4.  License and permit applications, stubs and duplicates; 
5.  Official bonds; 
6.  Payrolls and other time and employment records of personnel included under the 

Wisconsin Retirement System (subject to approval of the city manager); 
7.  Receipt forms; 
8.  Special assessment records (subject to approval of city manager); 
9.  Vouchers, requisitions, purchase orders and all other supporting documents pertaining 

thereto; 
B.  City officers may destroy the following utility records of which they are the legal custodians and 

which are considered obsolete after completion of any required audit by the bureau of municipal audit or an 
auditor licensed under chapter 442 of the Wisconsin Statutes, subject to state public service commission 
regulations, but not less than 7 years after the record was effective unless a shorter period has been fixed by 
the state public records board pursuant to section 16.61(3)(e) Wisconsin Statutes, and then after such a 
shorter period, except that water stubs, receipts of current billings and customers' ledgers may be destroyed 
after two years. 

1.  Contracts; 
2.  Excavation permits; 
3.  Inspection records; 
4. Vouchers and supporting documents pertaining to charges not included in plant accounts; 
5.  Other utility records with the prior written approval of the Public Service Commission. 

C.  City officers may destroy the following records of the city but not less than 3 years after the 
incurring of the liability which is the subject of the record: 

1.  Parking tickets; 
2.  Miscellaneous accounts receivable. 

D.  City officers may destroy the following records of which they are the legal custodian and which are 
considered obsolete, but not less than 7 years after the record was effective unless another period has been 
set by statute, and then after such a period, or unless a shorter period has been fixed by the state public 
records board pursuant to section 16.61(3)(e), Wisconsin Statutes, and then after such a shorter period. 

1.  Assessment rolls and related records, including board of review minutes; 
2.  Contracts and papers relating thereto; 
3.  Correspondence and communications; 
4.  Election notices; 
5.  Financial reports other than annual financial reports; 
6.  Insurance policies; 
7.  Justice dockets; 
8.  Oaths of office; 
9.  Reports of boards, commissions, committees and officials duplicated in the official council 

minutes; 
10.  Resolutions and petitions; 
11.  Voter registration cards; 
12.  Uniform traffic citations; 
13.  Police department firearms scores; 
14.  City ordinance citations; 
15.  Library patron and circulation records; 
16.  Other records of the city not enumerated above. 
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1.08.080--1.08.090 
 
 
 
 

E.  Unless notice is waived by the state historical society, at least 60 days' notice shall be given the 
state historical society prior to the destruction of any record as provided by section 19.21(4)(a), Wisconsin 
Statutes. 

F.  Any tape recordings of a governmental meeting of the city, made by the city, may be destroyed, 
erased or reused no sooner than 90 days after the minutes of the meeting have been approved and published, 
if the purpose of the recording was to make minutes of the meeting.   

G.  Any tape recordings of telephone calls, radio transmissions or other methods of communication 
recorded in the city's communications center may be erased, destroyed or reused after 125 days. 

H.  Closed call records associated with the computer aided dispatch (CAD) system in the city's 
communication center and mobile data computer (MDC) data logs may be deleted and destroyed after 120 
days. 

I.  No record may be destroyed at any time after the receipt of a request for inspection or copying of 
the record under s. 19.35(1), Wis. Stats., until after the request is granted or until at least 60 days after the 
date that the request is denied or, if the requester is an incarcerated person, until at least 90 days after the 
date that the request is denied.  If the city receives written notice that an action relating to a record has been 
commenced under s. 19.37, Wis. Stats., the record may not be destroyed until after the order of the court in 
relation to such record is issued and the deadline for appealing that order has passed or, if appealed, until 
after the order of the court hearing the appeal is issued.  If the court orders the production of any record and 
the order is not appealed, the record may not be destroyed until after the request for inspection or copying is 
granted.  (Ord. 5843, 1998; Ord. 5737, 1997; Ord. 5357, 1993; Ord. 5131, 1991; Ord. 4563, 1985; Ord. 4328, 
1983). 
 

1.08.080  Lesser time, when authorized.  This chapter shall not be construed to authorize the 
destruction of any public record after a period less than prescribed by statute or state administrative 
regulations.  (Ord. 4328, 1983). 
 

1.08.090  Preservation through reproduction methods.  Any city officer, or the director of any 
department or division of city government may, subject to the approval of the city manager, keep and preserve 
public records in his or her possession by means of microfilm, optical disk, electronic format, or other 
reproduction method technology permits.  Such records shall meet the standards for reproduction set forth in 
section 16.61(7)(a) and (b), Wisconsin Statutes, and shall be considered original records for all purposes.  
Such records shall be preserved along with other files of the department or division and shall be open to public 
inspection and copying according to the provisions of state law and of Section 1.08.040 through 1.08.060.  
(Ord. 6606, 2005; Ord. 4328, 1983). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(Eau Claire 6/2005) 10 
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Wisconsin Statutes 

 

 

 

 

 Section 43.30 

 

Records of any library which is in whole or in part supported by 

public funds, including the records of a public library system, 

indicating which of its documents or other materials have been 

loaned to or used by an identifiable individual may not be 

disclosed except to persons acting within the scope of their duties 

in the administration of the library or library system or persons 

authorized by the individual to inspect such records, or by order 

of a court of law. 
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NOTIFICATION OF ADOPTION OF 
PUBLIC LIBRARY/PUBLIC LIBRARY SYSTEM 

RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 
 

1. Complete and send the original and 2 copies to: State Archivist, State Historical Society of Wisconsin, 816 State St., 
Madison, WI 53706. 

2. Destruction of records according to the general schedule is NOT permitted until this form is signed by the State Historical 
Society of Wisconsin and, for records less than 7 years old, the Wisconsin Public Records Board. 

 
Library/Library System 
 
 
 
 

Telephone (Area Code/Number) 

Address  (Street, City, ZIP) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This is to notify the State Historical Society of Wisconsin and the Wisconsin Public Records Board that the library/library system 
named above has officially adopted the Public Library/Public Library System Records Retention Schedule.  Libraries and Systems are 
advised to adopt the entire schedule.  If this is not possible, individual sections may be adopted.  Check appropriate box(es). 
 

� The Library/System adopts the entire schedule. 
 

� The Library/System adopts only the following sections: 
 

� Board/Governing Body Records  � Integrated Library System, Interlibrary Loan & 
     Information Technology Records 

� Administrative Records   � Departmental Records 
 

� Financial Records   � Library System/Shared System Records 
 

� Buildings, Grounds & Equipment  � Miscellaneous Records 
 

� Human Services Records 
 
 

� The Library/System has developed its own schedule (attached). 
 

� The Library/System has modified the schedule (modifications attached). 
 

Name of Library/System Official (Print or Type) 
 
 
 
 

Title 
 

Signature of Library/System Official 
 
 
 
� 
 

Date Signed (Month/Day/Year) 

 
The Wisconsin Public Records Board and the State Historical Society of Wisconsin acknowledge your Notification of Adoption of the 
Public Library/Public Library System Record Retention Schedule.  The State Historical Society waives the sixty-day notification period 
specified in s. 19.21, 2003-04 Wis. Stat. for records listed in this schedule.  You are hereby authorized to retain, transfer, and dispose 
of records as indicated on the schedule. 

 
State Archivist                                               Date Signed 
 
 
� 
 

Executive Secretary- PRB                             Date Signed 
 
 
� 

 
Restrictions on records destruction contained in Wis. Stat. § 19.35(5) (Open Records Law), apply prior to destruction.  No records 
should be destroyed if a request for inspection or copying is pending or if litigation involving these records has commenced. 
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September 9, 2010 
 
 
To:  The Library Board of Trustees 
 
From:  John Stoneberg, Library Director 
 
Subject: December 2010 Holiday Hours 
 
 
 
For at least the past 15 years or so, the library has been opened on Christmas Eve and New 
Year’s Eve to customers from 10 a.m. to Noon and closed the rest of those days as well as 
Christmas Day and New Years Day. 
 
This year, for the convenience of staff, it is the consensus of the management team that we 
would like to experiment with different hours.  We would like to be closed all day on 
Christmas Eve and Christmas Day, open to customers from 10 a.m. to 4 p.m. on New Years 
Eve and closed on News Years Day.  In the end, this will provide two extra hours to 
customers over the previous holiday hours. 
 
This is not inconsistent with December 2010 holiday hours for City Hall which is normally 
open from 8 a.m.-5 p.m., Monday-Friday.   All City buildings will be closed on Thursday and 
Friday, December 23 and 24 and Friday, December 31.  
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